UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549 FORM 8-K

CURRENT REPORT

Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

October 1, 2020

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported)

WHITE MOUNTAINS INSURANCE GROUP, LTD.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Bermuda (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

1-8993 (Commission file number) **94-2708455** (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

23 South Main Street, Suite 3B, Hanover, New Hampshire 03755

(Address of principal executive offices)

(603) 640-2200

	(Registrant's telephone number, including an	ea code)
Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to s	simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the	ne registrant under any of the following provisions:
☐ Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities A	Act (17 CFR 230.425)	
☐ Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act	(17 CFR 240.14a-12)	
☐ Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under	er the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))	
\Box Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under	er the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))	
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:		
Title of each class	Trading Symbol(s)	Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Shares, par value \$1.00	WTM	New York Stock Exchange
per share		Bermuda Stock Exchange
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an emerging growth co Act of 1934 (§240.12b-2 of this chapter).	ompany as defined in Rule 405 of the Securitie	s Act of 1933(§230.405 of this chapter) or Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange
		Emerging growth company \Box
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registran provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. 0	nt has elected not to use the extended transition	period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards

ITEM 1.01. Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

On October 1, 2020, White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd. ("<u>WMIG</u>") and its wholly owned subsidiary Bridge Holdings (Bermuda) Ltd. ("<u>Bridge</u>" and, collectively with WMIG, "<u>White Mountains</u>") entered into a subscription and purchase agreement (the "<u>SPA</u>") with Ark Insurance Holdings Limited ("<u>Ark</u>") and certain selling shareholders (collectively with Ark, the "<u>Sellers</u>"). Certain Sellers also entered into a related management warranty deed (together with the SPA, the "<u>Acquisition Agreement</u>") pursuant to which they made certain warranties about the Ark business.

Under the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, White Mountains (through Bridge) will contribute \$605 million of equity capital to Ark, at a pre-money valuation of \$300 million, and will also purchase \$41 million of shares from the selling shareholders. White Mountains will commit to contribute up to an additional \$200 million of equity capital to Ark in 2021 (collectively, the "Transaction"). Total post-closing capitalization of Ark is expected to exceed \$800 million (\$1 billion if the additional \$200 million is contributed). At closing, White Mountains will own 72% of Ark on a basic shares outstanding basis (63% on a fully-diluted, fully-converted basis, taking account of management's equity incentives). If the additional \$200 million is contributed in full, White Mountains will own 77% of Ark on a basic shares outstanding basis (67% on a fully-diluted, fully-converted basis). Management's equity incentives are subject to an 8% rate of return threshold with no catch up. All shares outstanding not owned by White Mountains will be owned by management rollover shareholders.

In the future, management rollover shareholders could earn additional shares in the company if and to the extent that White Mountains achieves certain multiple of invested capital return thresholds. These additional shares are generally eligible to vest in three equal tranches at MOIC thresholds of 2.0x, 2.5x and 3.0x. If fully earned, these additional shares would represent 12.5% of the shares outstanding at closing.

The Acquisition Agreement, which is governed by English law, contains customary warranties and covenants given by each of the parties, including certain operating restrictions on the conduct of the business of Ark during the period from the execution of the Acquisition Agreement to the closing of the Transaction. White Mountains has also purchased a warranty and indemnity insurance policy in connection with the Transaction. The Acquisition Agreement also contains provisions providing for the termination of the Acquisition Agreement under certain circumstances, including where all Transaction closing conditions have not been satisfied on or before January 24, 2021.

Upon the closing of the Transaction, White Mountains will enter into a restrictive covenant limiting its ability to make material investments in competing Lloyd's businesses for a period of three years. The shareholders' agreement to be entered into upon closing, will contain customary minority shareholder protections and will restrict White Mountains's ability to sell its interest in Ark for five years, unless White Mountains's MOIC return exceeds 2.5x.

The Transaction is expected to close in January 2021. The Transaction is subject to the receipt of regulatory approvals, receipt by Ark's Bermuda reinsurer of an indicative rating letter from A.M. Best indicating a rating of "A-" or higher, receipt by Ark of \$150 million of letters of credit, the non-occurrence of a material adverse effect and other customary closing conditions. Closing the Transaction does not require the approval of the White Mountains shareholders. If all closing conditions are satisfied before December 15, 2020, White Mountains has committed to pre-fund up to \$400 million of its capital contribution at that time, with the closing then occurring on January 1, 2021. In general after any pre-funding, neither White Mountains nor the Sellers would be permitted to terminate the Acquisition Agreement for any reason without the other's consent.

The foregoing description of the Acquisition Agreement does not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to the text of the Acquisition Agreement, a copy of which is filed as Exhibit 2.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. The warranties and covenants contained in the Acquisition Agreement are made only for purposes of the Acquisition Agreement and as of specific dates; are solely for the benefit of the parties to the Acquisition Agreement; may be subject to qualifications and limitations agreed upon by the parties in connection with negotiating the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, including being qualified by confidential disclosures made for the purpose of allocating contractual risk between the parties instead of establishing matters as facts; and may be subject to standards of materiality applicable to the contracting parties that differ from those applicable to investors or security holders. Investors and security holders should not rely on the warranties and covenants or any description thereof as characterizations of the actual state of facts or condition of White Mountains, Bridge, Ark or their respective subsidiaries or affiliates. Moreover, information concerning the subject matter of the warranties and covenants may change after the date of the Acquisition Agreement, which subsequent information may or may not be fully reflected in public disclosures.

This Item 1.01 may contain "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements, other than statements of historical facts, included or referenced in this filing which address activities, events or developments which White Mountains expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future are forward-looking statements. The words "will," "believe," "intend," "expect," "anticipate," "project," "estimate," "predict" and similar expressions are also intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are based on certain assumptions and analyses made by White Mountains in light of its experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors believed to be appropriate in the circumstances. However, whether actual results and developments will conform to its expectations and predictions is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from expectations.

Consequently, all of the forward-looking statements made in this Item 1.01 are qualified by these cautionary statements, and there can be no assurance that the actual results or developments anticipated by White Mountains will be realized or, even if substantially realized, that they will have the expected consequences to, or effects on, White Mountains or its business or operations. White Mountains assumes no obligation to update publicly any such forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

ITEM 9.01. Financial Statements And Exhibits.

(d) Exhibits

- Subscription and Purchase Agreement dated October 1, 2020 by and among Ark Insurance Holdings Limited, Bridge Holdings (Bermuda) Ltd., White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd. and the selling shareholders party thereto 2.1*
- 2.2* Management Warranty Deed dated October 1, 2020 by and among Ian Beaton, Nicholas Bonnar, Neil Smith and Bridge Holdings (Bermuda) Ltd.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

WHITE MOUNTAINS INSURANCE GROUP, LTD.

DATED: October 1, 2020

By:

/s/ J. BRIAN PALMER
J. Brian Palmer
Managing Director and Chief Accounting Officer

^{*} Portions of this exhibit are redacted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2)(ii) of Regulation S-K.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit number

2.1* Subscription and Purchase Agreement dated October 1, 2020 by and among Ark Insurance Holdings Limited, Bridge Holdings (Bermuda) Ltd., White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd. and the selling shareholders party thereto2.2* Management Warranty Deed dated October 1, 2020 by and among Ian Beaton, Nicholas Bonnar, Neil Smith and Bridge Holdings (Bermuda) Ltd.

* Portions of this exhibit are redacted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2)(ii) of Regulation S-K.

Execution Version

been excluded from the harmful if publicly di	this exhibit because it is both (i) not material and (ii) would be competitively sclosed.
	Ark Insurance Holdings Limited
	Subscription and Purchase Agreement

WILLKIE FARR & GALLAGHER (UK) LLP

CityPoint, 1 Ropemaker Street London, EC2Y 9AW

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Definitions4				
2.	Subscription, sale and purchase and other transactions				
3.	Conditions. 17				
4.	Pre-Completion undertakings				
5.	FAL Availability				
6.	Completion. 25				
7.	Warranties. 2				
8.	Covenants. 27				
9.	Additional funding				
10.	Confidentiality. 29				
11.	Waiver of existing claims				
12.	White Mountains guarantee. 30				
13.	Substitution of Investor. 31				
14.	General				
SCHE	DULE 1				
	Initial Structure Steps Plan				
SCHE	DULE 2				
	Completion arrangements				
SCHE	DULE 3				
COLIE					
	Conduct of business before Completion				
SCHEDULE 4					
	Warranties				
SCHE	DULE 5				
	Conditions				
SCHE	DULE 6				
	Completion Accounts				
SCHE	DULE 7				
	Selling Shareholders				

SCHEDULE 8

T	CD 1 - 0	Substitution	CF
Horm	or Deed or	SHOSHIIION	n'

THIS AGREEMENT is made on	2020
---------------------------	------

PARTIES

- (1) ARK INSURANCE HOLDINGS LIMITED, an exempted company limited by shares incorporated in Bermuda whose registered office is at c/o Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited, Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda (the "Company");
- (2) BRIDGE HOLDINGS (BERMUDA) LTD, an exempted company limited by shares incorporated in Bermuda with registration number 38709 and whose registered office is at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda (the "Investor");
- (3) WHITE MOUNTAINS INSURANCE GROUP, LTD, an exempted Bermuda company whose registered office is at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM11, Bermuda ("White Mountains"); and
- (4) THE PERSONS whose names and addresses are set out in <u>Schedule 7</u> (the "Selling Shareholders"),

each a "party" and together, the "parties".

INTRODUCTION

The parties wish to enter into this Agreement for the purposes of regulating (among other things): (i) the subscription by the Investor for, and the issue by the Company to the Investor of, the Subscription Shares and (ii) the purchase of the Sale Shares by the Investor from the Selling Shareholders, in each case on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement.

AGREEMENT

Definitions.

- 1.1. In this Agreement (including the recitals), the following words and expressions shall have the following meanings:
 - "2019 Audited Accounts" means the audited statutory annual consolidated financial statements of the Company for the financial year ended on 31 December 2019;
 - "2020 Audited Accounts" means the audited statutory annual consolidated financial statements of the Company for the financial year ending on 31 December 2020;
 - "A Ordinary Shares" means A Ordinary Shares of US\$2.680265 each in the capital of the Company and having the rights set out in the Bye-laws;
 - "A1 Ordinary Shares" means A1 Ordinary Shares of US\$0.000479 each in the capital of the Company and having the rights set out in the Bye-laws;
 - "A2 Ordinary Shares" means A2 Ordinary Shares of US\$5.037322 each in the capital of the Company and having the rights set out in the Bye-laws;

- "A3 Ordinary Shares" means A3 Ordinary Shares of US\$1.120598 each in the capital of the Company and having the rights set out in the Bye-laws;
- "Actual Tangible Book Value" means the aggregate value of all assets of the Group excluding (i) investments in subsidiaries and (ii) intangibles (which intangibles shall include all goodwill and the GAIL Fair Value Asset) less the aggregate value of all liabilities of the Group, in each case, as at the Effective Time, as calculated in accordance with Schedule 6;
- "Additional Funding Amount" has the meaning given in Clause 9.1;
- "Additional Funding Period" has the meaning given in Clause 9.4;
- "Additional Funding Request Notice" has the meaning given in Clause 9.1;
- "Agreed Press Release" means the announcement in the agreed form to be released by White Mountains on or around the date of this Agreement;
- "Agreement" means this subscription and purchase agreement, including the Schedules to this agreement;
- "AHU" means Accident & Health Underwriting Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales under No. 03938590;
- "Alternative Structure" has the meaning given in Clause 9.3(b);
- "AMB Funding Support Letter" means the letter from the Investor to the Company dated on or around the date of this Agreement in relation to matters connected with A.M. Best;
- "Applicable Law" means all laws, regulations, directives, statutes, subordinate legislation, common law and civil codes of any jurisdiction, all judgments, orders, notices, instructions, decisions and awards of any court or competent authority or tribunal exercising statutory or delegated powers and all codes of practice having force of law, statutory guidance and policy notes, in each case to the extent applicable to the parties or any of them, or as the context requires;
- "Appropriate Regulator" means, in accordance with section 178(2A) of FSMA, (i) the PRA, in respect of Ark MA and (ii) the FCA, in respect of AHU;
- "Ark MA" means Ark Syndicate Management Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales under No. 05887810 and which is the managing agent of the Syndicates;
- "AUI" means Ark Underwriting Inc., a company incorporated in the State of Connecticut under No. 1111298;
- "B1 Ordinary Shares" means B1 Ordinary Shares of US\$0.000479 each in the capital of the Company and having the rights set out in the Bye-laws;
- "B3 Ordinary Shares" means B3 Ordinary Shares of US\$1.120598 each in the capital of the Company and having the rights set out in the Bye-laws;

"Bermuda Insurance Act" means the Bermuda Insurance Act 1978 and related regulations;

"BMA" means the Bermuda Monetary Authority or any successor or replacement body(ies);

"Books and Records" has its common law meaning and includes, without limitation, all notices, correspondence, orders, inquiries, drawings, plans, books of account and other documents and all computer disks or tapes or other machine legible programmes or other records:

"Business" means the business of owning, managing and operating an underwriting business at Lloyd's and through a Bermuda (re)insurance company and anything incidental thereto or connected therewith, including the distribution of products to insureds or intermediaries as carried on by the Group;

"Business Day" means a day on which banks are open for normal banking business in the City of London and in the State of New York and in Bermuda (excluding Saturdays and Sundays);

"Bye-laws" means the amended and restated bye-laws of the Company (in the agreed form) to be adopted by the Company on Completion and, once adopted, those Bye-laws as amended from time to time and any reference to a "Bye-law" shall be to a Bye-law of the Bye-laws of the Company;

"C1 Ordinary Shares" means C1 Ordinary Shares of US\$0.10 each in the capital of the Company and having the rights set out in the Bye-laws;

"C2 Ordinary Shares" means C2 Ordinary Shares of US\$0.10 each in the capital of the Company and having the rights set out in the Bye-laws;

"Company's Accountants" means a firm of accountants selected by the Company;

"Company's Solicitors" means Willkie Farr & Gallagher (UK) LLP of CityPoint, 1 Ropemaker Street, London, EC2Y 9AW;

"Company Warranties" means the warranties set out in Part A of Schedule 4;

"Completion" means completion of: (i) the subscription by the Investor of the Subscription Shares, and the allotment and issue of the Subscription Shares to the Investor; and (ii) the sale and purchase of the Sale Shares, in each case in accordance with Clause 6;

"Completion Accounts" has the meaning given in <u>paragraph 9</u> of <u>Part A</u> of <u>Schedule 6</u> or, if applicable, <u>paragraph 10(a)</u> of <u>Part A</u> of <u>Schedule 6</u> or <u>paragraph 12(c)</u> of <u>Part A</u> of Schedule 6;

"Conditions" means each of the conditions set out in Schedule 5;

"Confidential Information" means:

- the existence of this Agreement, its provisions and the process of its negotiation;
 and
- all documents, materials and other information (whether technical, commercial or otherwise) which are received or obtained by a party from another party pursuant to this Agreement;

"Contagion Event" means the outbreak and ongoing effects of contagious disease, epidemic or pandemic (including COVID-19);

"Corporate Members" means Ark Corporate Member Limited, Ark Corporate Member No. 2 Limited and Ark Corporate Member No. 3 Limited;

"Data Room" means the information and documents contained in the virtual data room hosted by Sterling Technology Ltd. under the name Echo at https://www.sterlingvdr.com/ as at 23.59p.m. on 28 September 2020 and as made available to the Investor and its advisers in connection with the matters set out in this Agreement and as contained on the USB sticks issued by Sterling Technology Ltd. and which have been delivered to the Investor promptly following the date of this Agreement;

"Deed of Substitution" has the meaning given in Clause 13.1;

"Delivery Time" has the meaning given in paragraph 3 of Part C of Schedule 6;

"Disclosed" means fairly disclosed in such manner and in such detail as to enable a reasonable investor to make a reasonable assessment of the nature and scope of the matter concerned and "Disclose" shall be construed accordingly;

"Dispute Notice" has the meaning given in paragraph 7 of Part A of Schedule 6;

"Disputes" has the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 14.32;

"Draft Completion Accounts" has the meaning given in $\underline{\text{paragraph 1}}$ of $\underline{\text{Part A}}$ of Schedule 6;

"Effective Time" has the meaning given in paragraph 2 of Part C of Schedule 6;

"Employee Shareholders" means each and every person who will hold Shares immediately after Completion, excluding the Investor;

"Employment Condition" means the condition listed in paragraph 8 of Schedule 5;

"Estimated Tangible Book Value" means US\$35,000,000;

"Existing Shareholder" means any person who is orwas a shareholder of the Company at any time during the period from the date of this Agreement to (but excluding) Completion;

"Expert" has the meaning given in paragraph 10(b) of Part A of Schedule 6;

"FAL" has the meaning given in the Interim FAL Provision Agreement;

"FAL Availability" means the Lloyd's Commitment becoming available for drawing by the Company in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Interim FAL Provision Agreement;

"FAL Availability Certificate" has the meaning given in Clause 5.2;

"FAL Availability Certification Date" means the second Business Day immediately following the day on which the last in time of the General Conditions is satisfied (or waived in accordance with this Agreement), or such other date as the Company and the Investor may agree in writing;

"FCA" means the Financial Conduct Authority or any successor or replacement body(ies);

"Final Structure Step Documents" means each Structure Step Document in such form as the Investor (acting reasonably) shall determine in its sole discretion;

"First LoC Condition" means the condition listed in paragraph 4.1 of Schedule 5;

"Founding Shareholders" means Ian Beaton and Nicholas Bonnar, and "Founding Shareholder" means either one of them:

"FSMA" means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000;

"GAIL" means Group Ark Insurance Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with registration number 39617;

"GAIL Fair Value Asset" means the fair value adjustment asset in relation to the acquisition of GAIL (which was approximately \$30m at 31 December 2019);

"General Conditions" means the conditions listed in <u>paragraphs 1</u> to $\underline{6}$ (inclusive) of <u>Schedule 5</u>, (save for the First LoC Condition), and "General Condition" means any one of them:

"Governmental Entity" means any Regulatory Authority or merger control or antitrust authority or any federal, state, municipal, local or foreign government, any political subdivision thereof or any court, administrative or regulatory agency, ministry, self-regulatory organisation, department, instrumentality, body or commission or other governmental or quasi-governmental authority, agency or entity, and any entity or division or official exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory, taxing, or administrative functions of or pertaining to government or any court or arbitration in any jurisdiction;

"Group" means the Company and its subsidiary undertakings from time to time and "Group Company" means any one of them;

"Group Long-Term Business Plan" means the information included in (i) the document numbered 2.1.4 of the Data Room and (ii) section 5 of the Project Echo Opportunity Overview presentation dated July 2020;

"Guaranteed Obligations" has the meaning given in Clause 12.1;

"H Shares" means the H shares of US\$1.00 each in the capital of the Company, which may be designated by a year of account to which they relate, and references to "H 2018 Shares", "H 2019 Shares" and "H 2020 Shares" shall be construed accordingly;

"H1 Shares" means the H1 shares of US\$1.00 each in the capital of the Company, which may be designated by a year of account to which they relate, and references to "H1 2015 Shares", "H1 2016 Shares", "H1 2018 Shares" and "H1 2019 Shares" shall be construed accordingly;

"HSR Act" means the Hart Scott Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 (as amended) and the regulations made thereunder;

"IB Amended Service Agreement" means the amended service agreement between Ian Beaton and Ark MA in relation to his role as Chief Executive Officer to be entered into on or around the date of this Agreement and to come into effect on and subject to Completion;

"Interim FAL Provision Agreement" means the agreement between the Investor and the Company dated on or around the date of this Agreement pursuant to which the Investor may provide funds to the Company prior to Completion;

"Investor's Accountants" means Deloitte LLP, or such other firm of accountants as notified by the Investor to Company in writing from time to time;

"Investor's Group" means the Investor, its subsidiary undertakings, any holding company of the Investor and all other subsidiary undertakings of any such holding company from time to time;

"Investor's Solicitors" means Slaughter and May of One Bunhill Row, London, United Kingdom EC1Y 8YY;

"Investor Pay Up Amount" has the meaning given in Clause 2.3(a);

"Investor Warranties" means the warranties set out in Part B of Schedule 4;

"Lloyd's" means the society incorporated under the Lloyd's Acts 1871 by the name of Lloyd's;

"Lloyd's Commitment" has the meaning given in the Interim FAL Provision Agreement;

"Lloyd's Purpose" has the meaning given in the Interim FAL Provision Agreement;

"Long Stop Date" means 24 January 2021, or such other date as the Company and the Investor may agree in writing;

"MAC Event Condition" means the condition listed in paragraph 7 of Schedule 5;

"Material Adverse Effect" means any material adverse change, or any development reasonably likely to involve a material adverse change, in the condition (financial, operational, legal or otherwise) or in the assets, liabilities, earnings, business affairs, solvency, or prospects of: (i) the Company; (ii) the Group taken as a whole; or (iii) the Investor, any member of the Investor's Group or any of the Investor's shareholders;

"NB Amended Service Agreement" means the amended service agreement between Nicholas Bonnar and Ark MA in relation to his role as Chief Underwriting Officer to be entered into on or around the date of this Agreement and to come into effect on and subject to Completion;

"Net Claims Reserve" shall include the sum of (i) the reported claims reserves, plus (ii) the incurred but not reported ("IBNR") reserves, plus (iii) any unexpired risk provision, plus (iv) unallocated loss adjustment expenses; less (v) the reinsurance share of the reported claims, IBNR and any unexpired risk provision;

"No Illegality Condition" means the condition listed in paragraph 9 of Schedule 5;

"Order" means any judgment, order, award, decree, consent, writ, stipulation or injunction of any Governmental Entity;

"PRA" means the Prudential Regulation Authority or any successor or replacement body(ies);

"Pre-Completion Certificate" has the meaning given in Clause 6.4;

"Preference 1 Shares" means the Preference 1 shares of US\$1.00 each in the capital of the Company;

"Preference 2 Shares" means the Preference 2 shares of US\$1.00 each in the capital of the Company;

"Proceedings" has the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 14.32;

"Q Shares" means the Q shares of US\$1.00 each in the capital of the Company;

"Register of Members" means the Company's register of members as at 30 September 2020 in the form attached to an email from the Company's Solicitors to the Investor's Solicitors at 1.58p.m. on 30 September 2020 with the title "Echo - Ark Statutory Books";

"Regulatory Authorisation" means any consent, authorisation, licence, permit, approval or waiver from any Regulatory Authority that is necessary for the carrying on of the business of each Group Company in the manner that it is carried on at the date of this Agreement;

"Regulatory Authority" means the PRA, the FCA, the BMA, Lloyd's and such other governmental or regulatory authorities that have responsibility for regulating the Group;

"Regulatory Conditions" means each of the conditions listed in <u>paragraphs 1</u> and $\underline{2}$ of Schedule 5;

"Related Person" means: (i) a person that, directly or indirectly, is Controlled by one or more Existing Shareholders (and for these purposes "Control" shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct the management and policies

of such person, whether through the ownership of a majority of voting securities or by contract or otherwise); (ii) any spouse and/or lineal descendant by blood or adoption or step-child of any Existing Shareholder or any person that, directly or indirectly, is Controlled by any such spouse, lineal descendant or step-child; and (iii) any person or persons acting in its or their capacity as trustee or trustees of a trust of which any Existing Shareholder is the settlor, and the only beneficiaries of which are an Existing Shareholder, that Existing Shareholder's spouse or civil partner and/or any lineal descendant by blood or adoption or step-child of that Existing Shareholder, and, in respect of Nicholas Bonnar, shall include Trident Trust Company Limited as trustee of the Vineyard Trust and, in respect of Ian Beaton, shall include Trident Trust Company Limited as trustee of Mountain Ash Trust;

"Relevant Properties" means the properties set out in schedule 7 to the Warranty Deed;

"Reorganisation" has the meaning given in Clause 2.4(a);

"Sale Shares" means, in respect of each Selling Shareholder, the Shares set out opposite the name of that Selling Shareholder in the columns named "H1 2015 Shares, #, "Preference 2 Shares, #, "H 2018 Shares, #, "H 2019 Shares, # and "H 2020 Shares, # of Exhibit A to Schedule 7;

"Sale Shares Consideration" means US\$45,047,221.28

"Scheduled Completion Date" has the meaning given in Clause 6.2;

"Selling Shareholder Warranties" means the warranties set out in <u>Part C</u> of <u>Schedule</u> 4:

"Service Document" means a claim form, application notice, order, judgment or other document relating to any Proceedings;

"Shareholders' Deed" means the shareholders' deed in the agreed form relating to the Company to be entered into at Completion by and between, among others, the Company, the Investor and the Managers (as defined therein);

"Shares" means shares of whatever class in the issued share capital of the Company from time to time;

"SMF Holder" means a person who camies out any senior manager function for the purposes of the UK Senior Managers and Certification Regime;

"Staff Bonus Amount" means US\$750,000;

"Structure Step Document" means each resolution, set of bye-laws, shareholder consent, board minutes, waiver and any other document ancillary to, and necessary for, the implementation of the Structure Steps, including any such document referenced in the Structure Steps;

"Structure Steps" means each of the steps set out in the Structure Steps Plan;

"Structure Steps Plan" means the plan set out in <u>Schedule 1</u>, or such other plan as may be agreed between the Founding Shareholders and the Investor prior to Completion;

"Subscription Price" means an amount equal to US\$600,000,000, being the aggregate subscription price to be paid by the Investor for the Subscription Shares;

"Subscription Price Balance" has the meaning given in Clause 6.9(b);

"Subscription Shares" means 6,462,782 A Ordinary Shares;

"Subscription Structure" has the meaning given in Clause 9.3(a);

"Syndicate 3902" means Syndicate 3902, a Lloyd's syndicate managed by Ark MA;

"Syndicate 4020" means Syndicate 4020, a Lloyd's syndicate managed by Ark MA;

"Syndicates" means Syndicate 3902 and Syndicate 4020;

"T Shares" means the T shares of US\$1.00 each in the capital of the Company;

"Taxation" or "Tax" means: (i) all forms of tax, levy, duty, charge, impost, withholding, deduction, tariff, governmental charge, social security contribution or other amount in the nature of tax whatsoever and whenever created, enacted or imposed in any jurisdiction, payable to or imposed by any Tax Authority; and (ii) all charges, interest, penalties and fines incidental or relating to any Taxation falling within paragraph (i) above or which arise as a result of the failure to pay any Taxation on the due date or to comply with any obligation relating to Taxation;

"Tax Authority" means any revenue, customs, fiscal, governmental, statutory, state or provincial authority, body or person in any relevant jurisdiction;

"Third Party Right" means any interest or equity of any person (including any right to acquire, option or right of pre-emption or conversion) or any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien, assignment, hypothecation, encumbrance, security interest, title retention or any other security agreement or arrangement, or any agreement to create any of the foregoing;

"Transaction Documents" means this Agreement, the Bye-laws, the Shareholders' Deed, the Interim FAL Provision Agreement, the AMB Funding Support Letter, the Warranty Deed, the IB Amended Service Agreement, the NB Amended Service Agreement, and any other agreements or documents entered into in connection with, or pursuant to, any of the foregoing;

"Trustee Sale Agreements" means each of: (i) the share purchase agreement relating to the purchase of 70 Z Shares between Trident Trust Company Limited as trustee of the Vineyard Trust and Nicholas Kershaw Bonnar dated 7 March 2017; and (ii) the share purchase agreement relating to the purchase of 70 Z Shares between Trident Trust Company Limited as trustee of Mountain Ash Trust and Ian Eric Beaton dated 7 March 2017;

"UK GAAP" means the Financial Reporting Standard 102 issued by the Financial Reporting Council ("FRC"), applicable Abstracts issued by the FRC, the requirements of applicable law, and applicable pronouncements by the Conduct Committee of the FRC;

"W&I Broker" has the meaning given in the Warranty Deed;

"W&I Insurance Policy" has the meaning given in the Warranty Deed;

"W&I Insurer" has the meaning given in the Warranty Deed;

"Warranties" means the Company Warranties, the Investor Warranties and the Selling Shareholder Warranties:

"Warranty Deed" means the management warranty deed entered into on or around the date of this Agreement between the Warrantors (as defined therein) and the Investor;

"Waterfall Schedule" means the waterfall proceeds schedule in the agreed form or such other form as the Investor and each Founding Shareholder may agree in writing from time to time;

"Working Hours" means $8.30 \, a.m.$ to $6.30 \, p.m.$ on a Business Day in the time zone of the recipient;

"Z Shares" means the Z shares in the capital of the Company with a nominal value (i) prior to Completion of US\$1.00 each; and (ii) following Completion of US\$0.000048 each:

"Z1 Shares" means the Z1 shares of US\$0.000048 each in the capital of the Company; and

"Z Shares Condition" means the condition listed in paragraph 10 of Schedule 5.

1.2. In this Agreement:

- (a) a reference to a document in the "agreed form" is a reference to a document in a form approved and for the purposes of identification signed by or on behalf of the Investor and the Company or otherwise agreed in writing (including by email) by or on behalf of the Investor and the Company to be in an approved form:
- (b) a reference to a statutory provision includes a reference to:
 - the statutory provision as modified or re-enacted or both from time to time whether before or after the date of this Agreement; and
 - (ii) any subordinate legislation made under the statutory provision whether before or after the date of this Agreement;
- a reference to a person includes a reference to a body corporate, association or partnership;
- (d) a reference to a person includes a reference to that person's legal personal representatives and successors;
- the expressions "subsidiary undertaking" and "holding company" shall have the meanings given in the Companies Act 2006;

- (f) use of any gender includes the other genders;
- a reference to a Clause or Schedule, unless the context otherwise requires, is a reference to a clause of or schedule to this Agreement;
- (h) any reference to a "day" (including the phrase "Business Day") shall mean a period of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight;
- (i) references to the knowledge, information, belief or awareness of the Company shall be limited to the actual knowledge of Ian Beaton, Nicholas Bonnar and/or Neil Smith (as the case may be), and anything of which they would have had knowledge of had they made due and careful enquiries (including due and careful enquiries of the other Senior Employees (as defined in the Warranty Deed));
- (j) unless stated otherwise, references to time are to London time;
- (k) the rule known as the ejusdem generis rule shall not apply and accordingly general words introduced by the word "other" shall not be given a restrictive meaning by reason of the fact that they are preceded by words indicating a particular class of acts, matters or things;
- general words shall not be given a restrictive meaning by reason of the fact that they are followed by particular examples intended to be embraced by the general words; and
- references to writing shall include any modes of reproducing words in a legible and non-transitory form and whether sent or supplied by electronic mail.
- 1.3. The headings in this Agreement do not affect its interpretation.
- 2. Subscription, sale and purchase and other transactions.
- 2.1. Subscription for the Subscription Shares
 - (a) On and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at Completion:
 (i) the Investor shall subscribe for the Subscription Shares, and (ii) the Company shall allot and issue the Subscription Shares free from Third Party Rights and fully paid to the Investor.
 - (b) The total consideration for the subscription by the Investor of the Subscription Shares shall be the payment by the Investor of the Subscription Price in accordance with Clause 6.

2.2. Sale and Purchase of the Sale Shares

(a) On and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at Completion, each Selling Shareholder shall sell, and the Investor shall purchase from each Selling Shareholder, those Sale Shares set out opposite the name of that Selling Shareholder in the columns named "H1 2015 Shares, #", "Preference 2 Shares, #", "H 2018 Shares, #", "H 2019 Shares, #" and "H 2020 Shares, #" of Exhibit

- A to <u>Schedule 7</u> with full title guarantee and free from Third Party Rights, and together with all rights attached or accruing to them at Completion.
- (b) The total consideration payable by the Investor for the Sale Shares shall be the Sale Shares Consideration.

2.3. Additional Transactions

- (a) At Completion, the Investor shall pay \$1,230,950 (the "Investor Pay Up Amount") to the Company to pay up the H1 (2015) Shares purchased from the Founding Shareholders pursuant to Clause 2.2.
- (b) At Completion, Ian Beaton shall:
 - (i) pay the aggregate amount of US\$1,929,819 to the Company to pay up all of his H1 (2016) Shares, all of his H1 (2018) Shares and all of his H1 (2019) Shares registered in his name and immediately thereafter the Company shall repurchase (for the aggregate price of US\$1) those H1(2016) Shares, H1 (2018) Shares and H1 (2019) Shares and cancel them; and
 - (ii) repay the aggregate amount of US\$141,926 to the Company in respect of his acquisition of H1 (2017) Shares, which have previously been repurchased by the Company.
- (c) At Completion, Nicholas Bonnar shall:
 - (i) pay the aggregate amount of US1,929,819 to the Company to pay up all of his H1 (2016) Shares, all of his H1 (2018) Shares and all of his H1 (2019) Shares registered in his name and immediately thereafter the Company shall repurchase (for the aggregate price of US\$1) those H1(2016) Shares, H1 (2018) Shares and H1 (2019) Shares and cancel them; and
 - (ii) repay the aggregate amount of US\$141,926 to the Company in respect of his acquisition of H1 (2017) Shares, which have previously been repurchased by the Company.

2.4. Reorganisation and Reorganisation Adjustment

- (a) At Completion, the Company's share capital will be reorganised as described in the Structure Steps Plan (the "Reorganisation"). The parties acknowledge that the value implied by the Reorganisation is based on the assumption that the Actual Tangible Book Value will be equal to the Estimated Tangible Book Value.
- (b) Following Completion, the Actual Tangible Book Value shall be calculated in accordance with <u>Schedule 6</u>. The parties will comply with their respective obligations in Schedule 6.

- (c) If the Actual Tangible Book Value is greater than or equal to US\$27,500,000 but less than or equal to US\$42,500,000, there shall be no adjustment to the value implied by the Reorganisation.
- (d) If the Actual Tangible Book Value is greater than US\$42,500,000, the Company shall issue such number of A1 Ordinary Shares, A3 Ordinary Shares and Z Shares as is equal to (in aggregate):
 - the lesser of (i) the absolute value of the difference between the Actual Tangible Book Value and the Estimated Tangible Book Value and (ii) US\$35,000,000; divided by
 - (ii) US\$100,

which shall be allocated among the Selling Shareholders pro rata to their existing holdings of A1 Ordinary Shares, A3 Ordinary Shares and Z Shares, on a class by class basis. The parties will cooperate with each other in good faith to procure that such issuance is completed within 20 Business Days of the date on which the Completion Accounts are finalised in accordance with <u>Schedule 6</u>.

- (e) If the Actual Tangible Book Value is less than US\$27,500,000, the Company shall repurchase and cancel for nominal consideration such number of A1 Ordinary Shares, A3 Ordinary Shares and Z Shares equal to (in aggregate):
 - the lesser of (i) the absolute value of the difference between the Actual Tangible Book Value and the Estimated Tangible Book Value and (ii) US\$35,000,000; divided by
 - (ii) US\$100,

which shall be allocated among the Selling Shareholders pro rata to their existing holdings of A1 Ordinary Shares, A3 Ordinary Shares and Z Shares, on a class by class basis. The parties will cooperate with each other in good faith to procure that such repurchase and cancellation is completed within 20 Business Days of the date on which the Completion Accounts are finalised in accordance with Schedule 6.

- (f) The Company shall not issue any C1 Ordinary Shares or C2 Ordinary Shares until such time as:
 - the Actual Tangible Book Value is determined in accordance with <u>Schedule 6</u> to be greater than or equal to US\$27,500,000 but less than or equal to US\$42,500,000; or
 - (ii) the issue of A1 Ordinary Shares, A3 Ordinary Shares and Z Shares pursuant to clause 2.4(d), or (as the case may be) the repurchase and cancellation of A1 Ordinary Shares, A3 Ordinary Shares and Z Shares pursuant to clause 2.4(e), has been completed in full.

Development and Implementation of Structure Steps

- (a) Each Founding Shareholder and the Investor shall co-operate in good faith (including, without limitation, proposing such customary provisions that are consistent with generally accepted market practice) in order to agree:
 - a more detailed version of the Structure Steps Plan by 21 October 2020 (or such other date as the Founding Shareholders and the Investor may agree in writing); and
 - (ii) the Final Structure Step Documents (in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Investor) by no later than 1 December 2020 (or such other date as the Founding Shareholders and the Investor may agree in writing).
- (b) At Completion, each of the parties shall implement each of the Structure Steps in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Final Structure Step Documents and each such Structure Step shall be implemented in the order set out in the Structure Steps Plan.

2.6. Ancillary Provisions

- (a) Each Selling Shareholder shall be deemed hereby to waive irrevocably at and with effect from Completion any and all rights of pre-emption conferred on that Selling Shareholder in respect of the subscription, allotment and issue of the Subscription Shares and the transfer of the Sale Shares. The Company and each Selling Shareholder shall procure the irrevocable waiver, with effect from Completion, of all rights of pre-emption and other restrictions conferred on any person(s) in respect of the subscription, allotment and issue of the Subscription Shares and the transfer of the Sale Shares.
- (b) The Investor shall not be obliged to complete the subscription for any of the Subscription Shares or the sale and purchase of any of the Sale Shares unless:
 (i) the issue and allotment of all the Subscription Shares and the sale and purchase of all the Sale Shares is completed simultaneously; and (ii) Completion occurs in accordance with the Structure Steps Plan.

Conditions.

3.1. FAL Availability and Completion

- (a) FAL Availability is conditional upon:
 - the satisfaction (or waiver in accordance with this Agreement) of the Conditions as at the FAL Availability Certification Date; and
 - (ii) the receipt by the Investor of the FAL Availability Certificate on the FAL Availability Certification Date in accordance with Clause 5.
 - (b) If FAL Availability has occurred prior to 5:00p.m. on 17 December 2020, then Completion shall be conditional upon the satisfaction (or waiver in accordance with this Agreement) of the Z Shares Condition and the No Illegality Condition at Completion.

- (c) If FAL Availability has not occurred prior to 5:00p.m. on 17 December 2020, then Completion shall be conditional upon:
 - the satisfaction (or waiver in accordance with this Agreement) of the Conditions as at Completion; and
 - (ii) the receipt by the Investor of the Pre-Completion Certificate on the Scheduled Completion Date in accordance with Clause 5.
- 3.2. Responsibility For Satisfaction of Regulatory Conditions: Investor's Obligations
 - (a) In respect of each of the Regulatory Conditions, the Investor shall:
 - (i) procure that the Company is given a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on drafts of material elements of any filings, submissions or representations, including without limitation any regulatory business plan and any description of the Transaction Documents, prior to their submission to any Regulatory Authority (it being acknowledged that certain such drafts and/or documents may be shared on a confidential outside counsel to counsel basis only and that, in this context "reasonable" means at least three (3) Business Days, to the extent practicable) and to take account of any reasonable comments;
 - (ii) respond as soon as reasonably practicable to all enquiries received from any Regulatory Authority to whom any filings, submissions or representations have been made for additional information or documentation and to supplement such filings as reasonably requested by the applicable Regulatory Authority;
 - (iii) keep the Company informed of any material contact with such Regulatory Authority;
 - (iv) where and to the extent directly relevant to any Group Company, provide the Company with copies of material relevant documentation received from a Regulatory Authority and allow the Company the opportunity, to the extent not prohibited by the relevant Regulatory Authority, to participate in any material call or meeting with any Regulatory Authority; and
 - (v) notify the Company within three (3) Business Days after receipt of any clearance or approval (whether deemed or otherwise) received from a relevant Regulatory Authority,

provided that nothing in this <u>Clause 3.2(a)</u> shall require the disclosure to the Company by the Investor of any information that it (acting reasonably) regards as confidential or commercially sensitive, or which might (in its reasonable opinion) contravene any obligation under Applicable Law.

(b) Subject to <u>Clause 3.2(c)</u>, the Investor shall use all reasonable endeavours to obtain satisfaction of the Regulatory Conditions as soon as reasonably practicable.

- (c) If an approval, deemed approval or permission granted by a Regulatory Authority in connection with a Regulatory Condition is subject to a condition, restriction, guarantee, undertaking or other term, the Investor shall not be obliged to comply with such condition, restriction, guarantee, undertaking or other term in circumstances where acceptance or compliance therewith would:
 - (i) give rise (or would be reasonably likely to give rise) to a Material Adverse Effect, provided that conditions, restrictions or terms which are applied to all reinsurers or insurers of the type, class or classification of the relevant Group Company shall not be deemed to cause a Material Adverse Effect:
 - (ii) substantially impair (or would be reasonably likely to substantially impair) the economic benefits the Investor would reasonably expect to be realised from its subscription for the Subscription Shares or its purchase of the Sale Shares;
 - (iii) require the Investor, any member of the Investor's Group, any of the Investor's shareholders or any Group Company to: (x) increase the amount of its regulatory capital or the regulatory capital of any member of its group (either on a stand-alone or consolidated basis); or (y) contribute any additional capital to any Group Company, any member of the Investor's Group or any of the Investor's shareholders in a manner not contemplated by the Transaction Documents;
 - (iv) save to the extent agreed between the Company and the Investor (each acting reasonably), require the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents to be restructured in a manner that materially differs from the structure contemplated by the Transaction Documents; or
 - (v) require the Investor, any member of the Investor's Group, any of the Investor's shareholders or any Group Company to divest any business, shareholding, material interest or material asset.
- 3.3. Responsibility for Satisfaction of Regulatory Conditions: Company's Obligations
 - (a) The Company undertakes to keep the Investor informed as to progress towards satisfaction of the Regulatory Conditions and undertakes to:
 - (i) notify the Investor and provide copies of any material communications from and to any Regulatory Authority in relation to obtaining any consent, approval or actions where such communications have not been independently or simultaneously supplied to the Investor; and
 - (ii) promptly provide, and procure that the Group Companies promptly provide, the Investor such information, co-operation and assistance as is reasonably necessary for the purpose of making any submissions, addressing any requests, and dealing with other communications in connection with the Regulatory Conditions.

- (b) The Company undertakes to use all reasonable endeavours to provide, and procure that the Group Companies promptly provide, the Investor such information and co-operation as is reasonably necessary for the purpose of making any submissions, requests, and other communications in connection with the Regulatory Conditions.
- (c) The Company undertakes, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, to use all reasonable endeavours to co-operate with the Investor in good faith and to procure co-operation by the Group Companies with a view to satisfying the Regulatory Conditions, including, to the extent necessary and on a confidential basis, providing all information reasonably required by the Investor in relation to the Business or in relation to the Company and providing all information required by the applicable Regulatory Authority in relation to the Business or in relation to the Company, provided that any information provided in relation to the Company shall be provided only to the applicable Regulatory Authority and/or, if necessary, the Investor's Solicitors on a strictly confidential basis and shall not be provided to the Investor to the extent commercially sensitive and not relevant to the Group.

Responsibility for Satisfaction of Other Conditions

- (a) The Company and each Founding Shareholder undertake to use all reasonable endeavours to procure the satisfaction of each of the Conditions listed in paragraphs 3 to 6 (inclusive) of Schedule 5 (save for the First LoC Condition) as soon as reasonably possible and in any event before the Long Stop Date and will keep the Investor informed as to progress towards satisfaction of such Conditions and will notify the Investor as soon as reasonably possible after it becomes aware of the satisfaction of each such Condition.
- (b) The Company and each Founding Shareholder undertake to use all reasonable endeavours to procure that each of the MAC Event Condition, the Employment Condition and the First LoC Condition are satisfied at all times from (and including) the date of this Agreement to (and including) the FAL Availability Certification Date or the Completion Certification Date (as applicable), and will notify the Investor as soon as reasonably possible after it becomes aware that either of such Conditions has ceased to be satisfied.
 - (c) The Company and each Founding Shareholder undertake to use all reasonable endeavours to procure that the Lloyd's Commitment is capable of being used for the Lloyd's Purpose on the FAL Availability Certification Date, and will notify the Investor as soon as reasonably possible after it becomes aware that the Lloyd's Commitment will not be capable of being used for the Lloyd's Purpose on the FAL Availability Certification Date.
 - (d) Each Founding Shareholder undertakes to procure that the Z Shares Condition is satisfied on the FAL Availability Certification Date and at Completion and will notify the Investor as soon as reasonably possible after it becomes aware that the Z Shares Condition will not be satisfied on the FAL Availability Certification Date or at Completion.

3.5. Waiver and Long Stop Date

- (a) The Company and the Investor may, at any time on or before the Long Stop Date, agree in writing to waive in whole or in part any of the Regulatory Conditions.
- (b) The Investor may at any time on or before the Long Stop Date, waive in whole or in part any of the Conditions (save for the Regulatory Conditions) by giving written notice to the Company.
- (c) If any of the General Conditions is not fulfilled (or waived in accordance with this Agreement) on or before 5.00 p.m. on the Long Stop Date, or any General Condition becomes incapable of satisfaction on or before 5.00 p.m. on the Long Stop Date (including, in each case, where the Investor has elected not to satisfy a condition, restriction, guarantee, undertaking or other term referred to in Clause 3.2(c)), then, subject to Clause 3.5(e), this Agreement (except for Clauses 10 and 14) shall automatically terminate.

(d) If:

- the MAC Event Condition, the Employment Condition or the First LoC Condition is not satisfied at all times from (and including) the date of this Agreement to (and including) the FAL Availability Certification Date or the Completion Certification Date (as applicable);
- the Company's obligations set out in <u>Clause 5</u> are not satisfied on the FAL Availability Certification Date;
- (iii) the Company's obligations set out in <u>Clause 6</u> are not satisfied on the Completion Certification Date;
- (iv) the No Illegality Condition is not satisfied on the FAL Availability Certification Date or the Completion Certification Date (as applicable); or
- (v) the Z Shares Condition is not satisfied on the FAL Availability Certification Date or immediately prior to Completion (as applicable),

the Investor may, in its sole discretion and subject to <u>Clause 3.5(e)</u>, immediately terminate this Agreement (except for <u>Clauses 10</u> and <u>14</u>) by giving written notice of such termination to the Company (whereupon <u>Clause 3.5(e)</u> shall apply). The parties hereby agree that, notwithstanding <u>Clause 14.25</u>, the Investor may give written notice to the Company for the purposes of this <u>Clause 3.5(d)</u> by email to [Redacted]), and such written notice shall be deemed delivered to the Company when such email is sent, irrespective of whether such email is sent outside Working Hours.

(e) If this Agreement terminates in accordance with <u>Clause 3.5(c)</u> or <u>Clause 3.5(d)</u>, and without limiting the right of any party to claim damages, all obligations of the parties shall end (except for <u>Clauses 10</u> and <u>14</u>) but (for the avoidance of doubt) all rights and liabilities of the parties which have accrued before termination shall continue to exist.

- (f) If a party becomes aware of any event, circumstance or condition which will or is likely to prevent:
 - (i) any Condition from being satisfied on or before the Long Stop Date;
 - the MAC Event Condition, the Employment Condition or the First LoC Condition from being satisfied at all times from (and including) the date of this Agreement to (and including) the FAL Availability Certification Date or the Scheduled Completion Date (as applicable);
 - (iii) the No Illegality Condition from being satisfied on the FAL Availability Certification Date or the Scheduled Completion Date (as applicable); or
 - (iv) the Z Shares Condition from being satisfied on the FAL Availability Certification Date or on the Scheduled Completion Date (as applicable),

then such party shall (to the extent permitted by Applicable Law) notify each other party in writing of such event, circumstance or condition promptly after it comes to its notice.

Pre-Completion undertakings.

- 4.1. Subject to <u>Clause 4.2</u>, the Company shall procure that, and each Founding Shareholder shall (so far as they are legally able) use all reasonable endeavours to procure (including through the exercise of the rights attached to his Shares or, where applicable, as a director of the relevant Group Company) that, between the date of this Agreement and Completion (both dates inclusive):
 - (a) each Group Company will carry on its business in the ordinary course and in the same manner as carried on during the twelve (12) months preceding the date of this Agreement and in compliance with Applicable Law; and
 - (b) no Group Company will undertake any of the acts or matters listed in <u>Schedule</u>
 3.
- 4.2. Clause 4.1 shall not operate so as to restrict or prevent any act or matter:
 - (a) necessary or reasonably undertaken in an emergency or disaster situation with the intention of reducing any material adverse impact on the Group (provided that the Investor must be notified of such act or matter, where practicable, in advance of such act or matter being undertaken, and where not practicable, promptly after the undertaking of such act or matter);
 - (b) necessary to comply with any Applicable Law (including in order for a Founding Shareholder to comply with his fiduciary duties as a director of a Group Company) or regulatory expectation or written commitment made to (or instruction from) a Regulatory Authority (provided that the Founding Shareholders must consult with the Investor and take all reasonable steps to agree the appropriate course of action with the Investor before such act or matter is undertaken to the extent practicable, having regard to the urgency of a situation and the duty of the relevant Group Company to cooperate with a Regulatory Authority in an open and unfettered way and to the extent

- permissible under Applicable Law, and to the extent prior consultation with the Investor is not practicable, the Founding Shareholders must promptly notify the Investor after the undertaking of such act or matter);
- (c) specifically contemplated by the Transaction Documents (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the matters set out in <u>Clause 8</u>) or necessary to implement the allotment and issue of the Subscription Shares or the sale of the Sale Shares to the Investor.
- (d) expressly set forth in the Group Long-Term Business Plan with particularity and reasonable detail (as articulated therein);
- (e) required to be undertaken pursuant to any binding agreement existing at the date of this Agreement, provided that if such agreement is a Material Contract (as defined in the Warranty Deed) a complete and accurate copy of it has been Disclosed to the Investor prior to the date of this Agreement; or
- undertaken with the prior written consent of the Investor (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).
- 4.3. The Company and each Founding Shareholder shall procure that, with effect from the date of this Agreement to Completion:
 - (a) none of the Transaction Documents (or any part thereof) shall be amended, modified, assigned or (other than pursuant to <u>Clauses 3.5(c)</u> or <u>3.5(d)</u>) terminated;
 - (b) no Group Company will waive or otherwise compromise any of its rights, powers, privileges and remedies arising from, under or in respect of any of the Transaction Documents; and
 - no Group Company will enter into an agreement or grant an option (conditional or otherwise) to do any of the foregoing,

in each case without the prior written approval of the Investor.

- 4.4. The Company and each Founding Shareholder undertake that from the Effective Time and until Completion, the Company and each Founding Shareholder shall not, without the prior written consent of the Investor, take or omit to take, any action which has or has had the purpose, and/or has, has had or would have, the effect of extracting or transferring value from any Group Company for the benefit of any Selling Shareholder or a Related Person thereof (except where expressly provided for pursuant to the terms of the Transaction Documents or in the ordinary course of trading and on arm's length terms (including, without limitation, payments or accruals of or in respect of salary, bonus, benefits, fees arising in connection with a Selling Shareholder's employment, and all other emoluments and that are made in the ordinary course of business, in line with historical practice)), including, without limitation, any Group Company:
 - declaring, authorising, making or paying a dividend (in cash or in specie) or other distribution of a similar nature or taxed in the same way as a dividend;

- transferring or surrendering any asset or assuming, indemnifying or incurring any liability (including, without limitation, any indebtedness, expenses or costs);
- making any payment to, or advancing any benefit to, waiving or releasing any obligation or liability of, or becoming liable to, any person which is not a Group Company; or
- (iv) entering into any agreement or arrangement to give effect to any of the matters referred to in Clause 4.4(i) to 4.4(iii) (inclusive) above,

and the Company and each Founding Shareholdershall procure that no Group Company shall enter into any agreement or arrangement to give effect to any such matters.

4.5. The Company and each Selling Shareholder shall procure that any shareholders' agreement in respect of the Company which is in force immediately prior to Completion (including document 1.10.8 in the Data Room) is terminated with immediate effect immediately prior to Completion and that no person shall have any right or claim against the Company or any Group Company of any nature whatsoever or howsoever arising out of or in connection with any such shareholders' agreement, and each Selling Shareholder hereby waives, and agrees to waive, all such rights and claims.

FAL Availability.

- 5.1. On and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Company shall be entitled to draw down the Lloyd's Commitment in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Interim FAL Provision Agreement.
- 5.2. On the FAL Availability Certification Date the Company shall deliver to the Investor a certificate:
 - (a) which is addressed to the Investor, signed on behalf of the Company by one of its directors and the Founding Shareholders and dated the FAL Availability Certification Date;

(b) which either:

- certifies that the MAC Event Condition, the Employment Condition, the First LoC Condition and the Z Shares Condition have been satisfied at all times between the date of this Agreement and the FAL Availability Certification Date; or
- (ii) if the Company is not able to provide the certification contemplated by <u>Clause 5.2(b)(i)</u>, provides a detailed explanation of the facts, matters and circumstances which mean that the Company cannot provide that certification; and

(c) which either:

 (i) certifies that the Company, having made due and reasonable enquiry (including enquiry of all relevant personnel of the Group Companies and all relevant Lloyd's personnel), knows of no reason why the

- Lloyd's Commitment will not be capable of being used for the Lloyd's Purpose on the FAL Availability Certification Date; or
- (ii) if the Company is not able to provide the certification contemplated by <u>Clause 5.2(c)(i)</u>, provides a detailed explanation of the facts, matters and circumstances which mean that the Company cannot provide that certification.

Such certificate (the "FAL Availability Certificate) shall be delivered by email to Robert L. Seelig, General Counsel ([Redacted]), copying Jason R. Lichtenstein, Deputy General Counsel ([Redacted]) and the Investor's Solicitors ([Redacted]) before noon on the FAL Availability Certification Date (as applicable).

- 5.3. If the FAL Availability Certificate contains an explanation as contemplated by <u>Clause 5.2(b)(ii)</u> and/or <u>Clause 5.2(c)(ii)</u>, the conditions set out in <u>Clause 3.1(a)</u> shall be deemed not to be satisfied and the Investor may, in its sole discretion, waive such conditions pursuant to <u>Clause 3.5(b)</u> or terminate this Agreement pursuant to <u>Clause 3.5(d)</u>.
- 5.4. The Company and the Founding Shareholders acknowledge and agree that the Investor will provide funding to the pursuant to the Interim FAL Provision Agreement in reliance on the FAL Availability Certificate. If the FAL Availability Certificate is inaccurate as at its date, the Investor shall be entitled to pursue its rights or bring any claim as it considers appropriate against the Company or (in respect of the Z Shares Condition only) the Founding Shareholders in respect of such inaccuracy, including, without limitation, any claim for breach of this Agreement or the Interim FAL Provision Agreement.
- 6. Completion.
- 6.1. If FAL Availability has occurred before 5.00p.m. on 17 December 2020, Completion shall, subject to <u>Clause 3.1(b)</u>, take place on 1 January 2021, or such date as the Founding Shareholders and the Investor may agree in writing.
- 6.2. If FAL Availability has not occurred before 5.00p.m. on 17 December 2020, Completion shall, subject to Clause 3.1(c), take place on:
 - (a) the fifth Business Day after the last in time of the conditions specified in Clauses 3.1(c)(i) has been satisfied (or waived in accordance with the terms of this Agreement); or
 - (b) such other date as the Founding Shareholders and the Investor may agree in writing.

(the "Scheduled Completion Date").

- 6.3. Completion shall take place at the offices of the Company, or such place as the Founding Shareholders and the Investor may agree in writing.
- 6.4. On the day before the Scheduled Completion Date, the Company shall deliver to the Investor a certificate which is addressed to the Investor, signed on behalf of the

Company by one of its directors and by the Founding Shareholders and dated day before the Scheduled Completion Date and which either:

- (a) certifies that the MAC Event Condition, the Employment Condition, the First LoC Condition and the Z Shares Condition have been satisfied at all times between the date of this Agreement and date of such certificate; or
- (b) if the Company is not able to provide the certification contemplated by <u>Clause 6.4(a)</u>, provides a detailed explanation of the facts, matters and circumstances which mean that the Company cannot provide that certification.

Such certificate (the "Pre-Completion Certificate) shall be delivered by email to Robert L. Seelig, General Counsel ([Redacted]), copying Jason R. Lichtenstein, Deputy General Counsel ([Redacted]) and the Investor's Solicitors ([Redacted]) before noon on the day before the Scheduled Completion Date (as applicable).

- 6.5. If the Pre-Completion Certificate contains an explanation as contemplated by <u>Clause 6.4(b)</u>, the MAC Event Condition, the Employment Condition, the First LoC Condition, or the Z Shares Condition (as applicable) shall be deemed not to be satisfied (including for the purposes of <u>Clause 3.1(c)</u>) and the Investor may, in its sole discretion, waive the MAC Event Condition, the Employment Condition, the First LoC Condition and/or the Z Shares Condition (as applicable) pursuant to <u>Clause 3.5(b)</u> or terminate this Agreement pursuant to <u>Clause 3.5(d)</u>.
- 6.6. The Company and the Founding Shareholders acknowledge and agree that the Investor will complete the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in reliance on the Pre-Completion Certificate is inaccurate as at its date, the Investor shall be entitled to pursue its rights or bring any claim as it considers appropriate against the Company and (if respect of the Z Shares Condition only) the Founding Shareholders in respect of such inaccuracy, including, without limitation, any claim for breach of this Agreement.
- 6.7. At or prior to Completion, the Company shall do (or procure the doing of) those things listed in <u>Part A</u> of <u>Schedule 2</u> and the Investor shall do (or procure the doing of) those things listed in <u>Part B</u> of <u>Schedule 2</u>. Completion shall take place in accordance with Part C of Schedule 2.
- 6.8. At Completion:
 - the Company shall issue the Subscription Shares to the Investor;
 - (b) the Investor shall pay the Subscription Price to the Company;
 - (c) the Investor shall pay the Sale Shares Consideration to the Company;
 - (d) the Company shall repay all amounts outstanding under the Interim FAL Provision Agreement to the Investor, thereby discharging such amounts; and
 - (e) the transactions contemplated by <u>Clause 2.3</u> shall be effected.
- 6.9. The Company and the Investor agree that:

- (a) the payment by the Investor of the Subscription Price to the Company pursuant to <u>Clause 6.8(b)</u> shall be set off against the repayment by the Company of all amounts outstanding under the interim FAL Provision Agreement to the Investor pursuant to Clause 6.8(d); and
- (b) if, at Completion, the Subscription Price will be greater than the aggregate amount outstanding under the Interim FAL Provision Agreement then the balance of the Subscription Price which remains outstanding following the operation of <u>Clause 6.9(a)</u> (the "Subscription Price Balance") shall be paid by the Investor to the Company in accordance with Schedule 2.

6.10. Immediately following Completion:

- (a) the Company shall deliver to the Investor or the Investor's Solicitors a copy (certified as correct by the secretary of the Company) of the register of members of the Company; and
- (b) the share capital of the Company shall be as set out in Exhibit B to Schedule 7.
- 6.11. Any provision of this Agreement and any other documents referred to in it which is capable of being performed after but which has not been performed at or before Completion, and all Warranties and covenants and other undertakings contained in or entered into pursuant to this Agreement, shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding Completion.

7. Warranties.

- 7.1. The Investor warrants to the Company that each of the Investor Warranties is true and accurate as at the date of this Agreement and will be true and accurate at Completion.
- 7.2. The Company warrants to the Investor that each of the Company Warranties is true and accurate as at the date of this Agreement and will be true and accurate at Completion.
- 7.3. Each Selling Shareholder severally warrants, in respect of itself and its Sale Shares only, to the Investor that each of the Selling Shareholder Warranties is true and accurate as at the date of this Agreement and will be true and accurate and at Completion.
- 7.4. Each party confirms and agrees that each of the Warranties is a separate and independent warranty and, except as otherwise expressly provided, no one of such Warranties shall be limited by reference to any other of them.
- 7.5. The rights and remedies of a party, if any, in respect of any breach of any of the Warranties shall not be affected by FAL Availability or Completion, or any investigation made after the date of this Agreement by or on behalf of such party into the affairs of the Investor, the Company or the Selling Shareholders.

Covenants.

8.1. If, prior to Completion, a Selling Shareholder gives or receives notice to terminate his employment or appointment pursuant to his contract of employment or appointment, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the document at 1.10.8 in the Data Room, that Selling Shareholder shall co-operate with the Company, and execute any document

which the Company requires, in order to sell to any person, repurchase and cancel all of that Selling Shareholder's Shares at any time for such consideration as the Company, in its sole discretion, determines. If any such Selling Shareholder's Shares are sold, repurchased and cancelled, that Selling Shareholder shall waive any and all rights it has against the Company in respect of any interest in the Company's share capital it holds or has held, or in its capacity as a shareholder of the Company, in each case with effect from the time of such sale, repurchase and cancellation.

- 8.2. Each Founding Shareholder undertakes that it shall not amend, alter, terminate or vary any Trustee Sale Agreement at any time and in any manner without the prior written consent of the Investor, save that the Trustee Sale Agreements may be amended to reflect the new classes of shares which will be created as part of the Reorganisation and to extend the long stop date.
- 8.3. Each Founding Shareholder shall covenant to pay on demand the Investor such amount as is required to indemnify the Investor in respect of any and all Losses incurred by the Investor directly or indirectly in relation to or in connection with any breach of the obligations of that Founding Shareholder set out in Clauses 3.4(d) and 8.2.

9. Additional funding.

- 9.1. Subject to the remaining provisions of this <u>Clause 9</u>, the Founding Shareholders may require that the Investor assist the Company in procuring the provision of an amount of additional equity or debt funding for the benefit of the Company (the "Additional Funding Amount") by giving written notice to the Investor (the "Additional Funding Request Notice") at any time from Completion until 30 June 2021 (inclusive). The Additional Funding Amount shall not exceed US\$200,000,000 and shall be specified in the Additional Funding Request Notice.
- 9.2. The Founding Shareholders shall act in good faith in determining (a) whether or not to give the Additional Funding Request Notice and (b) the Additional Funding Amount. Only one Additional Funding Request Notice may be given.
- 9.3. Following the giving of an Additional Funding Request Notice, the Founding Shareholders and the Investor shall discuss whether the Additional Funding Amount should be obtained by way of:
 - a subscription for new shares in the capital of the Company by the Investor (the "Subscription Structure"); or
 - (b) a subscription for an alternative structured equity or debt security (the "Alternative Structure").

If the Founding Shareholders and Investor do not agree in writing whether the Additional Funding Amount should be obtained using the Subscription Structure or the Alternative Structure within 10 Business Days of the date that the Additional Funding Request Notice is given, then the determination of the Founding Shareholders shall prevail.

9.4. If the Founding Shareholders and the Investor agree (or are deemed to agree) that the Subscription Structure should be pursued, the Investor shall use its best endeavours

during the period of five months starting on the date that the Additional Funding Request Notice is given (the "Additional Funding Period") to obtain the necessary funds to provide the Additional Funding to the Company. If the Investor obtains funds equal to the Additional Funding Amount before the end of the Additional Funding Period, then on the final date of the Additional Funding Period (or such other date as the Investor and the Founding Shareholders may agree in writing), the Investor shall provide the Additional Funding Amount to the Company by subscribing for new A Ordinary Shares at the same price per share paid for the Subscription Shares, and the Company shall allot and issue such shares free from Third Party Rights and fully paid to the Investor.

- 9.5. If the Founding Shareholders and the Investor agree that the Alternative Structure should be pursued, the Investor's obligation in respect of such Additional Funding shall be limited to using its reasonable endeavours to assist the Company in procuring such Additional Funding from third party financing sources during the Additional Funding Period.
- 9.6. If the Additional Funding Request Notice is given to the Investor, the Company and the Founding Shareholders shall use their respective reasonable endeavours during the Additional Funding Period to secure additional third-party credit lines for the benefit of the Group on terms which are reasonable and substantially similar to the terms of the existing third-party credit lines of the Group.
- 9.7. The provisions of this <u>Clause 9</u> are without prejudice to the Shareholders' Deed, including all applicable consent or approval requirements (including any consents in respect of capital or debt financing) set out therein.
- Confidentiality.
- 10.1. Otherwise than as contemplated by <u>Clauses 10.2</u> or <u>Clauses 14.1</u> to <u>14.4</u> (inclusive), each party undertakes that it shall treat as confidential, and not disclose or communicate to any person, any Confidential Information.
- 10.2. The confidentiality provisions in Clause 10.1 shall not apply to:
 - (a) any disclosure required by Applicable Law or by any relevant national or supranational regulatory authority or by the rules or operator of any recognised stock exchange, in which circumstances the party concerned shall, if practicable, supply a copy of the required disclosure to the other parties before it is disclosed and provide the other parties with the opportunity to comment regarding the extent of such disclosure;
 - any disclosure made on a confidential basis to any Tax Authority for the purposes of dealing with the Tax affairs of the disclosing party or the Tax affairs of any member of its group;
 - any disclosure required to vest the full benefit of any Transaction Document in that party;
 - any disclosure of information by a party where such information has come into the public domain otherwise than through breach of this <u>Clause 10</u> by that party;

- (e) any disclosure reasonably required to be made in order to enforce any provision of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document to which the disclosing party is a party;
- (f) any disclosure by a party to its directors, officers or employees who need to know such information for the proper performance of their duties.
- (g) any disclosure by a party to its professional advisers, auditors and bankers on a need to know basis and provided they have a duty to keep such information confidential:
- (h) any disclosure of information by the Investor to the W&I Insurer, the W&I Insurer's sub-underwriters or the W&I Broker, in each case, to the extent reasonably necessary in connection with the W&I Insurance Policy and provided that the W&I Insurer, the sub-underwriters or the W&I Broker (as the case may be) has a duty to keep such information confidential;
- any disclosure by the Investor or White Mountains where the Founding Shareholders have given their prior written consent to the disclosure (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed); or
- any disclosure by any party (other than the Investor or White Mountains) where the Investor has given its prior written consent to the disclosure (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).
- 10.3. The obligations of confidentiality in this <u>Clause 10</u> shall survive the termination of this Agreement and shall continue without limit in time.

11. Waiver of existing claims.

On and with effect from Completion, each Selling Shareholder shall be deemed hereby to waive irrevocably any and all claims (whether contingent or otherwise) he has or may have against any Group Company (except for any payment of salary and reimbursements accrued in the ordinary course of business in the period up to Completion) at Completion and to release each Group Company from any liability it has or might have in respect of any such claims.

White Mountains quarantee.

- 12.1. White Mountains hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to the Selling Shareholders the due and actual performance and observance by the Investor of its payment obligations under this Agreement and the Interim FAL Provision Agreement (together, the "Guaranteed Obligations").
- 12.2. If and whenever the Investor defaults for any reason whatsoever in the performance of any of the Guaranteed Obligations, White Mountains shall upon demand unconditionally perform (or procure performance of) and satisfy (or procure satisfaction of) the Guaranteed Obligation in regard to which such default has been made in the manner prescribed by this Agreement and so that the same benefits shall be conferred on the Selling Shareholders as would have been received if such Guaranteed Obligation had been duly performed and satisfied by the Investor.

Substitution of Investor.

- 13.1. The Investor may transfer all of its rights, benefits, obligations and liabilities as a party to this Agreement to any other entity incorporated in Bermuda (or in such other jurisdiction as the Founding Shareholders may agree, such agreement not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) as a direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of White Mountains (the "New Investor"), provided that the New Investor shall first have entered into a deed of substitution in the form set out in Schedule 8 ("Deed of Substitution"). White Mountains shall procure that the executed Deed of Substitution is delivered to the Company and that a copy is provided to the Founding Shareholders. Each party acknowledges and agrees that it shall be deemed to have received a copy of the executed Deed of Substitution provided to the Founding Shareholders pursuant to this Clause 13.1.
- 13.2. Each party acknowledges and agrees that with effect from the time at which the Deed of Substitution is delivered to the Company:
 - the New Investor shall become a party to this Agreement and the benefit of this Agreement shall be extended to the New Investor;
 - (b) the New Investor shall have the Investor's rights and perform all of the Investor's obligations as set out in this Agreement, and the Investor shall cease to have such rights and shall be released from such obligations;
 - (c) the Investor shall be released from any and all liabilities in respect of the obligations of the "Investor" and such liabilities shall become the liabilities of the New Investor, whether such liabilities arose before or after the execution of the Deed of Substitution; and
 - (d) all references to the notice details of the "Investor" in this Agreement and any Transaction Document shall be deemed replaced with the notice details of the New Investor as set out in the Deed of Substitution.
- 13.3. The execution of the Deed of Substitution by the New Investor shall be without prejudice to the continuation inter se of the rights and obligations of the other parties.

General.

Announcements.

- 14.1. No announcement in relation to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (other than the Agreed Press Release) shall be made: (i) by the Investor or White Mountains, without the prior written approval of the Founding Shareholders (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed); and (ii) by any party other than the Investor or White Mountains, without the prior written approval of the Investor (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). This Clause does not apply in the circumstances described in <u>Clause 14.2</u>.
- 14.2. A party may, wherever reasonably practicable after consultation with (in the case of an announcement by the Investor or White Mountains) the Founding Shareholders or (in the case of an announcement by any party other than the Investor or White Mountains) the Investor, make an announcement concerning this Agreement or any ancillary matter.

- (a) to the extent that such announcement is consistent with the contents of the Agreed Press Release or any announcement previously agreed between the Investor and the Company and provides no further material information beyond what is contained in the Agreed Press Release or such other Agreed Press Release; or
- (b) if required by:
 - (i) Applicable Law; or
 - (ii) the rules and regulations of any securities exchange or regulatory authority (including any Regulatory Authority) or governmental body or any Tax Authority to which that party is subject or submits, wherever situated, whether or not the requirement has the force of law.
- 14.3. In the case of <u>Clause 14.2(b)</u>, the party making such announcement shall, where reasonably practicable, provide notice in writing of the text of such announcement in advance of making such announcement and where not reasonably practicable or in the case of <u>Clause 14.2(a)</u>, provide the text of the announcement to (in the case of an announcement by the Investor or White Mountains) the Founding Shareholders or (in the case of an announcement by any other party other than the Investor or White Mountains) the Investor promptly after the making of the announcement.
- 14.4. The restrictions contained in <u>Clauses 14.1</u> to <u>14.3</u> (inclusive) shall continue to apply after Completion or the termination of this Agreement until the date that is one year following the date of termination of the last Transaction Document to be terminated.

Cumulative remedies.

14.5. Each party's rights, powers, privileges and remedies contained in this Agreement are cumulative and are not exclusive of any other rights, powers, privileges or remedies provided by law.

Specific performance.

14.6. Without prejudice to any other remedy which may be available to any party, nothing in this Agreement will prevent or restrict the rights of the Investor to seek specific performance, injunctive relief, other equitable relief and/or discretionary remedies of the court in relation to the obligations of any other party in relation to Completion, including pursuant to <u>Clause 6</u> and <u>Schedule 2</u>, it being acknowledged that an award of damages may not be an adequate remedy for such a breach.

Waiver.

14.7. The express or implied waiver by any party to this Agreement of any of its rights or remedies arising under this Agreement or by law shall not constitute a continuing waiver of the right or remedy waived or a waiver of any other right or remedy. The single or partial exercise of any right, power or remedy provided by law or under this Agreement shall not preclude any other or further exercise of it or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy. No delay or omission by any party to this Agreement in exercising any right, power or remedy provided by law or under this Agreement shall affect that right, power or remedy or operate as a waiver of it.

Withholding and grossing up.

- 14.8. All sums payable under this Agreement shall be paid without any deductions or withholdings whatsoever, save only as may be required by any Applicable Law but if any deductions or withholdings for, or on account of, Tax are required by Applicable Law to be made from any payment pursuant to this Agreement (excluding the payment of the Subscription Price, the Sale Shares Consideration or the amounts payable pursuant to Clause 2.3), the applicable payor party shall be obliged to pay to the payee such sum as will, after the deduction or withholding has been made, leave the payee with the same amount as it would have been entitled to receive in the absence of any such requirement to make a deduction or withholding.
- 14.9. If the receipt of any sum paid to any party under any warranty or indemnity pursuant to this Agreement is required by any Applicable Law to be brought into charge to Tax in the hands of the recipient, the sum otherwise so payable shall be grossed up by such amount as will ensure that, after payment of any Taxation charged on or in respect of the receipt of such payment (or which would have been charged but for the use of any relief), there shall be left a sum equal to that which would otherwise be payable pursuant to this Agreement.

Limitation of Selling Shareholders' Liability.

14.10. The total aggregate liability of the Selling Shareholders (other than each Founding Shareholder) in respect of all claims under this Agreement shall be limited to an amount equal to his share of the Sale Shares Consideration.

Claims against the Company.

14.11. In respect of any claim by the Investor against the Company (whether under this Agreement or otherwise), if Completion occurs the amount otherwise so payable by the Company to the Investor in respect of such claim (the "Claim Amount") shall be increased such that the amount so payable to the Investor shall be an amount equal to the Claim Amount divided by the Adjustment Percentage, where "Adjustment Percentage" shall mean 100 per cent. minus 72.04 per cent.

Entire agreement.

- 14.12. This Agreement and the other Transaction Documents constitute the entire agreement between the parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement and this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents supersede and extinguish any prior drafts, agreements, terms sheets, summaries of terms, memorandums of understanding, undertakings, representations, warranties and arrangements of any nature whatsoever, whether or not in writing, between the parties in relation to the subject matter of this Agreement.
- 14.13. Each party acknowledges and agrees that it has not entered into this Agreement in reliance on any statement or representation of any person (whether a party to this Agreement or not) other than as expressly incorporated in this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents.

14.14. Nothing contained in this Agreement or in any other Transaction Document shall be read or construed as excluding any liability or remedy as a result of fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation.

Further assurances.

14.15. The parties shall do all such further acts and execute all such further documents as shall, in the reasonable opinion of the Company or of the Investor, be necessary to give full effect to the provisions of this Agreement.

Variation.

14.16. The Investor and the Founding Shareholders may, together, amend, change, add to or supplement this Agreement without the consent of, and upon written notice setting out the amendments to, the other parties.

Costs and expenses.

- 14.17. The parties agree that promptly following Completion, the Company shall pay its own fees, costs and expenses in relation to: (i) the negotiation, preparation, execution and carrying into effect of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents; and (ii) the engagement of any professional advisers in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents.
- 14.18. The parties agree that promptly following Completion, the Company shall reimburse all fees, costs and expenses incurred by the Investor, the members of the Investor's Group and the Investor's shareholders in relation to: (i) the negotiation, preparation, execution and carrying into effect of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents; (ii) the due diligence review exercise carried out by or on behalf of the Investor; (iii) the W&I Insurance Policy (as defined in the Warranty Deed); and (iv) the engagement of any professional advisers in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents.

No partnership.

14.19. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to or shall be construed as establishing or implying any partnership of any kind between the parties.

Assignment and transfer.

- 14.20. Subject to <u>Clauses 13</u> and <u>14.22</u>, no party may assign, transfer, subcontract or delegate any of its obligations pursuant to this Agreement, grant any security interest over, hold on trust or otherwise transfer the benefit of the whole or any part of this Agreement.
- 14.21. Any purported assignment, transfer, subcontracting, delegation, charging or dealing in contravention of Clause 14.20 shall be ineffective.
- 14.22. Notwithstanding <u>Clause 14.20</u>, the Investor may at any time, without the need to obtain the consent of any other party, assign all or any part of the benefit of, or its rights or benefits under, this Agreement to:

- any person by way of security for borrowings of a member of the Investor's Group; and/or
- (b) any other member of the Investor's Group (or by any such member to or in favour of any other member of the Investor's Group)

provided that: (i) such assignment shall not relieve the Investor from its obligations under this Agreement; (ii) if such assignee ceases to be a member of the Investor's Group all benefits relating to this Agreement assigned to such assignee shall be deemed automatically by that fact to be re-assigned to the Investor; and (iii) no other party shall be under any greater obligation or liability thereby than if such assignment had never occurred.

Counterparts.

14.23. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and by the parties on separate counterparts, but shall not be effective until each party has executed at least one counterpart. Each counterpart shall constitute an original of this Agreement, and all the counterparts shall together constitute one and the same agreement.

Third party rights.

14.24. A person who is not a party to this Agreement has no right under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of this Agreement.

Notices.

- 14.25. Subject to <u>Clauses 3.5(d)</u> and <u>5.2</u>, any notice or other communication under or in connection with this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be delivered personally or sent by first class post in a pre-paid envelope (and air mail if overseas) or by email, to the party due to receive the notice or communication at its address and/or any email address set out in this Agreement (the "Notice Details") or such other address as a party may specify by notice in writing to the other parties. This <u>Clause 14.25</u> shall not apply to Service Documents.
- 14.26. The Notice Details of each Selling Shareholder are set out opposite that Selling Shareholder's name in the column named "Notice Details" of Exhibit A to <u>Schedule 7</u>, and the Notice Details for White Mountains, the Investor and the Company are as set out below:

Party	Address	For the attention of	E-mail address		
White Mountains	26 Reid Street, Hamilton HM 11,	Robert Seelig	[Redacted]		
	Bermuda 11.7	Jason Lichtenstein	[Redacted]		
		With a copy to:	With a copy to:		
		Nicholas Pacheco	[Redacted]		

Investor	26 Reid	d Street,	Kevin Pearson	[Redacted]		
	Hamilton,	HM 11,				
	Bernuda		John Sinkus	[Redacted]		
Company	Clarendon Church	House, 2 Street,		[Redacted]		
	Hamilton, Bernuda	HM 11,	With a copy to:	With a copy to:		
			A Tromans and D Griffiths	[Redacted]		
				[Redacted]		

14.27. In the absence of evidence of earlier receipt, any notice or other communication shall have been deemed to have been duly given:

- (a) if delivered personally, when left at the address referred to elsewhere in this Agreement;
- (b) if sent by mail other than air mail, two days after posting it;
- (c) if sent by air mail, six days after posting it; and
- (d) if sent by email, on completion of its transmission.

Severance.

- 14.28. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid or unenforceable by any judicial or other competent authority, all other provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect and will not in any way be impaired.
- 14.29. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid or unenforceable but would be valid or enforceable if some part of the provision were deleted, the provision in question will apply with the minimum modifications necessary to make it valid and enforceable.

Representatives of the Selling Shareholders.

14.30. The Founding Shareholders (acting together) shall have full authority to bind the Selling Shareholders for the purposes of this Agreement and signature of this Agreement by or on behalf of a Selling Shareholder constitutes his warranty that the Founding Shareholders are so authorised to act on his behalf and his undertaking, at the Investor's request, to ratify any step taken, consent given, or commitment made by the Founding Shareholders in accordance with this Agreement on the relevant Selling Shareholder's behalf.

Governing law.

14.31. This Agreement and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it (including any non-contractual obligation arising out of the negotiation of the

transactions contemplated by this Agreement) are governed by and shall be construed in accordance with English law.

Exclusive jurisdiction.

14.32. Each of the parties irrevocably agrees that the courts of England shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and decide any suit, action or proceedings (including any non-contractual dispute or claim), and/or to settle any disputes, which may arise out of or in connection with this Agreement (respectively, "Proceedings" and "Disputes") and, for these purposes, each party irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the courts of England. Each party irrevocably waives any objection which it might at any time have to the courts of England being nominated as the forum to hear and decide any Proceedings and to settle any Disputes and agrees not to claim that the courts of England are not a convenient or appropriate forum for any such Proceedings or Disputes and further irrevocably agrees that a judgment in any Proceedings or Disputes brought in the courts of England shall be conclusive and binding upon the parties and may be enforced in the courts of any other jurisdiction.

Agent for service.

- 14.33. The Company irrevocably appoints Ark Syndicate Management Limited of 30 Fenchurch Avenue, London EC3M 5AD to be its agent for the receipt of Service Documents. It agrees that any Service Document may be effectively served on it in connection with Proceedings in England and Wales by service on its agent effected in any manner permitted by the Civil Procedure Rules. A copy of any Service Document served on the Company's agent shall be sent by post to the Company, but failure or delay in so doing shall not prejudice the effectiveness of service of the Service Document.
- 14.34. White Mountains irrevocably appoints WM Regent, Ltd. of c/o Alter Domus (UK) Limited, 18 St Swithin's Lane, London, United Kingdom EC4N 8AD to be its agent for the receipt of Service Documents. It agrees that any Service Document may be effectively served on it in connection with Proceedings in England and Wales by service on its agent effected in any manner permitted by the Civil Procedure Rules. A copy of any Service Document served on White Mountains's agent shall be sent by post to White Mountains, but failure or delay in so doing shall not prejudice the effectiveness of service of the Service Document.
- 14.35. The Investor inveocably appoints WM Regent, Ltd. of c/o Alter Domus (UK) Limited, 18 St Swithin's Lane, London, United Kingdom EC4N 8AD to be its agent for the receipt of Service Documents. It agrees that any Service Document may be effectively served on it in connection with Proceedings in England and Wales by service on its agent effected in any manner permitted by the Civil Procedure Rules. A copy of any Service Document served on the Investor's agent shall be sent by post to the Investor, but failure or delay in so doing shall not prejudice the effectiveness of service of the Service Document.
- 14.36. If, for any reason, the agent of a party named above is no longer able to act as the agent of that party or ceases to exist, that party shall notify the other parties of that fact. That party shall, within five (5) Business Days of the date of that notice, appoint a

- replacement agent for service of process in England and Wales and shall notify the other parties of the name and address of the replacement agent.
- 14.37. If the Company fails to comply with the obligations in <u>Clause 14.33</u>, the Investor shall be entitled to appoint a replacement agent on behalf, and at the expense, of the Company, and on the terms the Investor sees fit, and shall notify the other parties of the name and address of that replacement.
- 14.38. If White Mountains fails to comply with the obligations in <u>Clause 14.34</u>, the Company shall be entitled to appoint a replacement agent on behalf, and at the expense, of White Mountains, and on the terms the Company sees fit, and shall notify the other parties of the name and address of that replacement.
- 14.39. If the Investor fails to comply with the obligations in <u>Clause 14.35</u>, the Company shall be entitled to appoint a replacement agent on behalf, and at the expense, of the Investor, and on the terms the Company sees fit, and shall notify the other parties of the name and address of that replacement.
- 14.40. Until a party receives notification, either under <u>Clauses 14.36</u>, <u>14.37</u>, <u>14.38</u> or <u>14.39</u> of the appointment of a replacement agent, it shall be entitled to treat the agent named above (or its duly notified replacement) as the agent of the relevant party.

Initial Structure Steps Plan

[Omitted]

Completion arrangements

PART A

The Company's actions and deliverables

- 1. At or prior to Completion:
 - (a) the Company shall deliver to the Investor or the Investor's Solicitors:
 - (i) a copy (certified as correct by the secretary of the Company) of the resolution of the Company's shareholders adopting the Bye-laws as the Company's bye-laws with effect from Completion and approving the reorganisation of the Company's share capital such that it is as shown in Exhibit B to Schedule 7;
 - a copy (certified as correct by the secretary of the Company) of the adopted Bye-laws;
 - (iii) a counterpart original of the Shareholders' Deed, duly executed by Trident Trust Company Limited as trustee of the Vineyard Trust, Trident Trust Company Limited as trustee of Mountain Ash Trust and each other party thereto (other than the Investor);
 - (iv) original share transfer instruments in respect of the Sale Shares, duly executed by each Selling Shareholder or his nominee in favour of the Investor.
 - (v) each other Final Structure Step Document, duly executed by each of the parties to it;
 - (vi) copies of such waivers or consents as the Investor may require to enable the Investor to be registered as holder of the Sale Shares and the Subscription Shares;
 - (vii) in respect of each Employee Shareholder, valid and duly executed elections pursuant to Section 431(1) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in the form prescribed by HMRC in relation to any and all Shares subscribed for or acquired by that Employee Shareholder on or around Completion;
 - (viii) duly executed letters in the agreed form from each director (other than the Founding Shareholders), resigning from their offices as directors of the Company with such resignations to take effect on Completion; and
 - (ix) copies of any power(s) of attorney under which any of the documents listed above has been executed; and
 - (b) the Founding Shareholders shall procure that a board meeting of the Company is held at which:

- it shall be resolved that the allotment and issue of the Subscription Shares, credited as fully paid, to the Investor shall be approved and a resolution to register the Investor as the holder of the Subscription Shares shall be passed;
- it shall be resolved that the transfer of the Sale Shares to the Investor shall be approved and a resolution to register the transfer of the Sale Shares shall be passed;
- (iii) it shall be resolved that the four individuals nominated by Investor shall be appointed directors of the Company, such appointments to take effect immediately after Completion; and
- (iv) it shall be resolved that the resignations of the directors of the Company referred to in <u>paragraph 1(a)(viii)</u> of this Schedule shall be tendered and accepted so as to take effect on Completion,

and the Company shall procure that minutes of such board meeting (certified as correct by a director of the Company), and, if requested, certificates in respect of the Subscription Shares and the Sale Shares in the name of the Investor, are delivered to the Investor or the Investor's Solicitors.

PART B

The Investor's actions and deliverables

- 1. At or prior to Completion:
 - (a) the Investor shall deliver to the Company or the Company's Solicitors:
 - a counterpart original of the Shareholders' Deed, duly executed by the Investor, and
 - (ii) original share transfer instruments in respect of the Sale Shares, duly executed by the Investor;
 - (b) if the Subscription Price will be greater than the aggregate amount outstanding under the Interim FAL Provision Agreement at Completion, then the Investor shall pay to the bank account nominated by the Company (such bank account to be nominated by the Company no later than 21 December 2020) by way of transfer of funds for same day value, an amount equal to the Subscription Price Balance. Such funds shall be held by the Company on trust as the property of the Investor pending Completion; and
 - (c) the Investor shall pay to the bank account nominated by the Company (acting as agent for the Selling Shareholders) (such bank account to be nominated by the Company no later than 21 December 2020) an amount equal to the Sale Shares Consideration and Investor Pay Up Amount. Such funds shall be held by the Company on trust as the property of the Investor pending Completion.

PART C General

- All documents and items delivered at Completion pursuant to this Schedule shall be held by in escrow by the party receiving the same until such time as Completion shall be deemed to have taken place.
- 2. Simultaneously with the last in time of:
 - the delivery by or on behalf of the Company to the Investor of a written confirmation from the Chief Financial Officer of the Company stating that the Company is solvent;
 - (b) the delivery of all documents and items required to be delivered at Completion in accordance with this Schedule (or waiver of the delivery of it by the person entitled to receive the relevant document or item);
 - (c) if the Subscription Price will be greater than the aggregate amount outstanding under the Interim FAL Provision Agreement at Completion, receipt of an electronic funds transfer by the Company of an amount equal to the Subscription Price Balance in accordance with this Schedule; and
 - receipt of an electronic funds transfer by the Investor to the Company of an amount equal to the Sale Shares Consideration and the Investor Pay Up Amount,

the documents and items delivered in accordance with this Schedule shall cease to be held to the order of the person delivering them and Completion shall be deemed to have taken place.

3. Following Completion the Company shall transfer to each Selling Shareholder that Selling Shareholder's portion of the Sale Shares Consideration (less any amounts which the Group is required to deduct in respect of PAYE and employee National Insurance contributions and less any amounts to be used to pay up shares in accordance with Clause 2.3). The payment of the Sale Shares Consideration to the bank account nominated by the Company shall fully discharge the Investor's obligation to pay the Sale Shares Consideration and the Investor shall have no obligation whatsoever in respect of the onward distribution of the Sale Shares Consideration to the Selling Shareholders. The column entitled "total, \$" in Exhibit A to Schedule 7 sets out the Sale Shares Consideration, in an amount which does not take into account any possible deductions, apportioned to each Selling Shareholder.

Conduct of business before Completion

The acts and matters for the purposes of Clause 4.1 are as follows:

- (a) make any substantial change to the nature, management or organisation of its business (including any discontinuance or cessation of the operation of all or a material part of its business) or of any of its business lines (including any discontinuance or cessation of any of its business lines and the commencement of any new business lines);
- (b) dispose of (whether by one transaction or by a series of transactions) any material interest in any part of its business, undertaking or assets or acquire (whether by one transaction or by a series of transactions) the whole or a material part of the business, undertaking or assets of any other person;
- acquire the shares or any other interest in any person or merge or consolidate with any person or participate in any kind of corporate reconstruction;
- enter into, amend or terminate any joint venture, partnership or other similar profit sharing arrangement;
- enter into, amend, assign, terminate or waive any rights under, any individual arrangement, contract or commitment (whether written or unwritten), other than in the ordinary course of business and on arm's length terms;
- enter into any agreement, arrangement or obligation with any other Group Company or any Existing Shareholder or any Related Person, other than in the ordinary course of business and on arm's length terms;
- (g) make any payment to, advance any benefit to, waive or release any obligation or liability of, or become liable to, any Existing Shareholder or any Related Person, other than in ordinary course of business and on arm's length terms;
- (h) make any capital commitment which individually exceeds US\$100,000 or which together
 with all other capital commitments entered into by the Group between the date of this
 Agreement and Completion, exceeds US\$250,000 in aggregate;
- (i) do, or omit to do, anything which would or might reasonably be expected to result in:
 - a change in the regulatory capital, reserving, liquidity or capital management policies of any Group Company;
 - (ii) a material increase in the risk profile of any Group Company (including material changes to investment policies); or
 - the Group being unable to run its business in accordance with the Group Long-Term Business Plan (as articulated therein);
- take any action which, had such action occurred following Completion, would have required the prior approval of the Board (as defined in the Shareholders' Deed) under the terms of the Shareholders' Deed;

- (k) offer to engage any new employee or consultant at an annual salary or fee per employee or consultant (on the basis of full time employment or consultancy) in excess of US\$150,000 per annum;
- (1) make any material amendment, including increasing emoluments (including, without limitation, salary, pension contributions, bonuses, commissions, share or other incentive schemes, redundancy terms and benefits in kind) to the terms of employment of any employee, save for increases in emoluments made in accordance with the past practice of the Group;
- (m) declare, authorise, make or pay a dividend (in cash or in specie) or other distribution of a similar nature or taxed in the same way as a dividend (other than lawfully made by any Group Company to another Group Company);
- (n) create, allot or issue or grant any option over or other right to subscribe for or purchase, or redeem, buy back, sub-divide, consolidate, re-denominate, convert, reduce, cancel, restrict or alter the rights attaching to, any share or loan capital or securities or securities convertible into any of the foregoing;
- (o) grant any guarantee, security, indemnity or other assurance for the obligations of any person (other than another Group Company);
- (p) create or grant any Third Party Right, including any option, right to acquire, mortgage, charge, pledge, lien (other than a lien arising by operation of law) or other form of security or encumbrance or equity on, over or affecting the whole or any part of its undertaking or assets, other than rights arising under retention of title clauses in the ordinary course of business;
- (q) make any loan (other than granting trade credit in the ordinary course of business in accordance with its past practice) to any person, other than between Group Companies;
- (r) prepay or incur any borrowing, credit, finance or other indebtedness in the nature of borrowing, other than receipt of trade credit in the ordinary course of business or pursuant to and in accordance with the limits subsisting at the date of this Agreement or borrowings between Group Companies;
- incur any contingent (other than in the ordinary course of business in accordance with its past practice) or off-balance sheet liability;
- (t) commence any material litigation or arbitration proceedings or compromise, cease, assign or settle any material litigation or arbitration proceedings or any action, demand or dispute or waive a right in relation to material litigation or arbitration proceedings (including proceedings before any Regulatory Authority), other than debt collection in the ordinary course of business;
- agree any compromise or settlement of any disciplinary or enforcement action, including actions pursued by any Regulatory Authority against any Group Company;
- (v) fail to take any action required to maintain or renew any existing insurance policy in force, do anything which would render any insurance policy void or voidable, effect any change to the terms or level of cover of any existing insurance policy or fail to notify and

- pursue any potential claim under any insurance policy, other than in the ordinary course of business in accordance with past practice;
- (w) pass any shareholders' resolution or alterits constitutional documents or capital structure;
- change its auditors, its accounting reference date or any of its accounting or actuarial policies or procedure, other than as required by Applicable Law;
- (y) change its residence for Tax purposes;
- (z) other than in a manner consistent with the past practice and the ordinary course of managing the Tax affairs of a Group Company, make, consent to, amend or withdraw any claim, election, disclaimer or similar item relating to Tax which could have the effect of increasing any Group Company's liability to Tax to a material extent;
- (aa) initiate, propose or take any steps in connection with winding up, liquidation, administration, receivership or other insolvency proceedings or make any composition, compromise, assignment or arrangement with creditors;
- (bb) seek any new Regulatory Authorisation or surrender, vary or limit, or fail to maintain or renew, any Regulatory Authorisation;
- enterinto any lease, licence or agreement in respect of or affecting any Relevant Property
 or accept the surrender of any lease, licence or agreement to which a Relevant Property
 is subject;
- (dd) enter into any variation of the terms of any lease, licence or agreement under which a Relevant Property is held or to which a Relevant Property is subject or agree any review of the rent payable;
- (ee) dispose of or grant any option in respect of any Relevant Property or any interest therein;
- (ff) grant or create any Third Party Rights on, over or affecting any Relevant Property; and
- (gg) enter into any agreement or option (conditional or otherwise) to do any of the foregoing.

Warranties

PART A

Company Warranties

- The Company is validly incorporated, in existence and duly registered under Bermuda law.
- 2. The Company has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which the Company is a party, and to carry out the provisions of this Agreement and such Transaction Documents (to the extent the Company is a party thereto). This Agreement has, and the other Transaction Documents to which the Company is a party will at Completion have, been duly and validly executed and delivered by the Company and constitute or will constitute, as the case may be, assuming due execution and delivery by the other parties hereto and thereto, valid and legally binding obligations of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with their respective terms.
- 3. Except as set out in <u>Schedule 2</u> and <u>Schedule 5</u>, no consent, approval, authorisation or order of the Company's shareholders (or any of them) or any court or government or local agency or body or any other person is required in connection with the execution or implementation by the Company of this Agreement and any other Transaction Documents entered into by the Company.
- 4. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is, or will be, a party will not, with or without the giving of notice or the passage of time, or both, (i) violate any provision of law to which the Company is subject, (ii) violate any order, judgment or decree applicable to the Company, or (iii) conflict with, or result in a breach or default under any agreement or instrument to which the Company is a party or by which the Company or any property of the Company is otherwise bound or subject.
- No order has been made or petition presented or resolution passed for the appointment of an administrative or other receiver, manager or liquidator in relation to the Company, or for the winding up of the Company. There are no proceedings in relation to any compromise or arrangement between the Company and its creditors or any bankruptcy or other insolvency proceedings relating to the Company, and no events have occurred which would justify such proceedings. The Company is not insolvent under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation or unable to pay its debts as they fall due. No steps have been taken to enforce any security over the assets of the Company and no event has occurred to give the right to enforce such security.
- 6. The information in folder 1.2 of the Data Room is true, complete and accurate. The copy of the Company's bye-laws in the document numbered 1.2.5 of the Data Room is true, complete and accurate. The issued share capital of the Company referenced in

schedule 5 to the Warranty Deed constitutes the entire issued share capital of the Company. The shareholders of the Company and the shares held by each of them are as set out in the copy of the Company's Register of Members and there are no other persons who are shareholders of the Company other than those identified in such copy of the Company's register of members.

- 7. Ark MA has not sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of, any interest in any of the shares of AUI, nor has it agreed to any such sale, transfer or disposal. AUI has not sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of, any interest in any part of its business, undertaking or assets, nor has it agreed to any such sale, transfer or disposal.
- 8. There is no agreement or commitment outstanding which calls for the allotment or issue of, or accords to any person the right to call for the allotment or issue of, any shares or any debentures in or securities of the Company.
- Immediately following Completion, the details set out in Exhibit B to Schedule 7 are
 true and accurate and the Shares set out therein constitute the whole of the Company's
 allotted and issued share capital and are fully paid or credited as fully paid.
- 10. The Company complied with generally accepted actuarial standards and professional guidance when completing its actuarial and reserving calculations related to the COVID-19 pandemic, as reported in its unaudited management accounts for the six months ended 30 June 2020 and, so far as the Company is aware, such actuarial and reserving calculations give a fair view of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Company.
- 11. The assets of the Group which are located in the United States as defined under the HSR Act have an aggregate fair market value which is less than US\$94,000,000 and, during its most recent fiscal year, the Group did not generate sales in or into the United States, the sum of which exceeded US\$94,000,000, all as defined under the HSR Act.

PART B Investor Warranties

- The Investor has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which such Investor is a party, and to carry out the provisions of this Agreement and such Transaction Documents (to the extent such Investor is a party thereto). This Agreement has, and the other Transaction Documents to which such Investor is a party will at Completion have, been duly and validly executed and delivered by such Investor and constitute or will constitute, as the case may be, assuming due execution and delivery by the other parties hereto and thereto, valid and legally binding obligations of such Investor, enforceable against such Investor in accordance with their respective terms.
- 2. Except as set out in <u>Schedule 2</u> and <u>Schedule 5</u>, no consent, approval, authorisation or order of the Investor's shareholders (or any of them) or any court or government or local agency or body or any other person is required in connection with the execution or implementation by the Investor of this Agreement and any other Transaction Documents entered into by such Investor.
- 3. The execution, delivery and performance by the Investor of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is, or will be, a party will not, with or without the giving of notice or the passage of time, or both, (i) violate any provision of law to which such Investor is subject, (ii) violate any order, judgment or decree applicable to such Investor, or (iii) conflict with, or result in a breach or default under any agreement or instrument to which such Investor is a party or by which the Investor or any property of such Investor is otherwise bound or subject.

PART C Selling Shareholder Warranties

- The Selling Shareholder has full capacity, power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which such Selling Shareholder is a party, and to carry out the provisions of this Agreement and such Transaction Documents (to the extent such Selling Shareholder is a party thereto). This Agreement has, and the other Transaction Documents to which the Selling Shareholder is a party will at Completion have, been duly and validly executed and delivered by the Selling Shareholder and constitute or will constitute, as the case may be, assuming due execution and delivery by the other parties hereto and thereto, valid and legally binding obligations of the Selling Shareholder, enforceable against the Selling Shareholder in accordance with their respective terms.
- Except as set out in <u>Schedule 2</u> and <u>Schedule 5</u>, no consent, approval, authorisation or
 order of any court or government or local agency or body or any other person is required
 in connection with the execution or implementation by the Selling Shareholder of this
 Agreement and any other Transaction Documents entered into by the Selling
 Shareholder.
- 3. The execution, delivery and performance by the Selling Shareholder of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which he is, or will be, a party will not, with or without the giving of notice or the passage of time, or both, (i) violate any provision of law to which the Selling Shareholder is subject, (ii) violate any order, judgment or decree applicable to the Selling Shareholder, or (iii) conflict with, or result in a breach or default under any agreement or instrument to which the Selling Shareholder is a party or by which the Selling Shareholder or any property of such Selling Shareholder is otherwise bound or subject.
- 4. The Selling Shareholder is the sole legal and beneficial owner of the Sale Shares set out opposite his name in the columns named "H1 2015 Shares, #", "Preference 2 Shares, #", "H 2018 Shares, #", "H 2019 Shares, #" and "H 2020 Shares, #" of Exhibit A to Schedule 7.
- 5. There is no option, right to acquire, mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other form of Third Party Right over or affecting the Sale Shares or any of them and there is no agreement or commitment to give or create any and no claim has been made by any person to be entitled to any.
- 6. The Selling Shareholder: (i) has not had a bankruptcy petition presented against him or been declared bankrupt; (ii) has not been served with a statutory demand, and is able to pay any debts within the meaning of the Insolvency Act 1986; (iii) has not entered into, and has not proposed to enter into, any composition or arrangement with, or for, his creditors (including an individual voluntary arrangement); and (iv) has not been subject to any other event analogous to the foregoing in any jurisdiction.

Conditions

- UK regulatory conditions
- 1.1 The Appropriate Regulator either:
 - (a) having given written notice that it approves the Investor and each other person required to give notice under section 178 of FSMA in connection with the subscription and the sale and purchase envisaged by the Agreement acquiring control (as envisaged by FSMA, and read where applicable in conjunction with the FSMA (Controllers)(Exemptions) Order 2009); or
 - (b) being treated in accordance with section 189(6) of FSMA as having approved the Investor and each other relevant person acquiring control,

of each of Ark MA and AHU.

- 1.2 The Council of Lloyd's having given written notice in accordance with paragraph 43 of the Underwriting Byelaw (No 2 of 2003) that it consents to the Investor (and each other person who will upon Completion become a controller of Ark MA) acquiring control of Ark MA, where "controller" and "control" for the purposes of this paragraph shall have the meanings given in the Definitions Byelaw (No 7 of 2005).
- 1.3 The Council of Lloyd's having given written notice in accordance with paragraph 12 of the Membership Byelaw (No 5 of 2005) that it consents to the Investor (and each other person who will upon Completion become a controller of the Corporate Members) acquiring control of the Corporate Members, where "controller" and "control" for the purposes of this paragraph shall have the meanings given in the Definitions Byelaw (No 7 of 2005).
- Bermuda regulatory conditions
- 2.1 The written consent of the BMA to the issuance of the Subscription Shares to the Investor pursuant to the Exchange Control Act 1972 of Bermuda and the rules and regulations thereunder.
- 2.2 The written consent of the BMA to the transfer of the Sale Shares to the Investor pursuant to the Exchange Control Act 1972 of Bermuda and the rules and regulations thereunder.
- 2.3 The BMA giving notice in writing that it has no objection to the proposed change of shareholder controller of GAIL pursuant to section 30D of the Bermuda Insurance Act (or the time for notifying an objection has lapsed without the BMA having served a written notice of objection).

- 2.4 Advance written notification having been given to the BMA by GAIL of the proposed change in controller, directors and officers pursuant to section 30J of the Bermuda Insurance Act.
- 2.5 The BMA giving written notice that it consents to GAIL becoming a Class 4 reinsurer under the Bermuda Insurance Act.

Lender consents

The Company having either:

- obtained each of the consents and/or waivers under the terms of any of the Group's financing arrangements; or
- (ii) otherwise refinanced any of the Group's financing arrangements,

on terms that ensure that the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents are permitted, provided that if the Group's financing arrangements are refinanced after the date of this Agreement they are refinanced on terms that are substantially the same or more favourable to the Group than the terms of the financing arrangements as at the date of this Agreement or are on terms that have otherwise been consented to by the Investor in writing.

Letters of credit

- 4.1 The \$45,000,000 letter of credit facility available to the Group Companies as at the date of this Agreement pursuant to the Amendment and Restatement Agreement dated 7 November 2019 among, inter alios, the Company, Group Ark Insurance Holdings Limited and Lloyd's Bank plc relating to a \$60,000,000 facilities agreement dated 27 November 2013, as previously amended and restated on 25 November 2014, 24 November 2015 and 8 November 2017 (the "Facilities Agreement") remaining available to the Group Companies.
- 4.2 The Company, or another Group Company, having entered into a letter of credit facility amending and restating the terms of the Facilities Agreement so as to, inter alios, increase the commitments available to the Group Companies at Completion to at least \$150,000,000 (such amount including the \$45,000,000 already available to the Group Companies under the Facilities Agreement), and related security documents.

5. A.M. Best rating

A.M. Best Company issuing an indicative letter to the Company (on the basis of assumptions and capital requirements that are not inconsistent in any material respect with the Group Long-Term Business Plan) which indicates that it will issue a financial strength rating of "A-" or higher for GAIL and that the sole condition precedent to its issuing such a rating is that Completion must first take place, except to the extent that it can be reasonably demonstrated by the Company to the Investor that the sole reason given by A.M. Best Company for not issuing such a letter is that the Investor's commitment to the Company will be less than US\$800,000,000 at Completion.

Delivery of documents

The Company having delivered into escrow to the Investor's Solicitors and to the satisfaction of the Investor all documents and items required to be delivered by the Company at Completion pursuant to Part A of Schedule 2.

MAC Event Condition

None of the following having occurred:

- (a) any Founding Shareholder who is a SMF Holder of any Group Company committing a breach of relevant regulatory obligations that results in, or is sufficiently material that it would reasonably be expected to result in, either (i) a Group Company ceasing to consider the individual fit and proper to be an SMF Holder in respect of that Group Company or (ii) the PRA or FCA (as appropriate) cancelling, imposing restrictions on, or issuing a prohibition order concerning that individual's SMF Holder status; or
- (b) a Material Adverse Effect, provided that for the purposes of this <u>paragraph</u> (b), a Material Adverse Effect shall not include the effect on the Group of any event, change, circumstance, effect, development or state of facts to the extent it results from or arises out of:
 - general political or economic conditions (including changes in interest rates or exchange rates) or securities, credit, financial or capital markets conditions, in each case in any jurisdiction;
 - changes or conditions generally affecting the industries or businesses, or segments thereof, in which the Group operates or in which products or services of the Group are used or distributed;
 - (iii) any change in Applicable Law or accounting principles applicable to the Group (or authoritative interpretation of any of the foregoing) or the enforcement thereof:
 - (iv) the negotiation, execution, announcement, pendency or performance of this Agreement, the Transaction Documents or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents and the identity of, or any other facts or circumstances specifically and particularly relating to, the Investor or its affiliates, including:
 - (A) effects relating to compliance with covenants contained herein or the failure to take any action as a result of any restrictions or prohibitions set forth herein; and
 - (B) any adverse effect caused by:

- the impact on the relationships of the Group with customers, suppliers, distributors, partners, governmental authorities or employees; or
- (2) shortfalls or declines in revenue, margins or profitability;
- any acts of war, armed hostilities, sabotage, cyberattacks or terrorism, or any escalation or worsening of any acts of war, armed hostilities, sabotage or terrorism;
- (vi) earthquakes, wildfires, tomados, humicanes, floods or other natural disasters;
- (vii) any Contagion Event, or any worsening of a Contagion Event or related matters existing as of the date of this Agreement, or any declaration of martial law, quarantine or similar directive, policy or guidance or other action by any governmental authority in response thereto;
- (viii) any failure by the Group to meet any internal or published projections, forecasts, estimates or predictions in respect of revenues, earnings or other financial or operating metrics for any period (it being understood that the event, change, circumstance, effect, development or state of facts giving rise or contributing to such failure that are not otherwise excluded pursuant to another clause of this definition may be deemed to constitute or be taken into account in determining whether there has been or would reasonably be likely to have a Material Adverse Effect);
- (ix) the credit, financial strength, claims paying or other ratings (other than the facts underlying any such ratings) of the Group (it being understood that the event, change, circumstance, effect, development or state of facts giving rise or contributing to such ratings that are not otherwise excluded pursuant to another clause of this definition may be deemed to constitute or be taken into account in determining whether there has been or would reasonably be likely to have a Material Adverse Effect); or
- any action taken or omitted to be taken by the Company at the written request of the Investor;

except, in the case of the foregoing clauses (i), (ii), (iii), (v), (vi) and (vii), to the extent that such event, change, circumstance, effect, development or state of facts (a) affects the Group as a whole, in a materially disproportionate manner when compared to the effect of such event, change, circumstance, effect, development or state of facts on other businesses engaged in the industries in which the Group operates and (b) with respect to the foregoing clause (vii) only, relates solely to insurance policies written after 1 April 2020.

8. Employment Condition

Each of the Founding Shareholders:

- (a) continuing to be a full-time employee of Ark MA; and
- (b) not having given notice of termination of his employment with Ark MA for any reason and there being no facts or circumstances that could reasonably be expected to cause such Founding Shareholder to give notice of termination of his employment with Ark MA for any reason.

9. No Illegality Condition

No Applicable Law or Order enacted, entered, promulgated, enforced or issued by any Governmental Entity preventing the completion of the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents is in effect, and no judicial or administrative action, suit, investigation, mediation, arbitration, or other legal proceeding has been commenced by any Governmental Entity for the purpose of restraining or prohibiting the completion of such transactions.

Z Shares Condition

Neither of the following having occurred:

- (a) a disposal of any Z Share by any Founding Shareholder to any person; and
- (b) the service of a notice to complete a transfer of one or more Z Shares under any Trustee Sale Agreement.

Completion Accounts

Part A: Preparation and determination of Completion Accounts

Preparation and Review of Completion Accounts

- The Founding Shareholders shall procure the preparation by the Company of a
 consolidated balance sheet of the Company as at 31 December 2020 substantially in the
 form set out in <u>Part D</u> of this Schedule including a completion statement specifying the
 Actual Tangible Book Value (together, the "Draft Completion Accounts").
- 2. The Draft Completion Accounts and the Completion Accounts shall be prepared in accordance with <u>Parts B</u> and <u>C</u> of this Schedule.
- Each of the Founding Shareholders and the Investor may (but neither is obliged to)
 instruct the Company's Accountants or the Investor's Accountants (as applicable) to
 assist with the preparation or review of the Draft Completion Accounts.
- 4. The Draft Completion Accounts shall be delivered to the Investor by the Founding Shareholders during (and not before) the period of five Business Days immediately following the date on which the Company's board of directors approves the 2020 Audited Accounts.
- Save in accordance with the provisions of <u>paragraph 10</u> of <u>Part A</u> of this Schedule, no amendment shall be made to the Draft Completion Accounts after their delivery to the Investor in accordance with <u>paragraph 4</u>.
- 6. The Founding Shareholders and the Company shall give such assistance and access to information, personnel (who shall be instructed to co-operate and give prompt information and explanations), premises, Books and Records, calculations and working papers as the Investor or the Investor's Accountants and advisers may reasonably request in connection with their review of the Draft Completion Accounts and the finalisation of the Completion Accounts in accordance with this Schedule.
- 7. The Investor may dispute the Draft Completion Accounts by notice in writing delivered to the Founding Shareholders within 40 Business Days of receiving the Draft Completion Accounts specifying in reasonable detail the matters which are in dispute (the "Dispute Notice").
- Only those matters specified in the Dispute Notice shall be treated as being in dispute (the "Disputed Items") and no amendment may be made by any party, or any Expert appointed pursuant to <u>paragraph 10(b)</u>, to any matters which are not Disputed Items.

Finalisation of Completion Accounts

 If the Investor does not serve the Dispute Notice under <u>paragraph 7</u>, the Draft Completion Accounts shall constitute the Completion Accounts.

- 10. If the Investor does serve the Dispute Notice under <u>paragraph 7</u>, then the Investor and the Founding Shareholders shall use their reasonable endeavours to resolve the matters in dispute and either:
 - (a) if the Investor and the Founding Shareholders reach agreement on the matters in dispute within 20 Business Days of the Dispute Notice being served (or such longer period as the Investor and the Founding Shareholders may agree in writing), the Draft Completion Accounts shall be amended to reflect such agreement and shall then constitute the Completion Accounts; or
 - if the Investor and the Founding Shareholders do not reach agreement in (b) accordance with sub-paragraph (a) above, the Investor or the Founding Shareholders may refer the matters in respect of which disagreement remains: (i) to such individual at the London office of an independent firm of chartered accountants of international repute as the Investor and the Founding Shareholders may agree; or (ii) failing such agreement within 10 Business Days after the expiry of the period described in sub-paragraph (a) above, to such independent firm of chartered accountants of international repute in London as the President of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales may, on the application of either the Investor or the Founding Shareholders, nominate (the "Expert"), on the basis that the Expert is to make a decision on the dispute and notify the Investor and the Founding Shareholders of its decision within 20 Business Days of the later of (x) the last request for information by the Expert under paragraph 12(g); and (y) the deadline for providing written comments on the other party's written submission to the Expert under paragraph 12(f), or such longer reasonable period as the Expert may determine.
- 11. The Company shall bear its own costs and the costs of the Investor with respect to the preparation and finalisation of the Completion Accounts.
- 12. In any reference to the Expert in accordance with paragraph 10:
 - the Expert shall act as an expert and not as an arbitrator and shall be directed to determine any dispute by reference to <u>Parts B</u> and <u>C</u> of this Schedule;
 - (b) if and to the extent that the dispute relates to any matter of legal interpretation (including contractual interpretation), the Expert shall obtain legal advice on such matter before making a decision on the dispute;
 - (c) the decision of the Expert shall, in the absence of fraud or manifest error, be final and binding on the parties and the Completion Accounts shall be the Draft Completion Accounts amended as necessary to reflect the decision of the Expert and, as amended, signed by the Expert;
 - (d) the costs of the Expert shall be paid by the Company;
 - (e) the Founding Shareholders (acting together) and the Investor shall each be entitled to make a written submission to the Expert, such submission to be made within 10 Business Days of the date on which the Expert receives the reference (and a copy of such submission shall be provided to the other party once the

- Expert has received submissions from both the Investor and the Founding Shareholders, or once the deadline for making such submissions under this <u>subparagraph (e)</u> has passed);
- (f) the Founding Shareholders (acting together) and the Investor shall each be entitled to provide written comments on the other party's written submission to the Expert, such comments to be provided within 10 Business Days of the date on which the written submission of the other party is received (and a copy of such comments shall be provided to the other party once the Expert has received comments from both the Investor and the Founding Shareholders, or once the deadline for making such comments under this <u>sub-paragraph (f)</u> has passed); and
- (g) each party shall co-operate with the Expert and respectively provide or procure the provision to the Expert of all such information as the Expert shall reasonably require including by their respective advisers.
- 13. Following determination of the Completion Accounts, the amount of the Actual Tangible Book Value shall be determined by reference to the Completion Accounts.

Part B: Accounting policies, principles, practices, bases and methodologies

- The Completion Accounts shall be prepared initially by reference to the final audited
 consolidated financial statements of the Group as of and for the year ended December
 31, 2020, which accounts shall be revised in good faith to the extent necessary to make
 them consistent with, and as if originally prepared in accordance with:
 - (a) the specific accounting principles, policies, practices, methodologies and estimation techniques set out in Part C of this Schedule;
 - (b) subject to paragraph 1(a), the accounting principles, policies, practices, methodologies and estimation techniques actually applied in practice in the preparation of the 2019 Audited Accounts; and
 - (c) subject to paragraphs 1(a) and (b), UK GAAP in force and applicable as at 31 December 2019.

For the avoidance of doubt, paragraph 1(a) shall take precedence over paragraphs 1(b) and 1(c), and paragraph 1(b) shall take precedence over paragraph 1(c).

Part C: Specific accounting policies, practices and policies

- The Net Claims Reserve shall be no less than the aggregate best estimate of such Net Claims Reserve determined by EY LLP as third party actuaries to the Group (or, if EY LLP is unwilling or unable to act, such other third party actuary) in the statement of actuarial opinion for the period ended 31 December 2020.
- 2. The carrying value of investments shall be their fair market value at 11:59pm on 31 December 2020 (the "Effective Time") (such value as provided, where applicable, by the Syndicate's asset managers as at the Effective Time). No items classified within intangible assets in the 2019 Audited Accounts, the GAIL Fair Value Asset or that are otherwise in the nature of intangible assets shall be reclassified to, or included in, the Actual Tangible Book Value.
- 3. Full provision or full impairment shall be made against any asset (including, but not limited to, any investments, receivables and reinsurance assets) where the relevant counterparty is in liquidation, administration or bankruptcy on or prior to the time the Founding Shareholders deliver the Draft Completion Accounts to the Investor (the "Delivery Time"), to the extent they remain unpaid at the Delivery Time.
- 4. Assets relating to any reinsurer's share of gross claims reserves and reinsurer's share of claims paid shall be provided for on a basis consistent with <u>paragraph 1(b)</u> of <u>Part B</u> of this Schedule, provided always that the aggregate provision against reinsurance assets shall not be less than the aggregate of (a) 1% of the gross value of such reinsurance assets (excluding for these purposes reinsurance, assets receivable from existing providers of third party capital to the corporate members) and (b) reinsurance assets (other than reinsurance arrangements which are related solely to the provision of FAL) that are not rated at least A- in excess of the collateral held by the Group in respect of the same.
- The Actual Tangible Book Value shall include a liability in respect of bonuses and incentives (including Tax thereon) for the full amount that is to be paid to employees for the performance year 2020.
- 6. Any transaction-related costs or fees (including Tax thereon) (other than those such costs or fees in respect of <u>this</u> transaction or the transaction code-named Project Commando) shall be included as a liability in the Actual Tangible Book Value to the extent payable by the Group Companies after the Effective Time.
- No accruals for transaction-related costs or fees (including Tax thereon) in respect of this transaction or the transaction code-named Project Commando shall be reflected as liabilities in the Actual Tangible Book Value.
- 8. Any funds drawn under the Interim FAL Provision Agreement on or prior to the Effective Time shall be included as a liability in the Actual Tangible Book Value.
- 9. No amount shall be included as an asset in the Actual Tangible Book Value in respect of any amount owed to the Group Companies by the Existing Shareholders or their Related Persons, except to the extent such amounts have been received in cash by a Group Company prior to the Delivery Time.

- No asset shall be included in the Actual Tangible Book Value in respect of any sale of Group Companies (including AUI) after the Effective Time.
- A liability shall be included in the Actual Tangible Book Value equal to the aggregate of any transfers of value from the Group Companies to, or for the benefit of, any Existing Shareholders or their Related Persons (other than the Group Companies) between the Effective Time and Completion, including any dividends, return of capital, appropriations of profits, payments made or liabilities incurred or assumed or any assets, rights or benefits transferred or obligations waived, discounted or deferred, in each case other than non-discretionary payments that are unrelated to this transaction and are made pursuant to their terms of employment at the date of this Agreement.

Part D: Consolidated Balance Sheet

\$m	Actual Tangible Book Value	Excluded
Investments	X	
Investments in subsidiaries, goodwill and other intangibles		X
GAIL Fair Value Asset		X
Technical provisions - RI claims	X	
Technical provisions - UEP	X	
Insurance debtors	X	
Cash and deposits	X	
Deferred acquisition costs	X	
Other assets	X	
Total assets	X	X
Technical provisions - claims	(X)	
Technical provisions - UEP	(X)	
Subordinated debt	(X)	
Bank debt	(X)	
Insurance creditors	(X)	
Otherliabilities	(X)	
Total Liabilities	(X)	(X)
Net assets	(X)/(X)	(X)/(X)

For the avoidance of doubt, the accounting policies and principles set out in $\underline{Parts\ B}$ and \underline{C} of this Schedule and the definitions in $\underline{Clause\ 1}$ of this Agreement shall take precedence over the format of the completion statement in this $\underline{Part\ D}$ of this Schedule.

Selling Shareholders and Share Cap Table

Schedule 7, Exhibit A: Sale Shares & Sale Shares Consideration

		Notice Details		552/1524/25/05		nverson recent	278000 THE STATE		us. # 6: Sale Sh	are Casides	tion.\$	September 1		VI VIVIENCE	
Selling Shareholders	aktress	attention of	mal	HL2015.#	HI 2015,8	Preference 2.#	Preference 2.8	H2018,#	H2018.8	H2019,#	112019.8	H2020.#	H2020.8	total #	tiral, \$
Sun Benton	[Reducted]	Sen (Seniory	[Nedsched]	386,381	\$7,513,139.64	121,768	\$5,000,471.00	100	132	(5)	53	175	38	508,129	\$12,523,610.64
Nicholas Bourae	[Reducted]	Nebolis Bounar	[Reducted]	3630	\$7,513,139.64	121,768	\$5,000,473.00	80	- 4		*	(()	*	306139	\$1272761060
(Nedwirel)	[Heiscust]	(Detacted)	[Federated]					[Nederled]						(Firefactori)	[Netherland
total								[Redacted]						1,240,378	\$45,047,221.28

Schedule 7, Exhibit B: Capitalization Table at Completion
Before (i) Tangible Book Value adjustment, (ii) C Ordinary Shares issuance and (iii) C1 Ordinary Shares issuance

	value	vested shares, #				unvested shares, #			Selling Shareholders shares		vested	unvested	total :	hares	
shareholders	per share, \$	A Ordinary	A1 Ordinary	A2 Ordinary	A3 Ordinary	Z	B1 Ordinary	B3 Ordinary	Z1	A+Ordinary, # /	A+Ordinary, %	shares, #	shares, #	#	. %
Bridge Holdings (Bermuda) Ltd	\$100	6,462,782			3			55		1	15	6,462,782		6,462,782	61.72%
Jan Beaton	\$100		129,803	18,309		908,622	78,777	100	551,438	1.056.734	42.13%	1,056734	630,215	1,696,949	16.11%
Nicholas Bonnar	\$100	- 20	129,803	18,309	0 20	908,622	78,777		551,438	1,056,734	42.13%	1,096,734	630,215	1,686,949	16.11%
[Redacted]	\$100		[Perincted]												
total	\$100	6,462,782	259,606	36,618	.394,730	1,817,244	157,554	239,559	1,102,876	2,508,198	100.00%	8,970,980	1,499,989	10,470,969	100.00%
fractional rounding shares	\$100	(0)	0	1	19	0	(0)	12	(1)	20	0.00%	20	11	31	0.00%
otal, inc. fractional rounding shares	\$100	6,462,782	259,606	36,619	394,749	1,817,244	157,554	239,571	1,102,875	2,506,218	100.00%	8,971,000	1,500,000	10,471,000	100.00%

Form of Deed of Substitution

THIS DEED is made on [•]

by [•], a company incorporated in [•] under registered number [•] whose [registered/principal] office is at [•] (the "New Investor").

WHEREAS:

This Deed is entered into in compliance with the terms of clause [13] of a subscription and purchase agreement dated [•] made between (i) Ark Insurance Holdings Limited (the "Company"), (ii) Bridge Holdings (Bermuda) Ltd (the "Investor"), (ii) White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd, and (iii) certain shareholders of the Company, as such agreement may be amended from time to time (the "Agreement").

THIS DEED WITNESSES as follows:

- The New Investor undertakes to adhere to and be bound by the provisions of the Agreement, and to perform the obligations imposed on the Investor by the Agreement, in all respects as if the New Investor were a party to the Agreement from and including [date of Agreement] and named therein as the Investor.
- This Deed is made for the benefit of the New Investor and the original parties to the Agreement.
- 3. The New Investor warrants to the Company that each of the Investor Warranties is true and accurate as at the date of this Agreement.
- 4. The notice details of the New Investor for the purposes of clause [14.26] of the Agreement are as follows:

Party	<u>Address</u>	For the attention of	E-mail address		
[•]	[•]	[•]	[•]		

- 5. This Deed and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it (including any non-contractual obligation arising out of the negotiation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement) are governed by and shall be construed in accordance with English law.
- 6. The courts of England shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and decide any suit, action or proceedings (including any non-contractual dispute or claim), and/or to settle any disputes, which may arise out of or in connection with this Deed (respectively, "Proceedings" and "Disputes") and, for these purposes, each party irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the courts of England. Each party irrevocably waives any objection

which it might at any time have to the courts of England being nominated as the forum to hear and decide any Proceedings and to settle any Disputes and agrees not to claim that the courts of England are not a convenient or appropriate forum for any such Proceedings or Disputes and further in evocably agrees that a judgment in any Proceedings or Disputes brought in the courts of England shall be conclusive and binding upon the parties and may be enforced in the courts of any other jurisdiction.

IN WITNESS of which this Deed has been executed and delivered by the New Investor on the date which first appears above.

[Signature block]

IN WITNESS whereof the parties hereto have entered into this Agreement on the day and year first before written.

SIGNED for and on behalf of ARK INSURANCE HOLDINGS LIMITED

Signature: /s/ Ian Beaton

Name: Ian Beaton

Position: CEO

[Signature page to Subscription and Purchase Agreement]

Signed by /s/ Kevin M. Pearson for and on behalf of Bridge Holdings (Bermuda) Ltd Kevin Pearson Authorised signatory

Signed by /s/ Robert Seelig for and on behalf of White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd Robert Seelig Authorised signatory

SIGNED
By
Signature: /s/ Ian Beaton
IAN BEATON
CEO

SIGNED
By
Signature: /s/ Nicholas Bonnar
NICHOLAS BONNAR

[Additional Signature Pages Omitted]

Execution Version

ufidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been hibit because it is both (i) not material and (ii) would be competitively harmful if
MANAGEMENT WARRANTY DEED

WILLKIE FARR & GALLAGHER (UK) LLP

City Point, 1 Ropemaker Street London, EC2Y 9AW

Contents

Clau	se		Page
1.	Defini	tions and interpretation	1
2.	Wana	nties	. Dav1
3.	Ability	y to enter into and perform this Deed	3
4.	Substi	tution of Investor	3
5.	Specif	ic Indemnities.	4
6.	Tax C	ovenant	4
7.	Assign	nment	4
8.	Withh	olding and grossing up	5
9.	Confid	dentiality	5
10.	Entire	agreement	6
11.	Third	party rights	6
12.	Notice	95	6
13.	Severa	ance	7
14.	Gover	ning law	7
15.	Exclus	sive jurisdiction	7
16.	Gener	al	7
Sched	ule 1	Warrantors	9
Sched	ule2	Warranties	10
Sched	ule3	Tax Covenant	35
Sched	ule 4	Limitations to Liability	40
Sched	ule 5	Details of the Company	42
Sched	ule6	Details of the Company Subsidiaries	44
Sched	ule 7	Properties	52
Sched	ule8	Intellectual Property	53
Sched	ule9	Form of Deed of Substitution	54
Sched	ule 10	Interpretation	56
School	ule 11	Specific Indomnities	64

THIS DEED is entered into and delivered as a DEED on 1 October 2020, and is made BETWEEN:

- (1) THE PERSONS whose names are set out in column (1) of Schedule 1 (together, the "Warrantors" and each, a "Warrantor"); and
- (2) BRIDGE HOLDINGS (BERMUDA) LTD, a company incorporated in Bermuda under company number 38709 whose registered office is at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda (the "Investor"),

each a "party" and together, the "parties".

INTRODUCTION

- (A) The parties have entered into this Deed in connection with (i) the subscription by the Investor for shares in the capital of the Company; (ii) the purchase by the Investor of shares in the capital of the Company; and (iii) the other arrangements and transactions (including certain management incentive arrangements) contemplated by the Transaction Documents ((i), (ii) and (iii) being, collectively, the "Transactions").
- (B) In connection with the Transactions, the Warrantors have agreed to give certain warranties regarding the Group Companies to the Investor on and subject to the terms of this Deed.

AGREEMENT

1. Definitions and interpretation

Words and phrases used in this Deed shall have the meanings ascribed to them in Schedule 10 (Interpretation) and the provisions of Schedule 10 (Interpretation) shall apply as if set out in full herein.

- 2. Warranties
- 2.1. Subject to Clause 2.2:
 - each Warrantor severally (not jointly or jointly and severally) warrants to the Investor that each of the Warranties is true, accurate and not misleading as at the date of this Deed (the "Signing Warranties"); and
 - (b) immediately prior to Completion each Warrantor shall be deemed to warrant severally (not jointly or jointly and severally) to the Investor that each of the Warranties is true and accurate by reference to the facts, matters and circumstances existing at that time, on the basis that any express or implied reference in the Warranties to the date of this Deed shall be substituted by a reference to the Completion Date (the "Completion Warranties").
- 2.2. Any Warranty qualified by the expression "so far as the Warrantors are aware" shall, unless stated otherwise, be deemed only to refer to each Warrantor's awareness of those facts, matters and circumstances that are within his actual knowledge at the relevant time, such statement being deemed to have been made after due and careful enquiries by the relevant Warrantor (including due and careful enquiries of each of the other Senior Employees). No Warrantor shall be deemed to have any other knowledge (whether constructive, imputed or otherwise).
- 2.3. The Signing Warranties are qualified by the facts, matters and circumstances Disclosed in this Deed, in the Disclosure Letter or, as described in the Disclosure Letter, delivered or deemed to be delivered with the Disclosure Letter.

- 2.4. The Warrantors shall on the Business Day immediately before Completion deliver to the Investor an updated version of the Disclosure Letter (the "Updated Disclosure Letter"). The Updated Disclosure Letter shall only include specific disclosures (and not, for the avoidance of doubt, any general disclosures, other than the general disclosures which qualify the Signing Warranties as at the date of the Disclosure Letter) in respect of matters, facts or circumstances which arise between the date of this Deed and the Completion Date. The Warrantors shall provide the Purchaser with a substantially complete draft of the Updated Disclosure Letter no later than the fifth Business Day before the Completion Date (or such other day at the Warrantors and the Investor may agree in writing).
- 2.5. The Completion Warranties are qualified by the facts, matters and circumstances Disclosed in this Deed, in the Disclosure Letter or in the Updated Disclosure Letter.
- 2.6. The liability of each Warrantor in respect of any Claim shall be limited if and to the extent that the limitations provided in Schedule 4 (Limitations to Liability) apply, provided that nothing in this Clause 2 or Schedule 4 (Limitations to Liability) or any other provision of this Deed shall have the effect of limiting or reducing any liability of a Warrantor arising as a result of fraud, fraudulent misrepresentation, dishonesty or wilful concealment by such Warrantor. Notwithstanding the foregoing:
 - (a) no Warrantor shall be liable to the Investor in respect of the fraud, fraudulent misrepresentation, dishonesty or wilful concealment of another Warrantor; and
 - (b) the Investor shall not make a claim against a Warrantor in respect of the fraud, fraudulent misrepresentation, dishonesty or wilful concealment of another Warrantor.
- 2.7. Any liability for a Claim paid or otherwise settled by a Warrantor shall be treated as a reduction in the consideration received by that Warrantor in respect of the sale of his Sale Shares pursuant to the terms of the Subscription and Purchase Agreement.
- 2.8. Each of the paragraphs in Schedule 2 (Warranties) shall be construed as a separate and independent Warranty and shall not be limited or restricted by reference to or inference from the terms of any other Warranty.
- 2.9. Without prejudice to the Warranty at paragraph 3.3 of Schedule 2 (Warranties), none of the Warranties shall be construed as a representation or warranty as to any judgement based on actuarial principles, practices or analyses by whomsoever made or as to the future fulfilment of any actuarial assumption. In particular, and without prejudice to the Warranty at paragraph 3.3 of Schedule 2 (Warranties) or the generality of the foregoing:
 - (a) the Investor is responsible for assessing the adequacy and reasonableness of the liabilities, provisions for claims (whether in respect of reported claims or in respect of liabilities or claims which have been incurred but not reported), premiums, policy benefits, expenses and any other reserves of the Group Companies, as far as applicable, in respect of the insurance business of the Group Companies (the "Reserves");
 - (b) no representation or warranty is made by or on behalf of the Warrantors as to the adequacy or reasonableness of the amount of the Reserves; and
 - (c) notwithstanding anything otherwise contained in the Transaction Documents, no provision of any such document shall be construed as

constituting, directly or indirectly, such a representation or warranty and none of the Warrantors shall be under any liability to the Investor or any member of the Investor's Group or any other person to the extent that (for whatever reason) that member of the Investor's Group or other person suffers any loss or liability as a consequence of its assessment of the adequacy of the amount of the Reserves being in any way inaccurate.

- 2.10. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set out in this Deed but without prejudice to Clause 2.3 and Clause 2.5, the Investor acknowledges and agrees, that none of the Warrantors makes any representation or warranty as to any forecasts, assumptions, projections, estimates, statements of intent or statements of opinion delivered to or made available to the Investor or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents or advisers of future revenues, future results of operations (or any component thereof), future cash flows or future financial condition (or any component thereof) of the Group Companies on or prior to the date of this Deed, including in the documents provided in the Data Room.
- 3. Ability to enter into and perform this Deed

Without prejudice to Clause 2.1, each Warrantor severally (not jointly or jointly and severally) warrants to the Investor as at the date of this Deed that:

- he has full capacity, power and authority to execute and deliver this Deed and to carry out the provisions of this Deed;
- (b) this Deed has been duly and validly executed and delivered by the Warrantor and constitutes, assuming due execution and delivery by the other parties hereto, valid and legally binding obligations of the Warrantor, enforceable against the Warrantor in accordance with its terms;
- (c) no consent, approval, authorisation or order of any court or government or local agency or body or any other person is required in connection with the execution or implementation of this Deed by the Warrantor;
- (d) the execution, delivery and performance by the Warrantor of this Deed will not, with or without the giving of notice or the passage of time, or both, (i) violate any provision of law to which the Warrantor is subject, (ii) violate any order, judgment or decree applicable to the Warrantor, or (iii) conflict with, or result in a breach or default under any agreement or instrument to which the Warrantor is a party or by which the Warrantor or any property of such Warrantor is otherwise bound or subject; and
- (e) he: (i) has not had a bankruptcy petition presented against him or been declared bankrupt; (ii) has not been served with a statutory demand, and is able to pay any debts within the meaning of the Insolvency Act 1986; (iii) has not entered into, and has not proposed to enter into, any composition or arrangement with, or for, his creditors (including an individual voluntary arrangement); or (iv) has not been subject to any other event analogous to the foregoing in any jurisdiction.
- Substitution of Investor
- 4.1. The Investor may transfer all of its rights, benefits, obligations and liabilities as a party to this Deed to any other entity incorporated in Bermuda (or in such other jurisdiction as the Founding Shareholders may agree, such agreement not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) as a direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of

White Mountains (the "New Investor"), provided that the New Investor shall first have entered into a deed of substitution in the form set out in Schedule 9 ("Deed of Substitution"). Investor shall procure that the executed Deed of Substitution is delivered to the Warrantors.

- 4.2. Each party acknowledges and agrees that with effect from the time at which the Deed of Substitution is delivered to the Company:
 - (a) the New Investor shall become a party to this Deed and the benefit of this Deed shall be extended to the New Investor;
 - (b) the New Investor shall have the Investor's rights and perform all of the Investor's obligations as set out in this Deed, and the Investor shall cease to have such rights and shall be released from such obligations;
 - (c) the Investor shall be released from any and all liabilities in respect of the obligations of the "Investor" and such liabilities shall become the liabilities of the New Investor, whether such liabilities arose before or after the execution of the Deed of Substitution; and
 - (d) all references to the notice details of the "Investor" in this Deed and any Transaction Document shall be deemed replaced with the notice details of the New Investor as set out in the Deed of Substitution.
- 4.3. The execution of the Deed of Substitution by the New Investor shall be without prejudice to the continuation interse of the rights and obligations of the other parties.
- Specific Indemnities
 - The provisions of Schedule 11 (Specific Indemnities) of this Deed shall apply from Completion.
- 6. Tax Covenant
 - The provisions of Schedule 3 (Tax Covenant) of this Deed shall apply from Completion.
- Assignment
- 7.1. Subject to Clause 7.3, no party may assign, transfer, subcontract or delegate any of its obligations pursuant to this Deed, grant any security interest over, hold on trust or otherwise transfer the benefit of the whole or any part of this Deed.
- 7.2. Any purported assignment, transfer, subcontracting, delegation, charging or dealing in contravention of Clause 7.1 shall be ineffective.
- 7.3. Notwithstanding Clause 7.1, the Investor may at any time, without the need to obtain the consent of any other party, assign all or any part of the benefit of, or its rights or benefits under, this Deed to:
 - any person by way of security for borrowings of a member of the Investor's Group; and/or
 - (b) any other member of the Investor's Group (or by any such member to or in favour of any other member of the Investor's Group),

provided that: (i) such assignment shall not relieve the Investor from its obligations under this Deed; (ii) if such assignee ceases to be a member of the Investor's Group all benefits relating to this Deed assigned to such assignee shall be deemed automatically by that fact to be re-assigned to the Investor; and (iii) no other party

- shall as a result be under any greater obligation or liability under any provision of this Deed, including Clause 8, than if such assignment had never occurred.
- 7.4. This Deed shall be binding upon and operate for the benefit of the personal representatives and permitted assigns and successors in title of each of the parties and references to the parties shall be construed accordingly.
- 8. Withholding and grossing up
- 8.1. All sums payable under any warranty, covenant or indemnity by one party to another pursuant to this Deed shall be paid without any deductions or withholdings whatsoever, save only as may be required by any Applicable Law but if any deductions or withholdings are required by Applicable Law to be made from any sum paid or payable under any warranty, covenant or indemnity pursuant to this Deed, the applicable payor party shall be obliged to pay to the payee such sum as will, after the deduction or withholding has been made, leave the payee with the same amount as it would have been entitled to receive in the absence of any such requirement to make a deduction or withholding.
- 8.2. If the receipt of any sum paid or payable to any party under any warranty, covenant or indemnity pursuant to this Deed is required by any Applicable Law to be brought into charge to Tax in the hands of the recipient, the sum otherwise so paid or payable shall be grossed up by such amount as will ensure that, after payment of any Taxation charged on or in respect of the receipt of such payment (or which would have been charged but for the use of a Relief), there shall be left a sum equal to that which would otherwise be payable pursuant to this Deed.
- 9. Confidentiality
- 9.1. Each Party:
 - (a) shall treat as strictly confidential the provisions and subject matter of the Transaction Documents, the process of their negotiation and all information about any party thereto obtained or received by it as a result of negotiating, entering into or performing its obligations under the Transaction Documents ("Confidential Information"); and
 - (b) shall not, except with the prior written consent of (in the case of the Investor) the Warrantors or (in the case of the Warrantors) the Investor (which consent shall not in each case be unreasonably withheld or delayed), make use of or disclose to any person any Confidential Information.

These obligations are subject to Clauses 16.1 and 9.2. These obligations shall continue to apply after Completion or the termination of this Deed without limit in time.

- 9.2. The confidentiality provisions in Clause 9.1 shall not apply to:
 - (a) any disclosure required by Applicable Law or by any relevant national or supranational Regulatory Authority or by the rules of any recognised stock exchange, in which circumstances the party concerned shall, if practicable, supply a copy of the required disclosure to the other parties before it is disclosed and provide the other parties with the opportunity to comment regarding the extent of such disclosure;
 - (b) any disclosure to a Tax Authority in connection with the Tax affairs of that disclosing party or its corporate group;

- any disclosure of information where such information has come into the public domain otherwise than through breach of this Clause 9;
- (d) any disclosure of information by the Investor to the W&I Insurer, the W&I Insurer's sub-underwriters or the W&I Broker, in each case to the extent reasonably necessary in connection with the W&I Insurance Policy, and provided that the W&I Insurer, the sub-underwriters or the W&I Broker (as the case may be) has a duty to keep such information confidential;
- (e) any disclosure reasonably required to be made in order to enforce any provision of this Deed or any other Transaction Document to which the Warrantors and Investor are party; and
- (f) any disclosure of information to any member of the Investor's Group and its professional advisers or to the Warrantors' professional advisers, where such advisers are required to know the same to carry out their duties or functions.

10. Entire agreement

- 10.1. This Deed and the other Transaction Documents constitute the entire agreement between the parties relating to the subject matter of this Deed and this Deed and the other Transaction Documents supersede and extinguish any prior drafts, agreements, terms sheets, summaries of terms, memorandums of understanding, undertakings, representations, warranties and arrangements of any nature whatsoever, whether or not in writing, between the parties in relation to the subject matter of this Deed.
- 10.2. The Investor acknowledges and agrees that it has not entered into this Deed in reliance on any statement or representation of any person (whether a party to this Deed or not) other than as expressly incorporated in this Deed or the other Transaction Documents.
- 10.3. Nothing contained in this Deed or in any other Transaction Document shall be read or construed as excluding any liability or remedy as a result of fraud, fraudulent misrepresentation, dishonesty or wilful concealment.
- 11. Third party rights
- 11.1. Schedule 11 (Specific Indemnities) (the "Third Party Rights Clause") confers a benefit on certain persons who are not a party to this Deed (each for the purposes of this clause a "Third Party") and, subject to the remaining provisions of this clause, is intended to be enforceable by such persons by virtue of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.
- 11.2. The parties to this Deed do not intend that any term of this Deed, apart from the Third Party Rights Clause, should be enforceable, by virtue of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999, by any person who is not a party to this Deed.
- 11.3. Notwithstanding the provisions of Clause 11.1, this Deed may be varied or rescinded in any way and at any time by the parties to this Deed without the consent of any Third Party.

Notices

Any communication to be given in connection with this Deed must be delivered in accordance with Clauses 14.25 to 14.27 (inclusive) (Notices) of the Subscription and Purchase Agreement.

Severance

- 13.1. If any provision of this Deed is held to be invalid or unenforceable by any judicial or other competent authority, all other provisions of this Deed will remain in full force and effect and will not in any way be impaired.
- 13.2. If any provision of this Deed is held to be invalid or unenforceable but would be valid or enforceable if some part of the provision were modified or deleted, the provision in question will apply with the minimum modifications necessary to make it valid and enforceable.

14. Governing law

This Deed and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it (including any non-contractual obligation arising out of the negotiation of the transactions contemplated by this Deed) are governed by and shall be construed in accordance with English law.

15. Exclusive jurisdiction

Each of the parties irrevocably agrees that the courts of England shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and decide any suit, action or proceedings (including any non-contractual dispute or claim), and/or to settle any disputes, which may arise out of or in connection with this Deed (respectively, "Proceedings" and "Disputes") and, for these purposes, each party irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the courts of England. Each party irrevocably waives any objection which it might at any time have to the courts of England being nominated as the forum to hear and decide any Proceedings and to settle any Disputes and agrees not to claim that the courts of England are not a convenient or appropriate forum for any such Proceedings or Disputes and further irrevocably agrees that a judgment in any Proceedings or Disputes brought in the courts of England shall be conclusive and binding upon the parties and may be enforced in the courts of any other jurisdiction.

16. General

- 16.1. Any announcements to be made in connection with this Deed must be made only in accordance with Clause 14.1 to 14.4 (inclusive) (Announcements) of the Subscription and Purchase Agreement.
- 16.2. Each party's rights, powers, privileges and remedies contained in this Deed are cumulative and are not exclusive of any other rights, powers, privileges or remedies provided by law.
- 16.3. The express or implied waiver by any party to this Deed of any of its rights or remedies arising under this Deed or by law shall not constitute a continuing waiver of the right or remedy waived or a waiver of any other right or remedy.
- 16.4. The parties shall do all such further acts and execute all such further documents as shall in the reasonable opinion of the Investor be necessary to give full effect to the provisions of this Deed.
- 16.5. No amendment, change or addition to this Deed shall be effective or binding on any party unless produced in writing and executed by each party.
- 16.6. Nothing in this Deed is intended to or shall be construed as establishing or implying any partnership of any kind between the parties.

16.7.	This Deed may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original, and all the counterparts shall together constitute one and the same agreement.
	8

Schedule 1 Warrantors

(1) Warrantor	(2) Address and e-mail	(3) Warrantor's maximum liability
Ian Beaton	Address: [Personal Information Redacted] Email: [Personal Information Redacted]	\$1.00
Nicholas Bonnar	Address: [Personal Information Redacted] Email: [Personal Information Redacted]	\$1.00
Neil Smith	Address: [Personal Information Redacted] Email: [Personal Information Redacted]	\$1.00

Schedule 2 Warranties

1 Shares

- 1.1 The Shares comprise all of the issued and allotted share capital of the Company. The Shares and all shares held by any Group Company in the capital of any other Group Company have been validly issued and allotted and are fully paid up.
- 1.2 There is no agreement or commitment outstanding which calls for the allotment, issue or transfer of, or accords to any person the right to call for the allotment, issue or transfer of, any shares in the capital of (including the Shares), or debentures in, or securities of, any Group Company.
- 1.3 None of the Shares nor any shares held by any Group Company in the capital of any other Group Company are subject to any rights of pre-emption or restrictions on transfer (other than those contained in the Company's Constitution or as expressly contemplated by the Transaction Documents), and there are no circumstances existing which may give rise to a restriction being placed on any of such Shares or shares.
- 1.4 There is no option, right to acquire, mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other form of security or Encumbrance or equity on, over or affecting the Shares or any shares held by any Group Company in the capital of any other Group Company and there is no agreement or commitment to give or create any and no claim has been made by any person to be entitled to any.

2 The Group Companies and corporate matters

- 2.1 The execution and delivery of, and the performance by, each Group Company of its obligations under each document executed, or to be executed, by a Group Company in connection with the Transactions will not:
 - result in a breach of any provision of the memorandum or articles of association (or its equivalent constitutional documents (if any)) of any Group Company;
 - (b) result in a breach of, or constitute a default under, any agreement or instrument by which any Group Company is a party or by which any Group Company is bound:
 - result in a breach of any Applicable Law, order, judgment or decree of any court or governmental agency by which any Group Company is bound; or
 - (d) require the consent of any third party or, other than as expressly contemplated by the Transaction Documents, any of the Company's shareholders.
- 2.2 The information in Schedule 5 (Details of the Company) and Schedule 6 (Details of Company Subsidiaries) is accurate and complete as at the date hereof.
- 2.3 Each Group Company is validly incorporated, in existence and duly registered under the Applicable Law of the jurisdiction in which it was incorporated.
- 2.4 Folder 1 of the Data Room contains copies of the memorandum and articles of association (or its equivalent constitutional documents) of each Group Company, and such copies are complete and accurate and up to date and have attached to them copies of all resolutions and other documents required by Applicable Law to be so attached.

- 2.5 The statutory books (including all registers and minute books) of each Group Company are in its possession, are up to date and contain a materially complete record (provided that where details are omitted they do not make the record inaccurate or misleading) of the matters which should, by Applicable Law, be dealt with in those books and no notice or allegation that any of them is incorrect or should be rectified has been received by any Group Company.
- 2.6 All material returns, registers, particulars, resolutions, reports and other documents required to be delivered by the Group Companies to the registrar of companies in the UK or the equivalent governmental or other authority or agency in Bermuda or the U.S. have been so delivered.
- 2.7 Each Company Subsidiary is wholly owned by a Group Company and no Group Company holds or has ever held any interest, share or security in any other body corporate or unincorporated body, undertaking or association.
- 2.8 No Group Company has given any power of attorney or other express written delegation of authority, which is still outstanding or effective, to any person to enter into any contract or commitment on its behalf other than to the current employees of the Group Companies to undertake the business of the Group Companies in the normal course of their duties.
- 2.9 Document 1.10.8 of the Data Room is a complete and accurate copy of the shareholders' agreement in respect of the Company which is in force (the "SHA") and there are no other shareholders' or stockholders' agreements (or similar arrangements or any amendments to any such agreements or arrangements) in respect of any Group Company. The parties to the SHA as at the date of this Deed are the Company and the Founding Shareholders and no person other than the Company and the Founding Shareholders is a party to the SHA.
- 2.10 In respect of each Group Company, folder 3.3 of the Data Room contains copies of the minutes of each meeting of the directors held between 1 January 2018 and the date of this Deed, and such copies are complete and accurate.

3 Accounts

3.1 The Accounts:

- (a) were prepared in accordance with Applicable Law and Accounting Standards in force and applicable for the relevant accounting periods;
- (b) subject to paragraph (a) and save as the Accounts disclose, were prepared in accordance with the same accounting policies and estimation techniques, consistently applied, as the audited financial statements for the previous three financial periods (except for such changes as have been required due to changes in Applicable Law or the Accounting Standards);
- (c) give a true and fair view (in accordance with Applicable Law and Accounting Standards) of the consolidated state of affairs of the Company as at the relevant accounting reference date and of the consolidated profits or losses of the Company for the accounting periods to which the relevant Accounts relate; and
- except as the Accounts expressly disclose, are not affected by any material extraordinary, exceptional or non-recurring item.
- 3.2 At the date to which the Accounts are respectively made up, no Group Company had any liability (whether actual, contingent, unquantified or disputed) or

- outstanding capital commitment which is not adequately disclosed and provided for in the Accounts in accordance with Applicable Law and Accounting Standards.
- 3.3 The Reserves set out in folder 6 of the Data Room were calculated using generally accepted actuarial standards, methods and practices and in a manner that is consistent in all material respects with the same accounting policies and estimation techniques, consistently applied, used to produce the audited financial statements for the three financial periods covered by the Accounts (except for such changes as have been required due to changes in Applicable Law or generally accepted actuarial standards, methods and practices).

4 Events since the Accounts Date

4.1 Since the Accounts Date:

- except in respect of matters relating to the Transactions, the business of each Group Company has been carried on in the ordinary and usual course as in the past, and no Group Company has made or agreed to make any payment of more than \$100,000 other than payments in the ordinary and usual course of business;
- no debts or other receivables owed to any Group Company have been factored or sold or agreed to be sold;
- (c) no Group Company has allotted or issued or agreed to allot or issue any shares or any securities or granted or agreed to grant any right which confers on the holder any right to acquire any shares or other securities;
- (d) no Group Company has declared, paid or made any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, stock or in kind) other than to another Group Company, and no Group Company has reduced or otherwise amended its share capital;
- (e) no resolution in a general meeting or written resolution of shareholders of any Group Company has been passed other than resolutions relating to the routine business of annual general meetings or for the payment of regular and special dividends;
- there has been no change in the interest of any Group Company in any other Group Company;
- (g) no change in the accounting reference period of any Group Company has been made:
- (h) no Group Company has made any changes to its accounting, reserving or actuarial policies or practices (including methodology, parameters, estimation techniques and assumptions) or its investment guidelines;
- no Group Company has borrowed or raised any money or taken up any financial facilities nor have they repaid any borrowing or indebtedness in advance of its stated maturity;
- no Group Company has repaid, redeemed or purchased any of its share capital or loan capital or agreed to do so;
- (k) each Group Company has paid material creditors in accordance with their respective credit terms;

- other than in the ordinary course of business, no Group Company has created, or agreed to create, any Encumbrance over its business, undertaking or over any of its material assets;
- other than in the ordinary course of business, no change has been made, announced or proposed to the emoluments or other terms of employment of any Employee;
- (n) no Group Company has appointed new auditors; and
- (o) there has been no material adverse change in the financial or trading position of any Group Company and, so far as the Warrantors are aware, no circumstance has arisen which would give rise to any such material adverse change.
- 5 Management Accounts and accounting records
 - 5.1 The Management Accounts have been prepared with reasonable care and on a consistent basis with the management accounts prepared for the equivalent financial periods during the prior year and, having regard to the purpose for which they were prepared, give a reasonably accurate view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the consolidated Group Companies and of their consolidated profits for each accounting period to which they relate, and are not misleading in any material respect. Except as the Management Accounts expressly disclose, the Management Accounts are not affected by any material extraordinary, exceptional or non-recurring item.
 - 5.2 The accounting records of each Group Company have been kept on a proper and consistent basis, are up to date and contain materially complete and accurate details of the business activities of the Group Company concerned and of all matters required to be entered in them by Applicable Law at the time such accounting records were prepared.
- 6 Regulation and compliance with Applicable Law
 - 6.1 Each Group Company has at all times in the three (3) years immediately preceding the date of this Deed complied in all material respects with, and conducted its businesses in all material respects in accordance with, its memorandum and articles of association, bye-laws or other equivalent constitutional documents and in accordance with the Licences and Applicable Law (including without limitation Llovd's Minimum Standards).
 - 6.2 ASML is registered at Lloyd's as the Managing Agent of the Syndicates.
 - 6.3 Each director of ASML at the date of this Deed has been approved by Lloyd's as a fit and proper person to fulfil such a role for the purposes of the Lloyd's Regulation.
 - 6.4 Each person performing a Controlled Function in respect of any Group Company has been approved to perform that role by the relevant Regulatory Authority.
 - 6.5 The Syndicates are the only Lloyd's syndicates which any Group Company manages or, in the three (3) years immediately preceding the date of this Deed, has managed.
 - Ark Corporate Member Limited and Ark Corporate Member No. 2 Limited are, together, the sole Members of Syndicate 4020 in respect of its 2015 year of account. Ark Corporate Member Limited is the sole Member of Syndicate 4020 in respect of its 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020 years of account and is the sole Member of

- Syndicate 3902 in respect of its 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020 year of account, and no third party has any right, entitlement or commitment (whether written or unwritten) to participate in the underwriting capacity of the Syndicates. No Corporate Member has ever been a Member of any syndicate at Lloyd's other than the Syndicates or carried on any business other than as a corporate member at Lloyd's.
- 6.7 No Group Company has conferred any right or entitlement, and has not made any other commitment (whether written or unwritten), to any third party that would enable such third party to participate directly or indirectly in the business underwritten through the Syndicates in respect of any year of account after the 2020 year of account.
- 6.8 In the three (3) years immediately preceding the date of this Deed, ASML has, in its capacity as a Managing Agent at Lloyd's entered into (or otherwise become a party to or bound by) a valid and binding Managing Agent's Agreement governing the underwriting of each of the Syndicates and such Managing Agent's Agreements have been provided in the Data Room. Neither ASML nor any of the other parties to the Managing Agent's Agreements to which ASML is a party have given notice to terminate any of those agreements, is in breach or has alleged any breach.
- 6.9 No amendments or side letters have been entered into in respect of the Managing Agent's Agreements.
- 6.10 No company other than ASML acts as a Managing Agent at Lloyd's of the Syndicates as at the date of this Deed.
- 6.11 In the three (3) years immediately preceding the date of this Deed, no fines, penalties, business restrictions or other sanctions have been imposed by any Regulatory Authority on any Group Company or any individual while acting on behalf of any Group Company.
- 6.12 There is no actual or, so far as the Warrantors are aware, threatened investigation, direction or disciplinary proceedings by, or dispute with, any Regulatory Authority concerning any Group Company or, so far as the Warrantors are aware, any agent, employee or officer of any Group Company outstanding or in progress nor has there been any such actual or, so far as the Warrantors are aware, threatened investigation, direction, disciplinary proceedings or dispute in the three (3) years immediately preceding the date of this Deed.
- 6.13 No written notice or other communication (official or otherwise) has been received by any Group Company from any Regulatory Authority with respect to any alleged, actual or potential violation of, and/or failure to comply with, any Licence or Applicable Law, or requiring any Group Company to take, not take or cease any action.
- 6.14 The Data Room contains copies or details of all material correspondence communicated in the three (3) years ending on the date of this Deed between any Group Company and any Regulatory Authority other than correspondence of a routine nature in the ordinary course of business (which for these purposes shall include generic or industry wide "Dear CEO" letters), and all such copies and/or details are true and accurate in all material respects.
- 6.15 No action, claims, complaints, proceedings or investigations have been brought against any Group Company or, so far as the Warrantors are aware, registered with

- or made to any Regulatory Authority or ombudsman in connection with any misselling or suspected or alleged mis-selling of any insurance or insurance related product or service.
- 6.16 In the three (3) years immediately preceding the date of this Deed, no Group Company has been involved in any dispute concerning: (i) the handling of premiums and the assets and investments of any Syndicate; (ii) the accounting and treatment of expenses charged to any Syndicate; or (iii) the treatment of profit commission, fees and/or income in respect of any Syndicate.

7 Licences and regulatory matters

- 7.1 All authorisations, licences, consents, permissions and approvals required by Applicable Law for or in connection with the carrying on of the business now being carried on by each Group Company (the "Licences"):
 - (a) have been obtained and are and have been at all relevant times in full force and effect:
 - (b) are not limited in duration or subject to conditions, except as stated in those Licences; and
 - (c) are Disclosed in the Data Room.
- 7.2 So far as the Warrantors are aware, there is no reason why, and there are no circumstances which indicate that, any Regulatory Authority might reasonably suspend, vary, limit, modify, revoke, not renew, affect, make subject to additional restrictions or conditions any Licence in whole or in part.
- 7.3 So far as the Warrantors are aware, there are no circumstances to indicate that any Group Company is likely to fail to satisfy any applicable solvency or other regulatory capital requirement of Applicable Law, nor are there any circumstances to indicate that any Corporate Member is likely to be unable to comply with an obligation to come into line at Lloyd's.
- 7.4 Each of the Corporate Members is duly admitted to membership of Lloyd's pursuant to the Membership Byelaw (No. 5 of 2005).
- 7.5 Ark Corporate Member No. 2 Limited and Ark Corporate Member No. 3 Limited are domant and have not, since the date on which the years of account in respect of which they were Members were reinsured to close, carried on any business or trading activities or held any assets, or provided or received any financing or granted any security. Neither Ark Corporate Member No. 2, nor Ark Corporate Member No. 3 Limited, nor Ark Corporate Member No. 4 Limited are Members of any open year of account of any Lloyd's syndicate.
- 7.6 ASML does not carry on and has not at any time in the five (5) years ending on the date of this Deed carried on any business other than that of acting as managing agent at Llovd's.
- 7.7 GAIL does not carry on and has not at any time in the five (5) years ending on the date of this Deed carried on any business other than that of acting as an insurance or reinsurance company in accordance with the provisions of the Bermuda Insurance Act.

- 7.8 Ark Underwriting Inc. does not carry on and has not at any time in the five (5) years ending on the date of this Deed carried on any business other than that of acting as a managing general agent.
- 7.9 The conduct by ASML of the underwriting business of each Syndicate is and has at all times in the five (5) years ending on the date of this Deed been carried out within the powers conferred by and in all material respects in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Managing Agent's Agreements between ASML and each Member and, so far as the Warrantors are aware, there have been no acts or omissions on the part of ASML, its officers, employees or agents which constitute or may constitute a material breach (whether in contract, tort, trust or otherwise) of the duties ASML owes to any Member or members' agent.

8 Contracts and commitments

- 8.1 Folder 13 in the Data Room contains complete and accurate copies of the following contracts:
 - any agency, distributorship, marketing, licensing or management agreement or arrangement which generates, or can reasonably be expected to generate in the current financial year, six per cent (6%) or more of the turnover of the Group Company;
 - any contract or arrangement which, directly or indirectly, restricts a Group Company's freedom to carry on its business in any part of the world in such manner as it may think fit;
 - any contract or arrangement which, directly or indirectly, restricts a Group Company's ability to transfer the whole or any part of its business;
 - any joint venture or consortium agreement or arrangement, partnership rights or obligations or any other agreement or arrangement under which it participates with any other person in any business, or any investment management agreement or arrangement;
 - any material contract or arrangement which relates to matters not within the ordinary course of that Group Company;
 - any contract or arrangement which is not entirely on arms' length terms;
 - any contract or arrangement in which any of the Company's directors or shareholders or any person connected with any such director or shareholder is interested, either directly or indirectly;
 - (h) any contract or arrangement which requires an aggregate expenditure, minimum purchase order or similar obligation by the Group Company (whether directly or indirectly) of more than \$300,000, other than an insurance and reinsurance contract entered into in the ordinary course of business by a Group Company;
 - any contract or arrangement which shall, or is reasonably likely to, result in an
 aggregate payment to the Group Company (whether directly or indirectly) of
 more than \$300,000, other than an insurance and reinsurance contract entered
 into in the ordinary course of business by a Group Company;
 - any contract or arrangement which is of three years' or greater duration or which, being of less than three years' duration, is of a length which significantly exceeds what is normal in the circumstances;

- (k) save for service contracts with Employees, any contract or arrangement which cannot be terminated by that Group Company on six months' notice or less without a material payment of compensation or special fees;
- any contract or arrangement which can be terminated in the event of any change in the underlying ownership or control of any Group Company or as a direct or indirect result of the Transactions or would be materially affected by such change or transaction,

to which any Group Company is a party (together, the "Material Contracts").

- 8.2 No Group Company has breached any Material Contract in any material respect. The Warrantors are not aware of any material breach of, or any invalidity or grounds for determination, rescission, avoidance or repudiation of, any Material Contract or of any allegation of such a thing.
- 8.3 None of the parties to any Material Contract has given written notice of its intention to terminate, or has otherwise sought to repudiate or disclaim, or allege material breach of, the Material Contract.
- 8.4 No offer or tender which is capable of being converted into an agreement binding on any Group Company, whether by acceptance or other act of some other person or in any other way, is outstanding where conversion of such offer or tender would lead to a contract that would be a Material Contract.
- 8.5 No Group Company is a party to any contract, commitment or arrangement to sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of, by one or more transactions or series of transactions (whether related or not), the whole or any material part of any Group Company's revenues or assets, and no Group Company is the process of arranging any such contract, commitment or arrangement.
- 8.6 No Group Company has any outstanding commitment, obligation or liability (whether actual, contingent, unquantified or disputed, and including any liabilities to pay any fees or other amounts to advisers or other third parties) in respect of the proposed transaction code named Project Commando.

9 Bank accounts and borrowings

- 9.1 Materially complete details (provided that where details are omitted they do not make the details provided inaccurate or misleading) of all material overdraft, loan and other financial facilities available providing for indebtedness to any Group Company (including for the avoidance of doubt Guarantees) available to any Group Company, if any, are set out in folders 11.5 and 11.7 of the Data Room, no amounts are outstanding under any of them (other than those amounts outstanding in respect of the Debt Documents, the Letter of Credit Facility or the Facilities Agreement) and, so far as the Warrantors are aware, no Group Company has done anything whereby the continuance of any of these facilities might be affected or prejudiced. Details of all debentures, charges, guarantees and indemnities given to secure those facilities are set out in folder 11.5 of the Data Room.
- 9.2 No Group Company has, or has agreed to create or incur, any indebtedness or Guarantee any indebtedness save for intra-group borrowings Disclosed in the 2019 Accounts.
- 9.3 No Group Company has lent or agreed to lend any money which has not been repaid to it, nor has it provided any Guarantee which has not been discharged, nor

- does it own the benefit of any debt present or future (other than debts due to it in respect of the supply of services in the normal course of trading and other than employee season ticket loans).
- 9.4 Details of all bank accounts maintained by the Group Companies are set out in folder 4.16.63 of the Data Room. These details include in each case the name and address of the bank with whom the account is kept and the number and nature of the account.

10 Insurances

- 10.1 Materially complete details (provided that where details are omitted they do not make the details provided inaccurate or misleading) of the insurance policies which each Group Company has the benefit of (other than outwards reinsurances) as at the date of this Deed (the "Insurance Policies") are set out in folder 18 of the Data Room.
- 10.2 The Insurance Policies are in full force and effect, are not void or voidable and all premiums payable to date have been paid.
- 10.3 There are no material outstanding claims under, or in respect of the validity of, any of the Insurance Policies, and no claim has been made under any Insurance Policy in the last twenty-four (24) months before the date of this Deed. So far as the Warrantors are aware, no event has occurred which might give rise to a claim under any of the Insurance Policies and no insurer under any of the Insurance Policies has disputed, or given any indication that it intends to dispute, the validity of any of the Insurance Policies.

11 Insolvency

- 11.1 No Group Company has stopped paying its debts as they fall due or is insolvent or will, as a result of the transactions contemplated by, or referred to in, the Transaction Documents, become insolvent or unable to pay its debt as they fall due.
- 11.2 No order has been made and no resolution has been passed for the winding up of any Group Company and no petition or notice has been presented or given and no meeting has been convened for such purpose.
- 11.3 No administration order has been made and, so far as the Warrantors are aware, no petition or application has been presented or made for such an order in respect of any Group Company nor has any notice of intention to appoint an administrator nor any notice of the appointment of an administrator of any Group Company been served or filed.
- 11.4 No receiver (which expression shall include an administrative receiver) has been appointed in respect of any Group Company or all or any of its assets.
- 11.5 No composition or similar arrangement with creditors including but not limited, in either case, to a voluntary arrangement under Part 1 of the Insolvency Act 1986 or Part 26 of the Companies Act has been proposed or entered into in respect of any Group Company.
- 11.6 The value of the assets of any Group Company is not less than the amount of its liabilities, taking into account its contingent and prospective liabilities.
- 11.7 No event analogous to any of the foregoing has occurred in relation to any Group Company outside England and Wales.

12 Litigation

- 12.1 No Group Company is party to any Material Litigation, whether as claimant, defendant or otherwise.
- 12.2 No Material Litigation proceedings or process by, or so far as the Warrantors are aware against, any Group Company or any Employee or director of any Group Company, is pending, threatened or expected. So far as the Warrantors are aware, no fact or circumstance exists which is likely to give rise to the commencement of any such Material Litigation.

13 Assets

Each of the material assets included in the Accounts or acquired by a Group Company since the Accounts Date (other than assets sold, realised or applied in the ordinary course of business) is owned both legally and beneficially by the relevant Group Company free from any Encumbrance and such material assets which are capable of possession are in the possession of the Group Companies.

14 Intellectual Property

- 14.1 No Group Company currently uses or otherwise carries on its business under any name other than its corporate name.
- 14.2 Materially complete and accurate details of all registered Intellectual Property (and applications for any such right) and material unregistered Intellectual Property owned by a Group Company are included in folder 8.1.3 of the Data Room, and a Group Company is the sole legal and beneficial owner of such rights (including Insurance Data and Models) free from all charges, options, Encumbrances and other rights. All renewal, application and other official registry fees payable up to the date of this Deed in respect of such registered Intellectual Property and steps required for the maintenance, protection and enforcement of the Intellectual Property owned by a Group Company have been paid or taken.
- 14.3 So far as the Warrantors are aware, the Intellectual Property owned by each Group Company is valid, subsisting and enforceable.
- 14.4 Copies (or, in the case of unwritten licences, agreements or arrangements, complete and accurate details) of all material licences, agreements and arrangements relating to Intellectual Property, except for off-the-shelf software licenced on standard terms that apply to all users thereof, entered into by a Group Company (or under which a Group Company benefits or is bound) are set out in the Disclosure Letter (the "IP Licences"). No Group Company and, so far as the Warrantors and Group Companies are aware, no other party to any IP Licence, is in material breach of an IP Licence and no such contract is subject to any dispute or claim, nor so far as the Warrantors and Group Companies are aware are there any circumstances existing which might give rise to any dispute or claim.

14.5 The IP Licences:

- cannot be terminated as a consequence of the Transactions and would not be materially affected by the Transactions; and
- (b) are valid, and so far as the Warrantors are aware, there are no grounds for their determination, rescission, avoidance or repudiation, whether current or existing in the twelve months prior to the date of the Transactions and: (i) there have

- been no allegations relating to any of the foregoing; and (ii) there are no circumstances likely to provide grounds for any of the foregoing.
- 14.6 So far as the Warrantors are aware, no third party is infringing or making unauthorised use of, or has infringed or made unauthorised use of, any Intellectual Property owned or used by a Group Company.
- 14.7 So far as the Warrantors are aware, the activities of a Group Company do not infringe or make unauthorised use of and have not, in the three (3) years immediately preceding the date of this Deed, infringed or made unauthorised use of, any Intellectual Property of any third party.
- 14.8 Immediately following Completion, each Group Company will either solely legally and beneficially own, or have a contractual right pursuant to an IP Licence to use or benefit from, all Intellectual Property used in, for the benefit of, or necessary to carry on, the business conducted by that Group Company in the manner currently carried on and to fulfil any existing plans or proposals.
- 14.9 All Intellectual Property currently used by any Group Company is listed in Schedule 8 (Intellectual Property) and the information in Schedule 8 (Intellectual Property) is complete and accurate.
- 14.10 No confidential business information (including source materials relating to software) owned by any Group Company, has been disclosed to, or otherwise become known by, any third party other than in the ordinary course of business and under an obligation of confidentiality.

15 Information Technology

- 15.1 Complete and accurate details of the material Information Technology owned by, used by or used for the benefit of each Group Company are Disclosed and each Group Company owns, or is entitled to use, such Information Technology free from any Encumbrance.
- 15.2 Copies (or, in the case of unwritten licences, agreements or arrangements, complete and accurate details) of all material licences, agreements and arrangements relating to Information Technology, except for off-the-shelf software licenced on standard terms that apply to all users thereof, entered into by a Group Company (or under which a Group Company benefits or is bound) are set out in the Disclosure Letter (the "TT Contracts").
- 15.3 No Group Company, and, so far as the Warrantors are aware, no other party to any IT Contract, is in material breach of an IT Contract and no such contract is subject to any dispute or claim, nor so far as the Warrantors are aware are there any circumstances existing which might give rise to any dispute or claim.

15.4 The IT Contracts:

- cannot be terminated as a consequence of the Transactions and would not be materially affected by the Transactions; and
- (b) are valid, and so far as the Warrantors are aware, there are no grounds for their determination, rescission, avoidance or repudiation, whether current or existing in the twelve months prior to the date of the Transactions and: (i) there have been no allegations relating to any of the foregoing; and (ii) there are no circumstances likely to provide grounds for any of the foregoing.

- 15.5 Immediately following Completion, each relevant Group Company will either solely legally and beneficially own, or have a contractual right pursuant to an IT Contracts to use or benefit from, all Information Technology used in, for the benefit of, or necessary to carry on, the business conducted by that Group Company in the manner currently carried on and to fulfil any existing plans or proposals.
- 15.6 All material Information Technology which is owned by, used by or used for the benefit of, any Group Company is (and has, in the twelve months prior to the date of this Deed, been):
 - in good working order, functioning properly and materially in accordance with all applicable specifications; and
 - (b) operated, maintained and supported in accordance with best industry practice (including compliance with Applicable Law), and has the benefit of appropriate maintenance and support agreements.
- 15.7 In relation to the Information Technology which is owned by, used by or used for the benefit of, any Group Company:
 - (a) no Group Company has experienced any material disruption in its operations as a result of any issues relating to any such Information Technology or any material failure or other sub-standard performance of any such Information Technology, howsoever arising (including, in each case, as a result of: (i) the existence of any software bug, virus, worm, trojan or other malicious code or software based defect; (ii) any denial of services attack(s); and/or (iii) any insufficiency of hardware data storage or hardware processing capacity); and
 - there have been no information security breaches or unauthorised access of, or unauthorised acts in relation to, any such Information Technology,

and no circumstance exists which is likely or expected to give rise to any of the foregoing.

- 15.8 Complete and accurate details of all material policies and procedures relating to the use of any Information Technology which is owned by, used by or used for the benefit of, any Group Company are set out in the Data Room and all such policies are currently implemented and enforced and are regularly tested and updated.
- 15.9 In relation to the Information Technology which is owned by, used by or used for the benefit of, any Group Company, the Group Company has implemented, regularly tested and updated appropriate:
 - technical and organisational measures to ensure a level of security appropriate to the risks; and
 - (b) disaster recovery procedures which would enable all Group Companies to continue operating if there were damage, disruption or destruction to such Information Technology, including by maintaining: (i) a fully documented and regularly tested disaster recovery plan and (ii) necessary agreements with third party providers,

in accordance with best industry practice, including compliance with Applicable Law, regulation and guidance.

15.10 The Group Companies have possession of all source code relating to the Proprietary Software.

- 15.11 No source code relating to any Proprietary Software has been disclosed to, or otherwise become known by, any third party. No Group Company is:
 - required to disclose any source code relating to any of the Proprietary Software;
 or
 - restricted from freely using and/or disclosing any source code relating to any of the Proprietary Software,

pursuant to any agreement.

15.12 No open source software forms part of any Proprietary Software and no Proprietary Software has become subject to the terms of, or is required to be disclosed or made available pursuant to, any licence applying to any open source software.

16 Data protection

- 16.1 In this paragraph 16, the terms "data subject", "personal data", "personal data breach", "processing", "processor" and "supervisory authority" shall have the meaning given to them in the GDPR.
- 16.2 Folder 8.5.13 of the Data Room contains:
 - copies of any data protection impact assessments carried out by or on behalf of any Group Company in relation to its processing activities; and
 - (b) copies of any procedures put in place by each Group Company for complying with the requirements set out in Data Protection Law regarding personal data breaches and data subjects' exercise of their rights under Data Protection Law.
- 16.3 Each Group Company complies, and has at all times in the three (3) years preceding the date of this Deed complied with Data Protection Law in all material respects, including (without limitation) in relation to the upholding of data subjects' individual rights under the GDPR, the retention of personal data, and international transfers of personal data.
- 16.4 In the last 12 months, each Group Company has not received:
 - (a) any statutory notice, warrant or other written communication from any relevant supervisory authority alleging and/or enforcing non-compliance with Data Protection Law, or requesting an audit or compliance check relating to Data Protection Law, or requiring the Group Company to undertake an audit or compliance check or to change or delete any data or prohibiting the transfer of data to a third party; and/or
 - (b) any written complaint from any individual alleging breach of their rights under Data Protection Law in relation to the each Group Company.

17 Property

- 17.1 The Properties comprise all the land, buildings and premises presently owned, leased, licensed, occupied or otherwise used by the Group Companies or in which any Group Company has any actual or contingent right, interest or liability.
- 17.2 The information contained in Schedule 7 (Properties) is true and accurate in all material respects.
- 17.3 A Group Company is the sole legal and beneficial owner of the whole of the interest in each of the Properties set out in Schedule 7 (Properties).

- 17.4 There are no underleases, licences, or other occupational arrangements or rights arising out of any Group Company's interest in the Properties nor is there any agreement to grant the same.
- 17.5 No person or company, other than a Group Company, has the right to call for title to a Group Company's interest in any Property to be vested in it whether under an option, right of pre-emption or other agreement whatsoever or by virtue of any Applicable Law.
- 17.6 No Group Company has received written notice of any actions, disputes, claims, liabilities or demands regarding boundaries, easements, covenants or other matters materially affecting its interest in any Property or its use.
- 17.7 In relation to each of the Properties:
 - (a) no Group Company has received written notice that any covenants, conditions and agreements contained in the Leases on the part of the landlord or the tenant have not been complied with that remains outstanding or unresolved; and
 - (b) there has been no written complaint by the landlord received by the tenant alleging any breaches nor any refusal to accept rent.
- 17.8 All the Leases are valid and in full force and each Group Company has, so far as the Warrantors are aware, observed and performed the covenants, conditions and agreements contained in the Leases.
- 17.9 Each Group Company has paid the rent due under the Leases and no rent review is outstanding or in progress under any of the Leases.
- 17.10 No written notice to determine any Lease has been received or served by any Group Company and, so far as the Warrantors are aware, there are no formal or informal notices, complaints or proceedings issued or pending in relation to the Properties.
- 17.11 So far as the Warrantors are aware, there are no circumstances which would entitle any lessor or authority to exercise any powers of entry, take possession or take action which would otherwise restrict the continued possession, use and enjoyment of the Properties for their existing use.
- 17.12 There are no mortgages, standard securities, charges or liens, legal or equitable, fixed or floating, affecting any of the Properties.
- 17.13 No Group Company has received any notice of a material nature in respect of any breach of current or previous legislation or regulations, orders, notices or directions made under such legislation capable of enforcement affecting the Properties.
- 17.14 No Group Company has received any notice of a material nature in respect of any enforcement action under the Planning Acts having been commenced or proposed in relation to the Properties.

18 Employment and incentives

Employment

- 18.1 Folder 9.1 of the Data Room contains a full and accurate list of the name, role, employing entity, place of work and details of the basic salary, start date of continuous employment, notice period and benefits of every Employee.
- 18.2 Folder 9.7 of the Data Room contains copies of the terms and conditions of engagement of all consultants, contractors and agency workers who provide

- services to the Group Companies. The Group Companies have adequate procedures in place to ensure that such individuals are not employees or workers of a Group Company and there are no other individuals who provide services to the Group Companies.
- 18.3 Folder 9.6 of the Data Room contains copies of the employment contracts for each Senior Employee, together with copies of the Group Companies' standard terms of employment and all handbooks and other policies, procedures or rules applicable to the Employees. There are no Employees employed on non-standard terms of employment.
- 18.4 Folder 9.3 of the Data Room contains short details of any benefit or incentive received or receivable by any Employee, otherwise than in cash and of any benefits which are related to sales, profits, turnover or performance, or which are otherwise variable (other than normal overtime).
- 18.5 So far as the Warrantors are aware:
 - (a) no offer of employment or engagement has been made by a Group Company that has not yet been accepted, or which has been accepted but where the employment or engagement has not yet started; and
 - (b) no Senior Employee has received, or has given and not rescinded, notice, or is likely to receive or give notice, to terminate their employment or engagement with a Group Company.
- 18.6 All Group Companies have maintained appropriate records regarding the employment or engagement of each of its employees or workers and termination of employment or engagement.
- 18.7 There are no amounts outstanding or promised to any Employee (other than reimbursement of expenses and wages for the current salary period) or any liability incurred by a Group Company which remains un-discharged for breach of any employment (or other) contract, redundancy payment (statutory or otherwise) protective award, compensation under any employment legislation or regulations or for wrongful dismissal, unfair dismissal, equal pay, discrimination or otherwise or for failure to comply with any order for the re-instatement or re-engagement of any employee.
- 18.8 There are no current or, so far as the Warrantors are aware, pending or threatened disputes between any Employee or former employee of a Group Company (or any body representing or purporting to represent any group of Employees or former employees) and a Group Company, nor have there been any such disputes or any grievances or disciplinary action taken by or against an Employee or former employee in the two (2) years preceding the date of this Deed.
- 18.9 No material claims have been brought or, so far as the Warrantors are aware, threatened by any current or former agency workers, consultants, contractors, workers or other personnel engaged by any Group Company for employed status at any time in the two (2) years preceding the date of this Deed.
- 18.10 All Employees have permission to work in the UK or other jurisdiction in which they habitually work and (if required) a current certificate of sponsorship (or local law equivalent) as at the date of this Deed, and no such permission or certificate (or local law equivalent) is due to expire within six months following the date of this Deed. Each employing Group Company has obtained all applicable

- sponsorship licences, and all necessary proofs of identity and immigration status in relation to the employees for the purposes of the Immigration, Asylum and Nationality Act 2006 (or local law equivalent).
- 18.11 There are no enquiries or investigations existing, and so far as the Warrantors are aware no enquiries or investigations pending or threatened, in relation to any Group Company by the Equality and Human Rights Commission, or any other authority with similar functions or powers, and no Group Company has been the subject of any adverse report, complaint, recommendation or investigation by the Health and Safety Executive, or been the subject of any prosecution, formal caution, warning or civil claim relating to health and safety issues, in two (2) years preceding the date of this Deed.
- 18.12 No trade union, works council, staff association or other body representing employees is recognised by any Group Company in any way for bargaining, information or consultation purposes and no Group Company has incurred any liability for any failure to provide information or to consult with Employees, former employees, representatives of Employees or former employees, staff associations, staff councils, works councils or any trade union.
- 18.13 Within two (2) years preceding the date of this Deed, no Group Company has:
 - (a) given notice of any redundancies to the relevant Secretary of State or started consultations under Part IV of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992; or
 - (b) been a party to a relevant transfer (as defined in the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006).

Incentives

- 18.14 There is no existing or proposed bonus, commission, profit-sharing scheme, share option scheme, share incentive scheme or any other scheme or arrangement under which any employee or other worker is or would be entitled to participate in the profits of any Group Company or acquire shares of any Group Company.
- 18.15 There are no securities, options over securities or interests in securities in respect of which any Group Company may have to account for income tax or national insurance contributions liabilities (or equivalent obligations in any jurisdiction) issued, granted or transferred to any current or former officer, employee or worker or any of their nominees or connected persons or by any other person.
- 18.16 Folder 1.2 of the Data Room contains full details of all employment-related securities or securities options (as defined in Part 7 of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003) (without limitation, including shares in any Group Company and options over them) that have been issued, granted or transferred by any person in connection with any current, former or proposed employment or office with any Group Company and that are extant as at the date of this Deed.
- 18.17 Where employment-related securities or securities options (as defined in Part 7 of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003) have been issued, granted or transferred, the Company has received a valuation report from a recognised accounting firm in respect of such securities and the recipients of such securities have either (i) acquired the securities at their unrestricted market value as defined in Part 7 of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in accordance with

- such report or (ii) a Group Company and/or relevant recipient has accounted for all Tax legally due on such issue, grant or transfer.
- 18.18 Where employment-related securities or securities options (as defined in Part 7 of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003) have been issued, granted or transferred to Employees or directors, all such Employees or directors have entered into valid elections pursuant to section 431 of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect of the issue or transfer of such employment-related securities and the exercise of such employment-related securities options.
- 18.19 There are no employee benefit trusts, family benefit trusts or similar arrangements established by or on behalf of a Group Company under which any current or former officer, employee or worker or any of their nominees or their connected persons may benefit in any form.
- 18.20 No loans have been made to any Senior Employees or directors of any Group Company which were arranged by any Group Company or any associated employee benefit trust.
- 18.21 All reasonably foreseeable liabilities of the Group Companies to account for PAYE or employee national insurance contributions in connection with any securities, options, loans, non-cash payments are covered by enforceable contractual arrangements for those liabilities to be met in full by the relevant Employee or director or some other person.

19 Pensions

- 19.1 Save for the Disclosed Scheme, there is no obligation, agreement (formal or informal) or arrangement (whether funded or unfunded) which a Group Company contributes to or has contributed to or may become liable to contribute to or is or has become or may become liable to satisfy under which benefits of any kind (including, without limitation, pension, lump sum and/or medical/dental) are payable:
 - (a) on or after retirement (including early retirement);
 - on termination of employment (whether voluntary or not), but excluding lump sum benefits payable by the employer on involuntary termination of employment;
 - (c) on completion of a specified period of employment;
 - (d) on death (whether accidental or not);
 - (e) in the event of disability or sickness; or
 - (f) in circumstances similar to (a) to (e) above.
- 19.2 Accurate, up-to-date and complete copies of:
 - the latest governing documentation (plus any subsequent amending documents) in respect of each of the Disclosed Scheme;
 - (b) the latest member booklet in respect of the Disclosed Scheme and each announcement or communication issued to all or any members of the Disclosed Scheme which post-dates the relevant booklet and which relates to any change or proposed change to benefits; and

(c) the latest actuarial valuation or certificate and audited accounts for the Disclosed Scheme for which an actuarial valuation or certificate and/or audited accounts are required to be produced in the relevant jurisdiction,

have been Disclosed to the Investor in the Disclosure Letter or the Data Room.

- 19.3 Full details of the contributions payable by the Group Companies to or in respect of the Disclosed Scheme, in respect of the Employees or otherwise, have been Disclosed to the Investor in the Disclosure Letter or the Data Room.
- 19.4 The Disclosed Scheme is a registered pension scheme for the purposes of the Finance Act 2004 and, so far as the Warrantors are aware, there is no reason why such registration might be withdrawn or might cease to apply.
- 19.5 No Group Company has a liability to make any payment to the Disclosed Scheme which is due, but remains unpaid.
- 19.6 No Group Company has ever:
 - (a) been an employer in relation to, participated in, or had (or could have) any liability (whether prospective, contingent or otherwise) to or in respect of a pension scheme which is not a "money purchase pension scheme", as defined under section 181(1) Pension Schemes Act 1993; or
 - (b) been an "associate" of or "connected" with (within the meanings given to them in sections 435 and 249 of the Insolvency Act 1986 respectively) any person who is or has been an employer in relation to a pension scheme to which section 32, 43, 47 or 58 of the Pensions Act 2004 applies.

19.7 In respect of the Disclosed Scheme:

- (a) so far as the Warrantors are aware the Disclosed Scheme has been operated and administered in compliance with their terms (including the provisions set down in their governing documentation) and Applicable Law, the Group Companies have complied with their obligations in respect of the Disclosed Scheme and all amounts due to be paid to the Disclosed Scheme have been paid in full when due; and
- (b) there are no material actions, suits or claims (other than routine claims for benefits) or material complaints outstanding or, so far as the Warrantors are aware, threatened in relation to the Disclosed Scheme and so far as the Warrantors are aware, there are no facts or circumstances likely to give rise to any such material claims, actions, suits or complaints.

20 Reinsurance

- 20.1 True and accurate copies of all material Outbound Reinsurance Agreements are contained in folder 7.6 of the Data Room.
- 20.2 No Group Company and, so far as the Warrantors are aware, no relevant counterparty is currently in material breach under an Outbound Reinsurance Agreement.
- 20.3 All premiums (and all other amounts payable by the Group Companies) and all claims in respect of the Outbound Reinsurance Agreements have been paid in full in accordance with the terms of such agreements. So far as the Warrantors are aware, all pending claims to be made by the Group Companies under the Outbound

- Reinsurance Agreements have been validly notified in accordance with the terms of the relevant Outbound Reinsurance Agreement.
- 20.4 No Outbound Reinsurance Agreement is the subject of any Material Litigation and, so far as the Warrantors are aware, no such Material Litigation is pending, threatened or expected. So far as the Warrantors are aware, there is no fact or circumstance exists which is likely to give rise to the commencement of any such Material Litigation in respect of any Outbound Reinsurance Agreement.
- 20.5 No Group Company has, during the period of three years preceding the date of this Deed, given or received any written notice terminating (or giving notice to terminate), alleging grounds for termination, rescission, avoidance or repudiation of any Outbound Reinsurance Agreement or alleging that the terms of any Outbound Reinsurance Agreement are unenforceable.
- 20.6 During the period of three years preceding the date of this Deed, no reinsurer has disputed a claim made by a Group Company under the terms of any Outbound Reinsurance Agreements.
- 20.7 Folder 7.6 of the Data Room contains materially complete details (provided that where details are omitted they do not make the details provided inaccurate or misleading) of all outstanding claims under any Outbound Reinsurance Agreement where the amount claimed has an aggregate value in excess of \$500,000.

21 Competition

- 21.1 No Group Company is or has been a party to or is or has been concerned in any agreement or arrangement or is conducting and has conducted itself (whether by omission or otherwise) in a manner which:
 - (a) infringes Article 101 or 102 of the Treaty on the functioning of the European Union or section 2 or section 18 of the Competition Act 1998 or any other antitrust or similar legislation in any jurisdiction in which any Group Company has assets or carries or intends to carry on business or where its activities may have an effect; or
 - (b) is unenforceable or void (whether in whole or in part) or renders any other Group Company liable to civil, criminal or administrative proceedings by virtue of any antitrust or similar legislation or any undertakings given or orders made under such legislation in any jurisdiction in which any Group Company has assets or carries on or intends to carry on business or where its activities may have an effect.
- 21.2 No Group Company has given an undertaking to, or is subject to any order of or investigation by, or has received any request for information from, any court or governmental authority (including, without limitation, any national competition authority, the European Commission and any sectoral regulator) under any antitrust or similar legislation in any jurisdiction in which any Group Company has assets or carries on or intends to carry on business or where its activities may have an effect.

22 Anti-bribery, corruption and sanctions

22.1 No Group Company has:

(a) authorised, offered, promised or given any financial or other advantage (including, without limitation, any payment, loan, gift or transfer of anything of

value), directly to or for the use or benefit of any Government Official (or to another person at the request or with the assent or acquiescence of such Government Official), or any other natural or legal person, in order to assist a Group Company in improperly obtaining or retaining business for or with any person, in improperly directing business to any person, or in securing any improper advantage; or

- (b) taken any other action which would violate Anti-Bribery Law.
- 22.2 Each Group Company has in place procedures:
 - designed to prevent it from violating any Anti-Bribery Law; and
 - (b) for reporting a violation or suspected violation of Anti-Bribery Law and for ensuring that all such reports are investigated and acted upon.
- 22.3 No Group Company is or has been in the period of three years preceding the date of this Deed the subject of any investigation, inquiry or litigation, administrative or enforcement proceedings (which in each case has been notified in writing to the Group Company) by any Regulatory Authority regarding any offence or alleged offence under Anti-Bribery Law.
- 22.4 No Group Company is or has been in the period of three years preceding the date of this Deed in breach of any Sanctions, nor do circumstances exist which on a reasonable assessment may result in breach of Sanctions.

23 Other interests

None of the Warrantors, and no person connected with any of the Warrantors, has any interest, direct or indirect, in any business which competes or is likely to compete with any business now carried on by any Group Company or intends to acquire any such interest.

24 Tax

The Accounts and Tax

- 24.1 No Group Company has any liability in respect of Tax (whether actual or contingent):
 - in any part of the world assessable or payable by reference to profits, gains, income or distributions earned, received or paid or arising or deemed to arise on or at any time prior to the Accounts Date or in respect of any period ending on or before the Accounts Date; or
 - referable to transactions effected on or before the Accounts Date, or events occurring on or before the Accounts Date,

that is not provided for in full in the 2019 Accounts.

24.2 The amounts shown in respect of deferred Tax in respect of each Group Company in the 2019 Accounts were, at the Accounts Date, in accordance with Accounting Standards applicable to that Group Company.

Tax events since the Accounts Date

24.3 Since the Accounts Date:

 (a) no accounting period for the purpose of any corporate income tax of any Group Company has ended;

- (b) no event has occurred which, had it been planned or predicted at the Accounts Date, would have changed any amount shown, or caused any amount to be shown, in respect of deferred Tax in the 2019 Accounts; and
- (c) no Group Company has incurred any liability in respect of Tax as a consequence or by reference to any event or income, profits or gains arising outside of the ordinary and usual course of its business as carried on at the Accounts Date.

Tax returns, disputes and records, etc.

24.4 Each Group Company has:

- (a) made or caused to be made, (in accordance with all applicable procedural and administrative requirements), all returns which have been required to be made within the last six years and such returns are and remain accurate in all material respects:
- (b) supplied or caused to be supplied to the relevant Tax Authority, (in accordance with all applicable procedural and administrative requirements), all information which has been required to be supplied to any Tax Authority within the last six years and such information was and remains accurate in all material respects;
- (c) not, within the last six years, become liable to pay, or done or failed to do anything which could cause it to become liable to pay, any penalty, surcharge or fine in respect of Tax; and
- (d) within the last six years paid all Tax and amounts in respect of Tax which it is liable to pay.
- 24.5 There are no liens, charges or other forms of security interest on or over the Shares, or on or over any of the assets owned by any Group Company, in either case in favour of a Tax Authority or other person in respect of Tax.
- 24.6 No Group Company is currently under any audit, examination or enquiry by a Tax Authority that could result in the assessment of any non-trivial amount of Tax and the Warrantors are not aware that any Tax Authority intends to commence any such audit, examination or enquiry. The Warrantors are not aware of any outstanding or contemplated dispute or disagreement with any Tax Authority; there are no circumstances making such dispute or disagreement likely; and no notice has been served by any Tax Authority on any Group Company pursuant to any statutory regime relating to the avoidance of Tax or the conduct of Tax affairs (including, without limitation, any failure to co-operate with a Tax Authority).
- 24.7 One or more Group Companies have sufficient records relating to past events, including any elections made, to calculate the Tax liability or relief which would arise on any disposal or other realisation of any asset owned at the Accounts Date by any Group Company or acquired by any Group Company since that date.
- 24.8 The amount of Tax chargeable on any Group Company during any accounting reference period ended on or within six years before the Accounts Date is not materially different from the amount which would have been chargeable in the absence of any concession, non-statutory agreement or arrangement with any Tax Authority.
- 24.9 No Group Company has been required to make any notification or disclosure pursuant to any statutory regime relating to the avoidance of Tax, whether by reason of being party to any transaction forming part of notifiable arrangements (as

- defined for the purposes of Part 7 Finance Act 2004 (Disclosure of Tax Avoidance Schemes)), a notifiable scheme (as defined in Schedule 11A VATA 1994), or notifiable arrangements (as defined for the purposes of Schedule 17 of the Finance (No. 2) Act 2017 (Disclosure of Tax Avoidance Schemes: VAT and Other Indirect Taxes)), or otherwise.
- 24.10 No Group Company has received a follower notice under section 204 Finance Act 2014, or an accelerated payment notice under section 219 Finance Act 2014, or any notice under a similar regime in any other jurisdiction and there are no circumstances which make it likely that any such notices will be issued.

Stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax and stamp duty land tax

- 24.11 All documents on which stamp duty or any other transfer, registration or documentary Tax is chargeable and which are in the possession of any Group Company or by virtue of which any Group Company has any right have been duly stamped (or, as the case may be, such transfer, registration or documentary Tax has been duly paid).
- 24.12 Since the Accounts Date no Group Company has incurred any liability to pay (i) stamp duty reserve tax, (ii) stamp duty land tax, or (iii) any other transfer, registration or documentary Tax.

Value added tax and duties, etc.

- 24.13 Each Group Company resident in England and Wales is treated as a member of a group of companies (the "VAT Group") for VAT purposes of which the representative member is Ark Syndicate Management Limited (the "Representative Member") and no company which is not a Group Company is a member of the VAT Group or has, at time within the last six years, been a member of the VAT Group.
- 24.14 Each Group Company has in the last six years complied, in all material respects, with the terms of all legislation, rules and regulations in relation to VAT, customs duties or other duties and other similar Taxes and all notices, provisions and conditions made or issued thereunder including the terms of any agreement reached with any Tax Authority.
- 24.15 The Representative Member has made, given, obtained and kept full, complete, correct and up to date returns, records, invoices and other documents required for the purposes of all legislation, rules and regulations in relation to VAT and is not in arrears with any payments or returns due and has not been required by any Tax Authority to give security for the payment of any VAT that is or may become due.
- 24.16 The Representative Member has not, since the date 12 months before the Accounts Date, been in default in respect of any prescribed accounting period as mentioned in section 59 or section 59A VATA 1994, or any similar provisions in any other jurisdiction.
- 24.17 No Group Company has, within the six years ending on the Accounts Date, been registered for VAT purposes otherwise than as part of the VAT Group referred to in paragraph 24.13 above and no Group Company has, within that period, been a member of any other group for VAT purposes.

- 24.18 Full details of any claim made in the last three years by the Representative Member for bad debt relief under section 36 VATA 1994, or any similar provision in any other jurisdiction, have been disclosed in the Disclosure Letter.
- 24.19 No adjustments have been required to be made under Part XV Value Added Tax Regulations 1995 (the Capital Goods Scheme), or any similar regime in any other jurisdiction, in relation to input tax which may be deducted in respect of any capital items held by any Group Company.
- 24.20 Neither the Representative Member nor any Group Company has, at any time within the last six years, been treated as having made or received any supply for the purposes of section 47 VATA 1994 or been appointed as a VAT representative of any person for the purposes of section 48 VATA 1994, or, in either case, the similar provisions in any other jurisdiction.
- 24.21 All VAT, customs duties or other duties and other similar Taxes payable to any Tax Authority upon the importation of goods or in respect of any assets (including trading stock) imported, owned or used by any Group Company have been paid in full.

Deductions and withholdings

- 24.22 Each Group Company has made all deductions in respect, or on account, of any Tax from any payments made by it which it is obliged or entitled to make and has accounted in full to the appropriate authority for all amounts so deducted.
- 24.23 No Group Company has received any notice from any Tax Authority which required or will or may require such Group Company to withhold any amount for or on account of Tax from any payment made since the Accounts Date or which will or may be made after the date of this Deed.

Intra-group and non-arm's length transactions

- 24.24 No Group Company has, at any time within the last six years:
 - (a) acquired any asset or liability from any other company (including any other Group Company) which was at the time of the acquisition, or which has at any time after such acquisition become, a member of the same group of companies as, or otherwise connected or associated with, that Group Company for the purposes of any Tax; or
 - entered into any agreement, arrangement or transaction which was not on arm's length terms.
- 24.25 In relation to each agreement, arrangement or transaction into which any Group Company has entered, such Group Company has retained records sufficient to satisfy the requirement to demonstrate that the relevant agreement, arrangement or transaction to which it was a party was entered into on arm's length terms and which are required to be retained by any relevant law.

Residence

24.26 Each Group Company is resident for Tax purposes solely in the place identified as its jurisdiction of Tax residence in and does not have a permanent establishment in any other jurisdiction.

Secondary liabilities etc.

24.27 No arrangements have been made under which any Group Company is or could become liable to make any material payment to any person in respect of any Taxsharing arrangements, any joint liability for any Tax, or any liability which is chargeable directly or primarily against any person other than a Group Company.

State aid and preferential Tax regimes

- 24.28 The Tax affairs or Tax treatment of any Group Company has not depended on anything which is State Aid.
- 24.29 No Group Company benefits from any preferential Tax regime where such benefit could be affected in whole or in part by the execution of this Deed or the implementation of any transaction contemplated by it.

Elections

- 24.30 Each Group Company has duly made or submitted all claims, disclaimers, withdrawals of claims, elections, consents or other similar documents which have been assumed to have been made or submitted for the purposes of the Accounts.
- 24.31 No Group Company has made:
 - any election under paragraph 6A of the Loan Relationships and Derivative Contracts (Disregard and Bringing into Account of Profits and Losses) Regulations 2004;
 - (b) an election to waive exemption or exercised an option to tax in relation to any land under Schedule 10 to VATA 1994 or the similar provisions in any other jurisdiction; or
 - (c) any other election which could affect the Tax treatment after the Accounts Date of any transaction whether entered into before, on or after the Accounts Date.

Tax grouping

- 24.32 Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, no Group Company has, or has at any time had, its Tax affairs dealt with on a consolidated basis or is, or has at any time been, party to any Tax sharing arrangement (including without limitation any arrangement under which Tax losses or Tax reliefs are surrendered or claimed) with any entity not being another Group Company.
- 24.33 Except as provided in the 2019 Accounts, no Group Company is, or could be, obliged to make any payment under any such arrangements referred to in paragraph 24.32 above.

Reasonable procedures to prevent facilitation of tax evasion

- 24.34 The internal procedures of each Group Company are, to the extent required by law, in accordance with the requirements of the Criminal Finances Act 2017 (and any regulations made thereunder) and all other applicable anti-tax evasion facilitation obligations and requirements, whether in the UK or elsewhere (together, the "Evasion Facilitation Rules"), and the business of each Group Company has, to the extent required by law, been conducted in accordance with the requirements of the Evasion Facilitation Rules.
- 24.35 No penalties have been received by any Group Company with respect to a breach of the requirements of the Evasion Facilitation Rules and no Group Company has received any notification or indication that it is in breach of the requirements of the

Evasion Facilitation Rules and there are no facts or circumstances which may give rise to such a breach.
34

Schedule 3 Tax Covenant

1 Interpretation

In this Schedule:

1.1 defined terms have the same meaning as those terms set out in Schedule 10 (Interpretation) of this Deed, provided that the following expressions have the following meanings:

"Accounts Relief" means any Relief which is shown as an asset of a Group Company in the Completion Accounts or is taken into account in computing a provision for deferred Tax in the Completion Accounts;

"Actual Tax Liability" has the meaning given in paragraph 1.2(a);

"Completion Accounts" has the meaning given in the Subscription and Purchase Agreement;

"Event" means any transaction, event, action or omission, including, without limitation, Debt Availability and Completion and any change in the residence of any person for the purposes of any Tax;

"Income, Profits or Gains" has the meaning given in paragraph 1.3;

"Investor's Repayment" means (i) any repayment taken into account in the preparation of the Completion Accounts, (ii) any repayment arising as a consequence of, or by reference to, an Event occurring (or deemed to occur) after Completion or in respect of a period commencing after Completion;

"ITEPA 2003" means the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003;

"Post-Completion Relief" means any Relief of a Group Company which arises:

- (i) as a consequence of or by reference to an Event occurring (or deemed to occur) after Completion; or
- (ii) in respect of a period commencing after Completion;

"Tax Authority Claim" means the issue of any notice, letter or other document by or on behalf of any Tax Authority from which notice, letter or document it appears either that a Tax Liability of a Group Company will arise;

"Tax Liability" has the meaning given in paragraph 1.2;

"Tax Period" subject to paragraph 6 (Notional end of Tax Period), means an accounting period or any other period in respect of which a Tax return is required to be submitted to any Tax Authority or in respect of which, or by reference to which, Tax is required to be calculated; and

"Tax Value" means, in relation to a Relief which is lost, disallowed or reduced, or is otherwise unavailable to any member of the Investor's Group, the amount of Tax which would have been saved by the Relief to the extent that it has been lost, disallowed or reduced, or has been otherwise unavailable to any member of the Investor's Group (on the assumption that there is or are sufficient Tax or Income, Profits or Gains against

which to set the relevant Relief and on the basis of the rates of Tax which are applicable (i) in the case of an Accounts Relief, as at the date to which the Completion Accounts are prepared, or (ii) in the case of any other Relief, as at the date when the Relief is found to be lost, disallowed or reduced, or otherwise unavailable to any member of the Investor's Group) if the Relief had not been lost, disallowed or reduced, or otherwise unavailable:

1.2 references to any "Tax Liability" mean:

- a liability or increase in a liability to make a payment of Tax, regardless of whether any such liability has been discharged in whole or in part before Completion (an "Actual Tax Liability"); and/or
- (b) the setting off or utilisation (including by way of deduction in a calculation) of any Relief or repayment of Tax against any Tax or any Income, Profits or Gains (in which case, the amount of the Tax Liability is to be the amount of Tax thereby saved);

regardless of whether the existence or amount of such liability, setting off or utilisation is disputed;

1.3 references to:

- (a) "Income, Profits or Gains" include any income, profits or gains which are deemed to be earned, accrued or received for the purposes of any Tax; and
- (b) Income, Profits or Gains (as defined in paragraph 1.3(a)) as being earned, accrued or received on or before a particular date or in respect of a particular period mean Income, Profits or Gains which are regarded as having been, or are deemed to have been, earned, accrued or received on or before that date or in respect of that period for the purposes of any Tax; and

1.4 unless otherwise specified:

- (a) references to paragraphs are to paragraphs contained within this Schedule;
- (b) references to "period" are to a period of time and not to an accounting period unless the phrase "accounting period" is used; and
- (c) references to "repayment of Tax" mean a repayment or refund of Tax paid or amounts paid for, or on account of, Tax and shall be deemed to include any interest or repayment supplement on or in respect thereof.

2 Covenant

Subject to the provisions of paragraph 3 (Limitations and exclusions), each Warrantor hereby covenants with the Investor to pay the Investor an amount equal to:

2.1 any Actual Tax Liability of a Group Company:

- (a) arising as a consequence of or by reference to any Event which occurred on or before Completion or was deemed to occur on or before Completion for the purposes of any Tax but excluding any such Actual Tax Liability to the extent that it arises in respect of or by reference to any Income, Profits or Gains;
- (b) arising in respect of or by reference to any Income, Profits or Gains to the extent that such Income, Profits or Gains were earned, accrued or received (i) on or

- before Completion, or (ii) in respect of a period ending on or before Completion; or
- (c) which is attributable to the ownership, occupation or use of an asset on or before Completion but excluding any such Actual Tax Liability to the extent that it arises as a consequence of or by reference to any Event, or in respect of or by reference to any Income, Profits or Gains;
- 2.2 any Tax Liability, other than an Actual Tax Liability, where an Actual Tax Liability falling within paragraph 2.1 would have arisen but for the set-off or utilisation which comprises that Tax Liability;
- 2.3 any right to repayment of Tax which is shown as an asset of a Group Company in the Completion Accounts to the extent that such right to repayment is lost, disallowed or reduced, or is otherwise unavailable to any member of the Investor's Group (otherwise than by way of setting off or utilisation);
- 2.4 the Tax Value of any Accounts Relief to the extent that such Accounts Relief is lost, disallowed or reduced or is otherwise unavailable to any member of the Investor's Group (otherwise than by way of setting off or utilisation);
- 2.5 to the extent that the Tax Liability in question does not fall within paragraph 2.1, any Tax Liability of a Group Company to account for income tax or national insurance contributions in respect of the grant, exercise, surrender, exchange or other disposal of an option or other right to acquire securities, or in respect of any acquisition, holding, variation or disposal of employment-related securities (as defined for the purpose of Part 7 ITEPA 2003) where the grant of the option or other right to acquire securities or the acquisition of the employment-related securities occurred on or before Completion;
- 2.6 to the extent that the Tax Liability in question does not fall within paragraph 2.1, any Tax Liability of a Group Company which arises as a consequence of a person taking, or being treated as taking, at any time, a "relevant step" (within the meaning of Part 7A ITEPA 2003) pursuant to, or in connection with, a "relevant arrangement" (within the meaning of Part 7A ITEPA 2003) which was put in place before Completion, provided that, in relation to a "relevant step" which was taken (or was treated as taken) after Completion, the Investor did not know, and it was not reasonable for the Investor to have known, of such "relevant arrangement" at the time of the taking of the "relevant step";
- 2.7 to the extent that the Tax Liability in question does not fall within paragraph 2.1, any liability for inheritance tax that:
 - is a liability of a Group Company and arises because of a transfer of value occurring (or being deemed to occur) on or before Completion (whether or not in conjunction with the death of any person whenever it happens);
 - (b) gives rise on or before Completion to a charge on, or a power to sell, mortgage or charge, any of the Shares or any of the assets of a Group Company; or
 - (c) gives rise after Completion to a charge on, or a power to sell, mortgage or charge, any of the Shares or any of the assets of a Group Company because of the death of any person within seven years of a transfer of value that occurred on or before Completion,

and, in determining for the purposes of this paragraph 2.7 whether a charge on, or power to sell, mortgage or charge any of the Shares or assets of a Group Company exists at

any time, the fact that the inheritance tax is not yet due and payable, or may be paid by instalments, shall be disregarded, and the inheritance tax shall be treated as becoming due and payable, and a charge or power to sell, mortgage or charge as arising, on the date of the transfer of value or on the other date or event on or in respect of which the relevant inheritance tax liability arises, and the provisions of section 213 Inheritance Tax Act 1984 shall not apply;

- 2.8 any Tax Liability of any Group Company or any member of the Investor's Group which is chargeable directly or primarily against, or arises directly or primarily in consequence of or by reference to anything done by, any person that (i) is or may be treated for the purposes of any Tax as being or having been, at any time on or before Completion, a member of the same group of companies as, or otherwise associated or connected with, the Group Company concerned and (ii) is not a Group Company or any other member of the Investor's Group; and
- 2.9 any reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses reasonably and properly incurred by the Investor and/or a Group Company to the extent that such costs and expenses were incurred directly in connection with, or would not have been so incurred but for, (i) any Tax Liability which gives rise to an obligation for the Warrantors to make a payment to the Investor under this paragraph 2, or (ii) any Tax Authority Claim for, or in connection with, a Tax Liability referred to in (i), or (iii) taking or defending any action under this Schedule, to the extent such action is successful.
- 3 Limitations and exclusions
- 3.1 The covenant given in paragraph 2 (Covenant) shall not cover any Tax Liability of a Group Company to the extent that:
 - (a) provision or reserve in respect of that Tax Liability was made in the Completion Accounts; or
 - (b) that Tax Liability was paid or discharged before Completion and such payment or discharge was reflected in the Completion Accounts (and, for this purpose, the phrase "reflected in the Completion Accounts" means that the net assets as shown in the Completion Accounts are lower, by the amount paid or discharged, than they would have been if such payment or discharge had not occurred); or
 - (c) the Investor has otherwise made recovery in respect of that Tax Liability under this Schedule or by means of a claim for breach of any of the warranties set out in Schedule 2 (Warranties) of this Deed or under any other provision of the Transaction Documents.
- 3.2 For the purposes of paragraph 3.1, references to "Tax Liability" include any loss, non-availability, disallowance or reduction in any repayment of Tax or Accounts Relief as referred to in paragraph 2.3 and 2.4 respectively.
- 3.3 Certain provisions of Schedule 4 (Limitations to Liability) of this Deed contain further limitations which apply to this Schedule (including setting certain financial and time limits).
- 4 Due date of payment

Where a payment falls to be made under this Schedule, the payment shall be made in cleared funds and, save to the extent that it has already been made, the due date for the making of that payment shall be:

- (a) in the case of a payment in respect of an Actual Tax Liability, to the extent that the Actual Tax Liability does not comprise interest or penalties, the later of:
 - a) three Business Days before the last date upon which the Tax concerned can be paid without the person liable to pay it incurring a liability to interest or a charge or penalty in respect of it;
 - b) the date falling five Business Days after the date upon which the party liable to make the payment under this Schedule has been notified of the obligation to make the payment by the party entitled to claim the payment; and
- (b) in any other case, the date falling five Business Days after the date upon which the Warrantors have been notified by the party entitled to claim the payment that such payment is due.
- 5 Deductions from payments, etc.
 - All sums payable by the Warrantors under this Schedule shall be paid in accordance with Clause 8 (Withholding and grossing up) of this Deed.
- 6 Notional end of Tax Period

For the purposes of determining whether a Tax Liability, Relief, or entitlement to or receipt of a repayment of Tax has arisen in respect of a period ending on or before Completion or in respect of a period commencing after Completion, a Tax Period of each Group Company current at the time of Completion shall be deemed to end at that time.

Schedule 4 Limitations to Liability

1. Limitation on quantum

The aggregate total liability of each Warrantor in respect of all Claims shall not exceed the individual financial cap of each Warrantor as set out against his name in column (3) of Schedule 1 (Warrantors).

- 2. Time limits for bringing claims
- 2.1. No Claim shall be brought against a Warrantor unless the Investor shall have given to the Warrantors written notice of such Claim (specifying in reasonable detail the matter which gives rise to the Claim, the nature of the Claim and the amount claimed in respect thereof) on or before:
 - (a) subject to paragraphs 2.1(b) and 2.1(c) below, the date falling two (2) years after the date of this Deed;
 - (b) subject to paragraph 2.1(c) below, in respect of any Claim under the Fundamental Warranties or the Warranties set out in paragraph 18 (Employment and incentives) and paragraph 19 (Pensions), the date falling six (6) years after the date of this Deed; or
 - (c) in respect of any Claim under the Tax Warranties or under the Tax Covenant, the date falling three (3) months after the seventh anniversary of the date of this Deed.
- 2.2. Subject to paragraph 2.3, any Claim notified in accordance with paragraph 2.1 above shall (if it has not been previously satisfied, settled or withdrawn) be deemed to have been waived or withdrawn on the date falling twelve (12) months after the date of the notice unless legal proceedings in respect of it have been commenced by both being issued and served on the relevant Warrantor(s) within that period.
- 2.3. If any Claim is made within the time limits referred to in this paragraph 2 of this Schedule 4 (Limitations to Liability) in respect of a liability which, at the time such Claim is notified by the Investor, is contingent or is unquantifiable, then the Warrantors shall not be under any obligation to make any payment in respect of such Claim to the extent (but only to the extent) that such liability is contingent or unquantifiable unless and until such liability ceases to be contingent or unquantifiable. Paragraph 2.2 of this Schedule 4 (Limitations to Liability) shall be amended in relation to such Claim so as to require legal proceedings to be commenced within twelve (12) months of the date on which such liability is notified in writing as ceasing to be contingent or becoming capable of being quantified, as the case may be.
- W&I Insurance Policy
- 3.1. The Investor acknowledges and agrees that, to the extent that the Investor has received payments from the Warrantors such that the liability caps in paragraph 1 have been reached, its sole remedy and right of recovery for all Claims shall be under the W&I Insurance Policy (except in the case of fraud, fraudulent misrepresentation, dishonesty or wilful concealment by a Warrantor).
- 3.2. The Investor acknowledges and agrees that the limits contained in paragraph 1 shall apply notwithstanding any subsequent non-payment under the W&I Insurance Policy,

or any expiry, termination or assignment of the W&I Insurance Policy, or any insolvency of the underwriters of that policy, or any failure of the Investor to pay any premium due under the W&I Insurance Policy.

3.3. The Investor shall ensure that the W&I Insurance Policy includes an express waiver in a customary form of any rights of subrogation against any Warrantor (except in the case of fraud, fraudulent misrepresentation, dishonesty or wilful concealment by a Warrantor, in which case such waiver shall cease to apply in respect of the relevant fact, matter or circumstance in respect of that Warrantor only) and shall deliver evidence of the same to the Warrantors prior to entry into the W&I Insurance Policy.

Specific limitations

The Warrantors shall not be liable in respect of a Claim (other than a Claim under the Tax Covenant) to the extent that the liability giving rise to or the loss arising from the Claim was specifically provided for in the 2019 Accounts, the Completion Accounts or was specifically taken into account (and documentary evidence exists in relation thereto) in calculating a provision, reserve, allowance or accrual and was specifically included as a specific provision, reserve or allowance or accrual in the 2019 Accounts or the Completion Accounts.

5. No duplication of recoveries

The Investor and the Warrantors agree that, in respect of any matter which may give rise to a Claim, no party shall be entitled to recover the same loss more than once.

6. Mitigation

Nothing in this Deed shall be deemed to relieve the Investor from any duty under Applicable Law to mitigate any loss or damage incurred by it as a result of any matter or circumstance that gives rise to a Claim (other than a Claim under the Tax Covenant).

- General
- 7.1. Nothing in this Deed has the effect of limiting or restricting any liability of a Warrantor in respect of a claim under this Deed to the extent it arises or is increased, or is delayed, as a result of any fraud, fraudulent misrepresentation, dishonesty or wilful concealment on the part of the Warrantors.
- 7.2. The Warrantors shall provide written notice to the Investor promptly upon becoming aware of any fact, matter or circumstance which is likely to constitute a breach of the Warranties.

Schedule 5 Details of the Company

1.		Name:	Ark Insurance Holdings Limited
2.	2.	Registered Number:	48199
3.	3.	Date of Incorporation:	30 September 2013
4.	4.	Country of Incorporation:	Bermuda
5.	5.	Registered Office:	Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited Clarendon House 2 Church Street Hamilton HM 11 Bermuda
6.	6.	Accounting Reference Date:	December 31
7.	7.	Auditors:	KPMG LLP
8.	8.	Issued Share Capital:	184,460 preference 1 shares of \$1.00 each 243,576 preference 2 shares of \$1.00 each 282,084 class H 2018 shares of \$1.00 each 303,568 class H 2019 shares of \$1.00 each 349,285 class H 2020 shares of \$1.00 each 772,682 class H1 2015 shares of \$1.00 each 989,032 class H1 2016 shares of \$1.00 each 989,032 class H1 2018 shares of \$1.00 each 989,032 class H1 2019 shares of \$1.00 each 200 class T shares of \$1.00 each 140 class Z shares of \$1.00 each (together, the "Shares")
9.	9.	Registered Shareholders:	As set forth in the Waterfall Schedule
10.	10.	Secretary:	Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
11.	11.	Directors:	Christopher Watson William Malloy Ian Beaton Nicholas Bonnar David Sykes Chris Garrod Andrew McCormick Neil Smith

Tax residence: Bermuda

Schedule 6 Details of the Company Subsidiaries

1.	Name:	Group Ark Insurance Holdings Limited
2.	Registered Number:	39616
3.	Date of Incorporation:	28 February 2007
4.	Country of Incorporation:	Bermuda
5.	Registered Office:	Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited Clarendon House 2 Church Street Hamilton HM 11 Bermuda
6.	Accounting Reference Date:	December 31
7.	Auditors:	KPMG LLP
8.	Issued Share Capital:	5,948,670 A shares of USD 1.00 each 1,140,366 B shares of USD 1.00 each 338,000 E shares of USD 1.00 each 529,050 G shares of USD 1.00 each
9.	Registered Shareholder:	Ark Insurance Holdings Limited
10.	Secretary:	Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
11.	Directors:	Christopher Watson William Malloy Ian Eric Beaton Nicholas Kershaw Bonnar David Sykes Chris Garrod Andrew McCormick Neil Smith
12.	Tax residence:	Bermuda

1.	Name:	Ark Syndicate Management Limited
2.	Registered Number:	05887810
3.	Date of Incorporation:	26 July 2006
4.	Country of Incorporation:	England and Wales

	1	
5.	Registered Office:	30 Fenchurch Avenue London EC3M 5AD
6.	Accounting Reference Date:	31 December
7.	Auditors:	KPMG LLP
8.	Issued Share Capital:	400,000 ordinary shares of £1
9.	Registered Shareholder:	Group Ark Insurance Holdings Limited
10.	Secretary:	James David Masson
11.	Directors:	Charles Neville Rupert Atkin Ian Eric Beaton Nicholas Kershaw Bonnar Neil Christopher Brothers Paul William Dawson David Peter Foreman Peter McIntosh Neil Martin Smith John Mitchell Wardrop Christopher Eric Watson Jo Mark Pole Welman
12.	Tax residence:	United Kingdom
		(All)

1.	Name:	Ark Underwriting Inc.
2.	Registered Number:	In Connecticut: 1111298 In Virginia: 204796-9
3.	Date of Incorporation:	In Connecticut: 12 July 2013 Date of Certificate of Authority in Virginia: 16 January 2017
4.	Country of Incorporation:	United States of America
5.	Registered Office:	One Financial Plaza Hartford Connecticut 06103 USA
6.	Accounting Reference Date:	31 December
7.	Auditors:	N/A

8.	Issued Share Capital:	\$100.00 (100 shares of \$1.00 each)
9.	Registered Shareholder:	Ark Syndicate Management Limited
10.	Secretary:	Erin M. Hennessey
11.	Directors:	David Foreman Neil Fox Stan Kott John Dalton
12.	Tax residence:	United States of America

1.	Name:	Ark Corporate Member Limited
2.	Registered Number:	06081055
3.	Date of Incorporation:	2 February 2007
4.	Country of Incorporation:	England and Wales
5.	Registered Office:	30 Fenchurch Avenue London EC3M 5AD
6.	Accounting Reference Date:	31 December
7.	Auditors:	KPMG LLP
8.	Issued Share Capital:	1 Ordinary share of £1
9.	Registered Shareholder:	Group Ark Insurance Holdings Limited
10.	Secretary:	James David Masson
11.	Directors:	Nicholas Kershaw Bonnar Neil Christopher Brothers Neil Martin Smith Christopher Eric Watson
12.	Tax residence:	United Kingdom

1.	Name:	Ark Corporate Member (No. 2) Limited
2.	Registered Number:	06430160

3.	Date of Incorporation:	19 November 2007
4.	Country of Incorporation:	England and Wales
5.	Registered Office:	30 Fenchurch Avenue London EC3M 5AD
6.	Accounting Reference Date:	31 December
7.	Auditors:	KPMG LLP
8.	Issued Share Capital:	1 ordinary share of £1
9.	Registered Shareholder:	Group Ark Insurance Holdings Limited
10.	Secretary:	James David Masson
11.	Directors:	Nicholas Kershaw Bonnar Neil Christopher Brothers Neil Martin Smith
12.	Tax residence:	United Kingdom

1.	Name:	Ark Corporate Member (No. 3) Limited
2.	Registered Number:	06756414
3.	Date of Incorporation:	24 November 2008
4.	Country of Incorporation:	England and Wales
5.	Registered Office:	30 Fenchurch Avenue
6.	Accounting Reference Date:	31 December
7.	Auditors:	N/A
8.	Issued Share Capital:	1 ordinary share of£1
9.	Registered Shareholder:	Group Ark Insurance Holdings Limited
10.	Secretary:	James David Masson
11.	Directors:	Nicholas Kershaw Bonnar Neil Christopher Brothers Neil Martin Smith
12.	Status:	Domant

13. Tax residence: United Kingdom	
-----------------------------------	--

1.	Name:	Ark Corporate Member (No. 4) Limited
2.	Registered Number:	08726603
3.	Date of Incorporation:	10 October 2013
4.	Country of Incorporation:	England and Wales
5.	Registered Office:	30 Fenchurch Avenue London EC3M 5AD
6.	Accounting Reference Date:	31 October
7.	Auditors:	N/A
8.	Issued Share Capital:	1 ordinary share of £1
9.	Registered Shareholder:	Group Ark Insurance Holdings Limited
10.	Secretary:	None
11.	Directors:	Nicholas Kershaw Bonnar Neil Christopher Brothers Neil Martin Smith
12.	Status:	Domant
13.	Tax residence:	United Kingdom

1.	Name:	Group Ark Insurance Limited
2.	Registered Number:	39617
3.	Date of Incorporation:	28 February 2007
4.	Country of Incorporation:	Bermuda
5.	Registered Office:	Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited Clarendon House 2 Church Street Hamilton HM 11 Bermuda

6.	Accounting Reference Date:	December 31
7.	Auditors:	KPMG LLP
8.	Issued Share Capital:	120,000 common shares of USD 1.00 each
9.	Registered Shareholder:	Group Ark Insurance Holdings Limited
10.	Secretary:	Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
11.	Directors:	Ian Eric Beaton William Malloy David Sykes Chris Garrod Katie Martin Neil Smith
12.	Tax residence:	Bermuda

1.	Name:	Accident & Health Underwriting Limited
2.	Registered Number:	03938590
3.	Date of Incorporation:	2 March 2000
4.	Country of Incorporation:	England and Wales
5.	Registered Office:	7-8 Ducketts Wharf South Street Bishop's Stortford CM23 3AR England
6.	Accounting Reference Date:	31 December
7.	Auditors:	KPMG LLP
8.	Issued Share Capital:	12,500 class A shares of £1.00 each 12,500 class C shares of £1.00 each 12,500 class D shares of £1.00 each
9.	Registered Shareholder:	Group Ark Insurance Holdings Limited
10.	Secretary:	None
11.	Directors:	Jordan Terry Bostwick Charles David Boyd Neil Christopher Brothers

		John Richard Burnham David Robert Miller	
12.	Tax residence:	United Kingdom	

1.	Name:	Accident & Health Claims Services LLP
2.	Registered Number:	OC370491
3.	Date of Incorporation:	6 December 2011
4.	Country of Incorporation:	England and Wales
5.	Registered Office:	7-8 Ducketts Wharf South Street Bishop's Stortford CM23 3AR England
6.	Accounting Reference Date:	31 December
7.	Auditors:	KPMG LLP
8.	Partnership Interests:	Ark Underwriting Ltd. Group Ark Insurance Limited
9.	LLP Designated Members:	Accident & Health Underwriting Limited Group Ark Insurance Holdings Limited
10.	Secretary:	N/A
11.	Directors:	N/A
12.	Tax residence:	United Kingdom

1.	Name:	Richmond Risk Management, Inc.
2.	Registered Number:	08497752
3.	Date of Incorporation:	21 October 2019
4.	Country of Incorporation:	United States of America
5.	Registered Office:	5398 Twin Hickory Road Glen Allen Virginia

		23059 United States of America
6.	Accounting Reference Date:	31 December
7.	Auditors:	N/A
8.	Issued Share Capital:	100 common shares of USD 1.00 each
9.	Registered Shareholder:	Ark Syndicate Management Limited
10.	Secretary:	Kimberly Perkins
11.	Directors:	Kimberly Perkins
12.	Tax residence:	United States of America

Schedule 7 Properties

[Omitted]

Schedule 8 Intellectual Property

Domain Name	Registrant	
ark4020.com	DNSimple	
arkunderwriting.com	DNSimple	
cyberaware.it	DNSimple	
noa3902.com	DNSimple	
arkunderwritinginc.com	DNSimple	
arkunderwriting.co.uk	DNSimple	
arkunderwritinginc.net	DNSimple	
ahulimited.com	Register SPA	
[Redacted]	DNSimple	

Schedule 9 Form of Deed of Substitution

THIS DEED is made on [●]

by $[\bullet]$, a company incorporated in $[\bullet]$ under registered number $[\bullet]$ whose [registered/principal] office is at $[\bullet]$ (the "New Investor").

WHEREAS:

This Deed is entered into in compliance with the terms of clause 4 of a management warranty deed dated [•] made between (i) Ian Beaton, Nicholas Bonnar and Neil Smith (together, the "Warrantors" and each, a "Warrantor") and (ii) Bridge Holdings (Bermuda) Ltd (the "Investor"), as such deed may be amended from time to time (the "MWD").

THIS DEED WITNESSES as follows:

- The New Investor undertakes to adhere to and be bound by the provisions of the MWD, and to perform the obligations imposed on the Investor by the MWD, in all respects as if the New Investor were a party to the MWD from and including [date of MWD] and named therein as the Investor.
- This Deed is made for the benefit of the New Investor and the original parties to the MWD.
- The notice details of the New Investor for the purposes of clause 11.1 of the MWD are as follows:

<u>Party</u>	Address	For the attention of	E-mail address
[•]	[•]	[•]	[•]

- 4. This Deed and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it (including any non-contractual obligation arising out of the negotiation of the transactions contemplated by this MWD) are governed by and shall be construed in accordance with English law.
- 5. The courts of England shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and decide any suit, action or proceedings (including any non-contractual dispute or claim), and/or to settle any disputes, which may arise out of or in connection with this Deed (respectively, "Proceedings" and "Disputes") and, for these purposes, each party irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the courts of England. Each party irrevocably waives any objection which it might at any time have to the courts of England being nominated as the forum to hear and decide any Proceedings and to settle any Disputes and agrees not to claim that the courts of England are not a convenient or appropriate forum for any such Proceedings or Disputes and further irrevocably agrees that a judgment in any Proceedings or Disputes brought in the courts of England shall be conclusive and binding upon the parties and may be enforced in the courts of any other jurisdiction.

IN WITNESS of which this Deed has been executed and delivered by the New Investor on the date which first appears above.
[Signature block]

Schedule 10 Interpretation

- 1. Interpretation
- 1.1. In this Deed the following words and expressions shall (unless clearly inconsistent with the context) have the following meanings:
 - "2017 Accounts" means the audited statutory annual consolidated financial statements of the Company for the financial period ended on 31 December 2017;
 - "2018 Accounts" means the audited statutory annual consolidated financial statements of the Company for the financial period ended on 31 December 2018;
 - "2019 Accounts" means the audited statutory annual consolidated financial statements of the Company for the financial period ended on the Accounts Date;
 - "Accounting Standards" means the United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (including the Financial Reporting Standards 102 and 103 issued by the Financial Reporting Council ("FRC"), applicable Abstracts issued by the FRC, the requirements of Applicable Law, and applicable pronouncements by the Conduct Committee of the FRC) in force for the accounting period ending on the Accounts Date;
 - "Accounts" means the 2017 Accounts, the 2018 Accounts and the 2019 Accounts;
 - "Accounts Date" means 31 December 2019;
 - "Actual Tax Liability" has the meaning given to it in Schedule 3 (Tax Covenant);
 - "AHC" means Accident & Health Claims Services LLP, brief details of which are set out in Schedule 6 (Details of Company Subsidiaries);
 - "AHU" means Accident & Health Underwriting Limited;
 - "AHU Loans" means the loans made by AHU to each of [Redacted];
 - "Anti-Bribery Law" means any Applicable Law that relates to bribery or corruption, including (without limitation), the US Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 and the UK Bribery Act 2010, in each case as amended, re-enacted or replaced from time to time:
 - "Applicable Law" means any and all laws (whether civil criminal or administrative), statutes, statutory instruments, statutory guidance, codes, rules, directives, measures, judgments, rulings, determinations or decisions having the force of law, treaties, conventions and regulations, including without limitation Lloyd's Regulation and any rules or regulations, codes, directions or binding guidance of any Regulatory Authority, in each case which is (or where the context requires, has formerly been) binding on the relevant person or in respect of the relevant matter as the context requires;
 - "ASML" means Ark Syndicate Management Limited, brief details of which are set out in Schedule 6 (Details of Company Subsidiaries);
 - "Business Day" means a day other than a Saturday or Sunday or public holiday on which banks are ordinarily open for the transaction of normal banking business in London, United Kingdom;
 - "Claim" means a claim under this Deed other than an Indemnity Claim;

"Company" means Ark Insurance Holdings Limited, an exempted company limited by shares incorporated in Bermuda with registered number 48199 and whose registered office is at Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited, Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda;

"Company Subsidiary" means each of the companies listed in Schedule 6 (Details of Company Subsidiaries) and "Company Subsidiaries" shall be construed accordingly;

"Company's Constitution" means Company's memorandum of association and byelaws as of the date of this Deed:

"Completion" has the meaning given in the Subscription and Purchase Agreement;

"Completion Date" means the date on which Completion occurs;

"Completion Warranties" has the meaning given in Clause 2.1;

"Confidential Information" has the meaning given in Clause 9.1;

"Controlled Function" has the meaning given to that term in section 59(3) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000;

"Corporate Members" means Ark Corporate Member Limited, Ark Corporate Member No. 2 Limited, Ark Corporate Member No. 3 Limited and Ark Corporate Member No. 4 Limited, the details of each of which are set out in Schedule 6 (Details of Company Subsidiaries);

"Data Protection Law" means any legislation in any applicable jurisdiction in force from time to time concerning the protection and/or processing of personal data, the right to privacy, information security, and the obligation to provide data breach notifications, including but not limited to the Data Protection Act 1998, the Data Protection Directive (Directive 95/46/EC), the GDPR, the Data Protection Act 2018, the E-Privacy Directive (Directive 2002/58/EC, as amended by Directive 2009/136/EC) and including all subordinate legislation;

"Data Room" means the information and documents contained in the virtual data room hosted by Sterling Technology Ltd. under the name Echo at https://www.sterlingvdr.com/ as at 23.59 p.m. London time on 28 September 2020 and as made available to the Investor and its advisers in connection with the matters set out in this Deed and as contained on the USB sticks issued by Sterling Technology Ltd. and which have been delivered to the Investor promptly following the date of this Deed:

"Debt Availability" has the meaning given in the Subscription and Purchase Agreement;

"Debt Documents" means [Redacted].

"Disclosed" means fairly disclosed in such manner and in such detail as to enable a reasonable investor to make a reasonable assessment of the nature and scope of the matter concerned and "Disclose" shall be construed accordingly;

"Disclosed Scheme" means the Aegon Group Personal Pension Plan;

"Disclosure Letter" means the letter of the same date as this Deed from the Warrantors to the Investor disclosing certain matters in relation to the Warranties, together with all documents attached to it or listed in any schedule to it;

"Employee" means and includes those employees or persons employed or engaged by a Group Company or previously employed or engaged by a Group Company;

"Encumbrance" means any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien, assignment, hypothecation, encumbrance, security interest, option, right to acquire, right of first refusal, right of pre-emption or conversion, restriction, claim, right, title retention, interest or preference granted to any third party, or any agreement to create any of the foregoing;

"Event" has the meaning given to it in Schedule 3 (Tax Covenant);

"Facilities Agreement" means the facilities agreement dated on or around [Redacted] between, inter alia, Group Ark Insurance Holdings Limited and [Redacted], as amended and restated pursuant to an amendment and restatement agreement with [Redacted]:

"Founding Shareholders" means Ian Beaton and Nicholas Bonnar,

"Fundamental Warranties" means the Warranties in paragraphs 1, 2 and 11 of Schedule 2 (Warranties);

"GAIL" means Group Ark Insurance Limited, brief details of which are set out in Schedule 6 (Details of Company Subsidiaries);

"GDPR" means the General Data Protection Regulation ((EU) 2016/79);

"Government Official" means any official, employee or representative of, or any other person acting in an official capacity for or on behalf of:

- (a) any Regulatory Authority, including any entity owned or controlled thereby;
- (b) any political party or political candidate;
- (c) any public international organisation; or
- (d) any candidate for political office or a person acting on his or her behalf;

"Group Companies" means the Company and each Company Subsidiary and "Group Company" shall be construed accordingly;

"GSOP" means the Growth Securities Ownership Plans entered into separately by each of [Redacted] and the Founding Shareholders pursuant to: (1) individual Master Agreements for Contract for Differences dated 18 November 2010; and (2) individual Master Agreements for Contract for Differences dated 26 November 2010;

"Guarantee" means any guarantee, indemnity, suretyship, letter of comfort or other assurance, security or right of set off given or undertaken by a person to secure or support the obligations (actual or contingent) of any other person and whether given directly or by way of counter indemnity to any other person who has provided a guarantee and "Guarantees" shall be construed accordingly;

"HMRC" means HM Revenue & Customs:

"Income, Profits or Gains" has the meaning given to that term in paragraph 1.3 of Schedule 3 (Tax Covenant);

"Indemnity Claim" means a claim under paragraph of Schedule 11;

"Information Technology" means information technology infrastructure (including computer hardware, software and networks) and the manuals and documents relating to it:

"Insurance Data and Models" means data and insurance models, and actuarial, underwriting, risk management, compliance, and claims handling algorithms, calculations and procedures, in each case used in the conduct of the business of the Group Companies as at the date of this Deed;

"Intellectual Property" means patents, registered and unregistered designs, copyright, database rights, Trademarks, rights in trade secrets and confidential information and other rights of the same or similar effect as any of the foregoing anywhere in the world, in each case, whether registered or not, including pending applications for registration of such rights;

"Investor's Group" means the Investor, its subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings, any holding company or parent undertaking of the Investor and all other subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings of any such holding company or parent undertaking as the case may be from time to time (and including, following Completion, the Group Companies);

"IP Licences" has the meaning given in paragraph 14 of Schedule 2 (Warranties);

"IT Contracts" has the meaning given in paragraph 15 of Schedule 2 (Warranties);

"ITEPA" means the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 (as amended from time to time);

"Leases" means the leases, licences and office agreements granting the relevant Group Company's interest in the relevant Property, short particulars of which are set out in Schedule 7 (Properties);

"Letter of Credit Facility" means the letter of credit facility agreement and related security documents entered into between Ark Re and [Redacted] pursuant to the Facilities Agreement;

"Licences" has the meaning given in paragraph 7 of Schedule 2 (Warranties);

"Lloyd's Regulation" means the Lloyd's Acts 1871 to 1982 and all Lloyd's bye laws, regulations, codes of practice, directions, conditions and requirements applicable to the Group Companies;

"Losses" means all losses, damages, payments, costs, liabilities (including Tax liabilities) and expenses;

"Management Accounts" means the unaudited consolidated management accounts of the Company for the period from 1 January to 30 June 2020 contained at folder 4.6 in the Data Room;

"Managing Agent" means the underwriting agent which has permission from Lloyd's to manage a syndicate and carry on underwriting and performing other functions for a Member (as defined in the Lloyd's bye-laws);

"Managing Agent's Agreement" means the Managing Agent's agreement prescribed by Lloyd's Regulation to be entered into between a Member and a Managing Agent;

"material" means, unless otherwise expressed, material in the context of the business, assets, liabilities or financial condition of the relevant Group Company, and "materially" shall be construed accordingly;

"Material Litigation" means (i) any litigation, arbitration, tribunal or other dispute resolution process or proceedings where the amount in dispute has an aggregate value in excess of \$300,000, or (ii) administrative or criminal proceedings;

"Member" means an underwriting member of Lloyd's including a corporate member;

"Outbound Reinsurance Agreement" means a reinsurance agreement or treaty to which a Group Company or a Syndicate is a party or from which it benefits and which is in force, or under which any claims are outstanding, as at the date of this Deed;

"Planning Acts" means the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, the Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990, the Planning (Consequential Provisions) Act 1990, the Planning and Compensation Act 1991, the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the Planning Act 2008, the Localism Act 2011, the Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013, section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 and any other legislation from time to time regulating the use or development of land;

"Properties" means the properties set out in Schedule 7 (Properties);

"Proprietary Software" means software in which any Group Company owns any Intellectual Property;

"Regulatory Authority" means any person, body, authority, government, local government, statutory, regulatory or investigative body, agency, trade agency, authority, bureau, board, commission, court, association, institution, department, tribunal or instrumentality (including any insurance or financial services or other regulatory body or authority) with relevant regulatory, supervisory, enforcement, administrative and/or criminal law powers over or responsibilities in respect of any of the Group Companies in any relevant jurisdiction, including, but not limited to, the UK Financial Conduct Authority, the UK Prudential Regulation Authority, Lloyd's, and the Bermuda Monetary Authority;

"Relief" means any loss, relief, allowance or credit in respect of any Tax, other than a repayment of Tax, and any deduction in computing Income, Profits or Gains for the purposes of any Tax;

"Reserves" has the meaning given in Clause 2.9;

"Sanctions" means any economic or financial sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) of the US Department of the Treasury, the US State Department, the United Nations, the United Kingdom or the European Union;

"Senior Employees" means Ian Beaton, Nicholas Bonnar, Neil Brothers, Paul Dawson, Neil Fox, Melanie Raven and Neil Smith and "Senior Employee" shall mean any one of them;

"Shares" has the meaning given in Schedule 5 (Details of the Company);

"Shareholders' Deed" has the meaning given in the Subscription and Purchase Agreement;

"Signing Warranties" has the meaning given in Clause 2.1;

"Specified Company" means any of Ark Underwriting Inc., Richmond Risk Management, Inc., Ark Corporate Member (No. 4) Limited, Accident & Health Underwriting Limited and Accident & Health Claims Services LLP;

"Subscription and Purchase Agreement" means the subscription and purchase agreement between, amongst others, the Company and the Investor entered into on or around the date of this Deed;

"Syndicates" means Syndicate 3902 and Syndicate 4020;

"Tax Authority" means any revenue, customs, fiscal, governmental, statutory, state or provincial authority, body or person in any relevant jurisdiction responsible for the collection or management of any Tax;

"Tax Liability" has the meaning given to it in Schedule 3 (Tax Covenant);

"Tax Covenant" means the tax covenant in Schedule 3 (Tax Covenant);

"Tax Warranties" means the Warranties at paragraphs 18.15 to 18.21 (both inclusive) and paragraph 24 of Schedule 2 (Warranties);

"Taxation" or "Tax" means all taxes, levies, duties and imposts and any charges, deductions or withholdings in the nature of tax, including social security contributions, taxes on gross or net Income, Profits or Gains and taxes on receipts, sales, transfer, ownership, use, occupation, development, franchise, employment, value added and personal property, together with all penalties, charges and interest relating to any of them or to any failure to file any return required for the purposes of any of them, regardless of whether any such taxes, levies, duties, imposts, charges, deductions, withholdings, penalties and interest are chargeable directly or primarily against or attributable directly or primarily to a Group Company or any other person and of whether any amount in respect of any of them is recoverable from any other person;

"Trademark" means any trademark, service mark, corporate or business name, identifying logo, trade dress, slogan, domain name or brand name or other similar type of name or source identifier (including all goodwill associated with any of the foregoing, and all registrations and applications relating thereto);

"Transaction Documents" means this Deed, the Disclosure Letter, the Updated Disclosure Letter and the documents listed in the definition of "Transaction Documents" in the Subscription and Purchase Agreement;

"Transactions" has the meaning given in Recital A of this Deed;

"Transfer Pricing Rules" means transfer pricing legislation or other analogous legislation pursuant to which intragroup transactions or arrangements are subject to Tax on the basis of the arm's length provision and not the actual provision or any restriction applied to the deductibility, for corporation tax purposes, of any interest paid or payable by a Group Company to another Group Company or an entity that has historically either directly or indirectly held ownership in a Group Company as a result of transfer pricing legislation (or other analogous legislation) or thin capitalisation rules:

"Updated Disclosure Letter" has the meaning given in Clause 2.4;

"VAT" means:

- (a) any Tax imposed in compliance with the council direct of 28 November 2006 on the common system of value added tax (EC Directive 2006/112);
- (b) to the extent not included in paragraph (a) above, any value added tax imposed by VATA and legislation and regulations supplemental thereto; and
- (c) any other Tax of a similar nature to the Taxes referred to in paragraph (a) or paragraph (b) above, whether imposed in a member state of the EU in substitution for, or levied in addition to, the Taxes referred to in paragraph (a) or paragraph (b) above or imposed elsewhere;

"VATA" means the Value Added Tax Act 1994:

"W&I Broker" means Howden M&A Limited:

"W&I Insurance Policy" means the warranty and indemnity insurance policy in the name of the Investor with the W&I Insurer as underwriting representative in respect of the transactions contemplated by this Deed and dated on or around the date of this Deed:

"W&I Insurer" means Euclid Transactional UK Limited:

"Warranties" means the warranties made by the Warrantors in Schedule 2 (Warranties); and

"White Mountains" has the meaning given in the Subscription and Purchase Agreement.

- 1.2. In this Deed, a reference to:
 - (a) a statutory provision includes a reference to:
 - (i) the statutory provision as modified or re-enacted or both from time to time whether before or after the date of this Deed; and
 - (ii) any subordinate legislation made under the statutory provision whether before or after the date of this Deed;
 - a person includes a reference to a government, body corporate, firm, association, partnership or corporation, in each case wherever and however incorporated or established;
 - a person includes a reference to that person's legal personal representatives and successors;
 - (d) a Clause or Schedule, unless the context otherwise requires, is a reference to a clause of or schedule to this Deed.
- 1.3. References to one gender include all genders and references to the singular include the plural and vice versa.
- 1.4. References to "period" are to a period of time and not an accounting period unless the phrase "accounting period" is used.
- 1.5. The words including, include, in particular and words of similar effect shall not be deemed to limit the general effect of the words which precede them.
- 1.6. The table of contents and headings and sub-headings are for convenience only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Deed.
- 1.7. References to books, records or other information mean books, records or other information in any form including paper, electronically stored data, magnetic media, film and microfilm.
- 1.8. References to any English legal term shall, in respect of any jurisdiction other than England, be construed as references to the term or concept which most nearly corresponds to it in that jurisdiction.
- 1.9. References to time in this Deed are to the time in London, United Kingdom.
- 1.10. In this Deed, a reference to:
 - (a) liability under, pursuant to or arising out of (or any analogous expression) any agreement, contract, deed or other instrument includes a reference to

- contingent liability under, pursuant to or arising out of (or any analogous expression) that agreement, contract, deed or other instrument; and
- (b) a party being liable to another party, or to liability, includes, but is not limited to, any liability in equity, contract or tort (including negligence) or under the Misrepresentation Act 1967.
- 1.11. In this Deed references to "\$" or "USD" or "dollars" shall be references to the lawful currency of the United States of America and references to "£" or "pound sterling" shall be references to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom.
- 1.12. In this Deed the formulation "to the extent that" shall be read as meaning "if, but only to the extent that".
- 1.13. The Schedules form part of this Deed and shall have the same force and effect as if expressly set out in the body of this Deed, and any reference to this Deed shall include the Schedules.
- 1.14. References (whether express or implied) to shares in the capital of AHC shall be read as references to partnership interests in AHC, and references to AHC's constitutional documents shall be to the limited liability agreement (or equivalent document) governing AHC.

Schedule 11 Specific Indemnities

[Omitted]

day and year first b	efore written by:
IAN BEATON	
/s/ Ian Beaton	
in the presence of:	
/s/ Rowena Kate Bo SIGNATURE OF V	
Witness name:	Rowena Kate Beaton
Witness address:	[Personal Information Redacted]
Witness occupation	: [Personal Information Redacted]

IN WITNESS whereof this Deed has been executed and delivered as a DEED the

/s/ Nicholas Bonnar in the presence of: /s/ Juliette Bonnar SIGNATURE OF WITNESS Witness name: Juliette Bonnar Witness address: [Personal Information Redacted]

Witness occupation: [Personal Information Redacted]

NEIL SMITH		
_/s/ Neil Smith in the presence of:		
/s/ Leah Smith SIGNATURE OF	WITNESS	
Witness name:	Leah Smith	
Witness address:	[Personal Information Redacted]	
Witness occupation	n: [Personal Information Redacted]	

BRIDGE HOLDINGS (BERMUDA) LTD.

Executed as a deed by)			
Bridge Holdings (Bermuda) Ltd)			
acting by Kevin M. Pearson who, in)			
accordance with the laws of Bermuda,)	/s/ Kevin M. Pearson		
is acting under the authority of Bridge)	(Authorised signatory)		
Holdings (Bermuda) Ltd)	30		
=)			
Witness's signature:		/s/ Lysa Brown		
Name (print):	Lysa Brown			
Occupation:	[Personal Information Redacted]			
Address:		[Personal Information Redacted]		